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INTRODUCTION  
Though the world of to-day, in these last months of 1938, has much for 

which to be ashamed, there is nothing in it so shameful as the condition of 

Palestine. From end to end the Holy Land has been running with blood. 

Evening after evening the voice of the wireless announcer has brought news of 

another combat, another ambush, another assassination perhaps, on the soil 

once pressed by the feet of Christ. 

Yet the more we are grieved by these events, the more it is incumbent upon 

us to examine into the causes which have produced them. Political murder, in 

particular, is a product of the extreme degrees of exasperation. Though nothing 

condones it, yet ere it becomes common in any State something must have been 

thoroughly wrong with that State, and wrong for a considerable time, and all 

reasonable means of procuring redress of what was wrong must have been 

found worthless. 

Unhappily that is what has occurred in Palestine. The Arabs, the people of 

that country, are suffering from a supreme injustice. We have abstracted from 

them the control of their own destinies and by force of arms have imposed upon 

them a multitude of undesired immigrants and an alien system of life. For 

twenty years now they have essayed every form of pacific appeal to have this 

injustice remedied. Interviews and petitions, mass-meetings, public 

pronouncements, protests to the League of Nations, repeated embassies to 

England, all have been tried. All of them have failed. Not only have the Arabsô 

petitions not been granted, but of what was fundamental in them consideration 

itself has been refused. They have never been allowed to place their full case 

before any national or international Court in the world, with a right to win a 

verdict upon the facts. 

A principal reason for this is that in the first instance the Arabsô case has 

remained unheard before the court of public opinion. If they had won their suit 

there, a just settlement would have been imposed elsewhere. But the Arabs 

have never been able to make their full case known to the public, especially in 

Great Britain, where it was so important that it should have been known. 

The aim of the present book is to give this case as amply as possible. It is a 

history of what really happened in Palestine and of what was done concerning 

Palestine from the days of the War till now. 

That the book comes after such a long time, at what seems such a late stage 

of the conflict, is not because of any accident or any remissness. It is because of 

the primary handicap upon the Arabs and their defenders. The Arabs of 

Palestine are a small body, living far from this country and having perforceð

since they are Arabsðnone of their race in positions of influence in Great 

Britain. On the other hand, their opponents in the matter have been constituted 

by a series of British Governments themselves and by the extremely influential 

members of the Zionist organizations, who either live in this country or are 

constantly visiting it. These Zionists and their British backers hold prominent 

positions in Parliament, in the Press, in the social and in the professional and 

commercial spheres of our national life. So that from voices which are familiar 

in their varying degrees and respected in their varying degrees the public has 

heard over and over everything that is to be said for political Zionism, for the 

theory, that is, which establishes Jews by main force, not as a religious but as a 

political entity, in the Holy Land. 

From the Arabs the British public has heard little, despite all the endeavours 

the Arabs themselves have made to present their cause. How could it be 

otherwise? The lonely groups of men, whom their countrymen have sent so 

often to our shores to plead for them, have never obtained in the newspaper or 

upon the platform one thousandth part of the space or of the time which they 

needed to say all that they had to say. They had a great deal to say, because as 

time went on what is called the ñPalestine Questionò became increasingly 

intricate. 

Any first-class political question grows intricate if it is left without an effort 

to solve it for a number of years. It grows particularly intricate when one of the 

parties to the affair finds refuge in this passage of the years, taking advantage of 

all the secondary issues naturally or artificially produced during them to cloud 

the main issue that was clear at the beginning. There becomes so much to speak 

about, so much to controvert and so many falsely raised issues to pursue that a 

vast deal of time and of space presently would be needed by the other party to 

accomplish this. But time and space on such a scale have been quite 

unprocurable. To give the full Arab case the newspapers of Britain would have 

had to turn themselves into political documents dealing with the Levant. 

Anybody can see that was impossible. 

So that the Arab delegates who came to England never had a chance in 

reality to do anything but encounter the stone wall of ministerial obstinacy, to 

address a few drawing-room and Rotary Club meetings and to have inadequate 

pamphlets distributed here and there. The situation therefore was that while the 

British public was bound to hear a good deal, relatively, about the Palestine 

Question from Ministers and Zionists and their supporters, it heard, to all 

intents, nothing from the Arabs. 

Now we come to those from whom the public should have heard, in 

principle, something at some length upon the Arabsô behalf, that is to say we 

come to British sympathizers with the Arabs. But here it is that the handicap 

upon the Arab cause is perceived even more distinctly. 

We who sympathize actively with the Arabs are a small group, a pitifully 

small group. We are bound to be a small group because knowledge of the Arab 

case, knowledge of the true facts concerning Palestine, was never to be 

acquired easily and ordinarily in England. 

It required special knowledge to be a champion of the Arab cause. This 

knowledge in general was only to be gained in Palestine itself, or by close 
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acquaintance with others who had been in Palestine, or through the study of 

evidence which practically remained private. 

So that we who were cognizant of the facts were necessarily few in 

numbers. We were a few ex-soldiers, some former officers and functionaries of 

the Administration in Palestineða fact which had its significanceðsome 

dwellers in that country, some missionaries and teachers there, one or two 

journalists whose eyes had been opened there. Against us stood the 

Government of Great Britain and the Zionist societies with their ramifications 

throughout the universe. Against us stood the wealth used to spread the 

Governmental and the Zionist case. In comparison with this the Arabs were 

paupers, and we few who knew the justice of the Arab cause had to suffer all 

the impediments and heaped obstacles of their and of our own poverty in trying 

to reveal it. 

In consequence, though this book is as full as I can make it, it is not quite as 

full as it might be and as it should be. There is for example a great deal which 

should be divulged about the way in which political Zionism came to be 

espoused and the Arab case came to be put aside by the Government of the 

United States at the time of the Peace Conference. I was offered opportunities 

for investigation into this, what appeared to be singular opportunities, but I 

could not avail myself of them because I had not the money to go to the United 

States and to stay there the length of time which would have been necessary. 

For the same reasons I could not even return to Palestine before I began writing 

and then go on to Irak, though it can be imagined how much there is in that 

quarter still waiting to be investigated and to be read. 

It is not usual perhaps to mention personal affairs of this sort, but here they 

must be mentioned because of their political importance. We who are on the 

side of the Arabs are a group with a good deal of special knowledge, but 

without the funds to use it and to diffuse it as we should wish. In that we differ 

from our opponents, who when the spreading of their gospel is concerned, can 

talk in tens of thousands of pounds and in hundreds of thousands of dollars. 

By a natural sequence too we who should have wished to plead the cause of 

the Arabs have been as much without time to do so as we have been without 

funds. We have had no leisure: we have had our livings to make. That is why 

this book, which has demanded an entire seclusion in the subject and the 

abandonment of every other interest, has not appeared before. It was produced 

as soon as the bare possibility of producing it existed. 

*          *          *          *          * 

Some other points need to be prefaced here. Readers will see that I have not 

dealt tenderly with certain statesmen and certain Governments of ours. There is 

no reason, to my mind, for euphemism, for saying that these men and these 

Cabinets were mistaken or ill-advised or pursued mere erroneous policy in 

Palestine, or foolishly accepted an unworkable Mandate. They did nothing of 

the kind. They pursued a policy involving fraud and perfidy. They tyrannously 

withdrew from the Arabs the Arabsô natural and inherent rights over their 

native land. They broke Britainôs word to the Arabs. To suit their aims in 

Palestine they gerrymandered as far as they could the Covenant of the League 

of Nations, and where they could gerrymander it no further they broke it. They 

falsified the Mandate. 

Later Governments have been less guilty. But they have committed their 

own sins of omission by not reconsidering the acts of their predecessors, and by 

continuing with a policy into the antecedents of which they have not inquired. 

These charges have to be made. The evidence which justifies them 

accompanies them. But it is painful to be obliged to make them, in particular 

under the actual circumstances of the world. It would be very short-sighted, 

however, at the present juncture to reason that this was not the moment to 

weaken our national prestige by disclosing the misdeeds of some of our rulers. 

The position is just the reverse. If in this hour free institutions are indeed 

imperilled, then there is nothing better than to give evidence of what free 

institutions allow and autocratic institutions forbid, that is, the right of the 

individual to arraign any Government for its improper employment of power. 

However distasteful too in one respect it may be to speak out, in every other 

respect, and in the overriding respect, not to speak out would be to miss a 

capital opportunity. Something more than an opportunity indeed is offered. It is 

a privilege of ours to-day, which we share with few, that in a Europe muzzled 

with self-conceit we in England still can tell the truth about ourselves. Only as 

long as we tell it are we free. It is the proof itself of liberty. When we leave the 

telling of it to the foreigner our day will be over. 

Besides, this Palestine question tarnishes every effort of Britain for good in 

other directions. The British public is not aware how much our doings in 

Palestine are discussed in other lands, and what a savour of hypocrisy they 

convey to our most genuine impulses. How can we raise our voice in protest at 

the concentration-camps of Prussia when in Palestine we maintain our own? 

How can we denounce the expulsion of Jews by Germans when with equal 

arbitrariness we impose Jews upon Arabs? How can we cavil at men being kept 

in prison without trial, when we too have exiled, imprisoned and proscribed 

without trial? 

The excuse that in our case it is different, that we do what we do regretfully, 

in the interests of the Mandate which it is our duty to the world to carry out, is a 

sham excuse. We ourselves arranged for our Mandate, we and our friends gave 

it to ourselves, we and our accomplices in the Zionist policy composed its very 

terms, with the sole aim of enforcing this policy thereby. 

How that was done the reader will learn in this book. It is quite possible I 

may be called an Antisemite for writing it. I must put up with that. But I have 

never had any truck with antisemitism, and I find the persecution of the Jews in 

Central Europe as crying a disgrace to humanity as their imposition upon the 

Arabs has been. There is nothing too which gives such a handle to the 
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oppressors of the Jews elsewhere as the oppression by them and for them in 

Palestine. 

*          *          *          *          * 

As regards the subject-matter of the book, there are some points to make. It 

is a very long book, but it has to be long. Since the real history of Palestine for 

two decades has been kept hidden from the public, it is in a sense necessary 

here to recreate those lost twenty years, in as much of their detail as possible 

and with a little at least of the repetition of facts which occurred during those 

twenty years themselves. Half the facts I have to give have never been 

mentioned at all, many of the documents have never been quoted. I have 

therefore thought it necessary, for the sake of readers coming fresh to the 

subject, to make the more important points more than once. When it is 

remembered how the Arabs have suffered from silence upon everything, 

occasional repetition of some points can hardly be grudged, and really is 

desirable. 

The history of Palestine from the days of the War till now is sometimes, as I 

have said earlier, intricate. It ought not to be intricate, because it is only the so-

called ñPalestine Questionò which makes it intricate, and the Palestine Question 

ought not to be in existence. There was no Palestine Question, nor ever would 

have been one, if certain statesmen had not created it. Since it was thus 

unnaturally created, however, it tends at times to intricacy. The meaning of 

phrases has to be considered closely then, or the map has to be closely 

regarded. 

The men who created the Question, however, should not be able to escape 

being held to account by their agility in complicating our national books. If 

political personages can toy with treaties or wriggle out of pledges simply 

because the public will neither examine treaties nor analyse pledges, then the 

public has abdicated its control over government. 

*          *          *          *          * 

The book deals principally with the story of how Palestine was placed under 

Mandatory government in order to establish the ñJewish National Home,ò 

which laterðit was intendedðshould become a Jewish State. It has been 

completed while the future policy of the Chamberlain Government in Palestine 

remains undefined. At the moment of revising it the Partition scheme inherited 

from the previous Government has been dropped. But it covers any other 

scheme which may replace Partition. Any such scheme, which does not 

recognize that we disregarded the rights of the Arabs and defaulted from our 

own engagements, and does not affirm that these rights henceforth shall be 

recognized and these engagements kept, will find its own condemnation in the 

history detailed herein. 

Even were the present Cabinet to perceive the virtue of confession, to 

reverse policy, and to start again in Palestine as we should have started twenty 

years ago, even then this publication of the real story of those past years would 

be essential. Only thus could three things which call for demonstration be 

demonstrated; the need for reversal of policy; the justice of the Arabsô 

demands; the guilt of those who have kept Palestine in misery for so long. 

Especially must the Arabs have the justice of their cause made clear. There 

must be no imputation lying upon them, should a proper settlement be reached, 

that they achieved it merely by resorting to insurrection, and that it was granted 

to them only for peaceôs sake. 

*          *          *          *          * 

I think it is right that the public should know the names of some of those 

who have kept the cause of the Arabs alive in Great Britain in the teeth of 

overwhelming opposition. Two motives have maintained their courage, when 

hope seemed farthest away. One was that a small country should never be 

downtrodden if they could help it. The other was that their own country should 

be true to her vows and to herself. 

Some of them spoke forth in Parliament. Lord Islington, Lord Sydenham, 

Lord Buckmaster, Lord Brentford, Lord Lamington, Lord Templetownð those 

are names the Arabs will never forget. Nor will they forget Sir Ernest Bennett, 

Mr. Somers Cocks, Sir Frank Sanderson, Colonel Howard Bury, Colonel 

Clifton Brown, Lord Winterton, Sir Arnold Wilson, and among younger 

members of the Commons in more recent days, Mr. Anthony Crossley. These 

peers and members of Parliament did not all advocate just the same policy in 

Palestine: there were differences of application amongst them. But they all 

strove to present the Arab standpoint. The names of Lord Islington and Lord 

Sydenham will be particularly remembered for the force and the ability with 

which they combated Governmental policy. Neither was in his youth then: both 

were already retired from posts of high honour in overseas dominions and, in 

Lord Islingtonôs case, in a Cabinet. But in defending the forlorn Arab cause 

they refound their prime. They fought for Palestine and for Englandôs honour 

like crusaders, and indeed the ranks they led are engaged in the last Crusade. 

A tribute to Lord Northcliffe is paid in the text of this book. But there are 

others whose names are not likely to come before the public, who have taken a 

great part in the defence of the Arabs. Every soul in Palestine knows what Miss 

Frances Newton has accomplished on behalf of the land in which she had made 

her home for so many years. Everyone who has engaged in the defence of the 

Arab cause has owed something to her knowledge and to her inspiration. I am 

deeply in her debt. In Palestine her house upon Mount Carmel is, in the eyes of 

the Arabs, the true Residence of old British tradition. 

In London the Arabsô defenders know the great work, the cardinal work 

done for many years by the late Miss Broadhurst and by Miss Farquharson, of 

the ñNational League.ò In their eyrie over St. Jamesôs Street Arabs and their 

British friends met and took counsel, learned of many a plan and an intrigue of 

their opponents which had not escaped the ever-vigilant eyes of their hostesses, 
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and concerted resistance. It was the Arab fort and Arab embassy in one. Like 

others I always found there help, information, and enthusiasm, and great cause 

for gratitude. 

Another name I mention with respect and gratitude is that of Mrs. Steuart 

Erskine, one of the first to come to the rescue of our common cause with her 

book Palestine of the Arabs. Its title was a lesson in itself in the days when it 

was written. As Secretary of the ñArab Centreò in Victoria Street, Mrs. Erskine 

has worked unremittingly. Coupled with her are Mrs. Fox-Strangways, Mrs. 

Cecil Brooks, Miss Blyth and Mrs. Swinburne. 

In Palestine Mr. Nevill Barbour has used a very valuable pen, and I am 

indebted for a quotation from him in this very Introduction. Mr. Ernest 

Richmond and Mr. C. R. Ashbee, both of whom served under Administrations 

in Palestine, have written about that country in that particular direct and 

unsparing fashion which characterizes those who have had the closest inner 

acquaintance with the question. Professor Garstang of Liverpool University, 

who has conducted remarkable archæological excavations in Palestine, has 

compiled along with the Bishop of Chichester a very telling pamphlet. 

Above all there is Lawrenceôs old companion, Colonel S. F. Newcombe, 

whose courteous and conciliatory manner, expressed in plans of his own for a 

settlement, has never hidden his firm espousal of justice for the Arabs. 

*          *          *          *          * 

A final point calls for introductory mention. It is one which in a sense lies 

outside the whole sphere of the present discussion, which treats of political 

matters. It is a religious consideration. Since many persons however judge the 

subject of Zionism solely from this standpoint, it is proper that it should be 

considered. 

Those who take this view are moved by the fact that the return of the Jews 

to the Holy Land is an accomplishment of the prophecies of the Bible. Because 

of this they feel that no opposition of any sort should be made to this return. 

They do not like to criticize or to hear it criticized in any fashion. 

Most earnestly I beg of any who entertain such opinions to consider more 

carefully than they have done the attitude of those who defend the Arabs. 

Hardly any of us, certainly not I, oppose the return of Jews to Palestine. What 

we resist is a very different thing, the manner of their return and the extent of 

their return. The manner has been illegal and arrogant, the extent excessive. 

In any event, the reinstallation of Jews in Palestine cannot be said to be 

impeded or jeopardized by our actions, since the Jews have returned there. 

Everything calls for criticism in the whereabouts and style of their return, but 

that is their responsibility, not their criticsô. As far as numbers go, at the close 

of the Great War there were some sixty thousand of them in residence, who had 

lived for the most part on terms of reasonable understanding, if not amity, with 

the native population. Most of them were recent comers, who had entered the 

country in the proper way, under its common law, as pilgrims or as settlers, 

demanding no special status for themselves at the expense of that native 

population. Since then their totals have increased sevenfold. 

The additional three hundred and forty thousand and more, who have 

entered under our ægis, have been brought in arbitrarily. To all intents the 

Arabs have been tied by Great Britain to their doorposts while the Jews 

streamed past. Despite this, the Arabsðso regularly traduced as 

unreasonableðare willing so far to accept a compromise concerning them. It 

would be well, incidentally, not to strain over-strained Arab patience any 

further, and to take advantage of the willingness to compromise while it exists. 

Further obduracy in meeting the just claims of the Arabs will only drive the 

direction of their national movement into uncompromising hands. 

At present, however, they are willing to regard the great bulk of the 

immigrants as innocent and ignorant agents, who have come to Palestine 

thinking it was theirs, and they do not seek to expel them. The terms of the 

immigrantsô residence remain to be settled, but as long as they are content with 

the common rights of inhabitants and do not demand extravagant privileges 

such as territoriality and extra-territoriality at once, they should be able to stay. 

That means that 400,000, probably over 400,000, Jews are in Palestine and are 

not likely to leave it unless of their own free will. 

This fact is of great significance if considered in conjunction with the 

prophecies of the Bible. These prophecies are very numerous, spread through 

many of the books of the Old Testament. It will be enough to cite a couple of 

characteristic passages. In the eleventh chapter of the Book of Isaiah we read, 

ñAnd it shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall set His hand the 

second time to possess the remnant of His people, which shall be left from the 

Assyrians and from Egypt, and from Phetros and from Ethiopia and from Elam 

and from Senaar and from Emath and from the islands of the sea. And He shall 

set up a standard to the nations and shall assemble the fugitives of Israel and 

shall gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four quarters of the earth.ò 

In the thirtieth chapter of Deuteronomy is found, ñThe Lord thy God will 

bring back again thy captivity (i.e. reverse the situation of thy captivity) and 

will have mercy on thee and gather thee again out of all the nations into which 

He scattered thee before. If thou be driven as far as the poles of heaven the Lord 

thy God will fetch thee back from thence. And will take thee unto Himself and 

bring thee into the land which thy fathers possessed, and thou shalt possess it, 

and blessing thee He will make thee more numerous than were thy fathers.ò 

These prophecies to-day are accomplished. The four hundred thousand 

inmates of the Holy Land form a full remnant of the Jews in the world, whose 

numbers are very variously estimated from fourteen to sixteen millions. Only a 

remnant of these millions can return to Palestine. Till the second coming of 

Christ brings in the era of miracles and the limitations of our present human 

earth melt away, the settlement of all the Jews in that small and often sterile 

land would be quite impossible. Nor is there the slightest desire on the part of 
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these millions to return. Out of three hundred thousand Jews, say, in Great 

Britain, less than two thousand have gone back to Palestine. Those who have 

returned there are preeminently the ñfugitives of Israelò and the ñdispersed of 

Judahò who have fled from those parts of Europe where they are depressed or 

persecuted. 

In addition to promise of restoration, the prophecy of Deuteronomy declares 

that the restored Jews shall possess the land more numerously than their fathers. 

That too is accomplished, an accomplishment to which no attention at all has 

been drawn. 

The size of the Jewish population when it was in possession of parts of 

Palestineðfor it was never in possession of the whole of Palestineðcannot of 

course be computed exactly. Biblical critics unite in discrediting some of the 

poetic totals which have been bequeathed to us by the remote Past. They speak 

of the numbers given as incredibly vast, of the ñboundless extravaganceò of the 

figures even of Josephus. 

Sir George Adam Smith, whose Historical Geography of the Holy Land 

remains the classic work upon that country and has reached twenty-five 

editions, has applied himself however to the question of Jewish population in 

Old Testament days. In another authoritative book of his, Palestine, after 

deducing from the bas-reliefs of the Assyrians that the Jews deported to 

Babylon were at the most 70,000 in number, after reminding his readers that 

some scores of thousands did not go into exile, and that during the long and 

prosperous reign of Manasseh the losses suffered under Sennacherib must have 

been made good, he draws this final conclusion. ñWe cannot therefore be far 

from the truth in estimating the Jewish nation at the end of the seventh century 

(before Christ) as comprising at least 250,000 souls.ò This gives a reasonable 

average population upon which to calculate. 

If in deference to Adam Smithôs qualification ñat least,ò even 100,000 be 

added, which from the context is an exaggeration of this qualification, none the 

less even then in all reasonableness the Jews to-day in Palestine are ñmore 

numerous than their fathers,ò and what was announced in Holy Writ has been 

accomplished. There can be no question of the Arabs or of those who sustain 

the Arabsô rights impeding the fulfilment of a prophecy, since already it has 

been fulfilled. 

As Mr. Nevill Barbour points out, ñThere exists in Palestine to-day, as the 

result of fifty years of Zionist enterprise, a Jewish National Home, containing 

some three hundred and fifty thousand souls [written in 1936], which fulfils the 

purpose of a spiritual centre for Jewry. It is now possible for a Jew to be born in 

Palestine and pass through an all-Jewish kindergarten, school and university 

without ever speaking anything but Hebrew; to work on a Jewish farm or in a 

Jewish factory; to live in an all-Jewish city of 150,000 inhabitants; to read a 

Hebrew daily newspaper; to visit a Hebrew theatre and to go for a holiday-

cruise on a steamer flying the Jewish flag.ò This may, I think, fairly be 

described as a full and sufficient Jewish return to Palestine in accordance with 

the prophecies of the Scriptures. 

What the Arabs are resisting now is nothing but the demand of divers 

politically-minded secular Zionists that Jewish totals in Palestine should be 

extended by further additions. These additions, these increments to the extant 

Jewish population, vary with appetites from a few more hundred thousand to 

several millions. Dr. Weizmann proposes bringing another million and a half 

into the country during the next twenty years. All this stuffing of repletion is 

justified by nothing in the Scriptures. 

So much for those who deprecate defence of the Arabsô rights because of its 

supposed ñinterferenceò with the prophecies. There is this too which they must 

remember. Under no circumstances can it be sustained that because of the 

prophecies of the Old Testament the Jews have a permit to return to Palestine 

arbitrarily and wrongfully, after the manner in which their own peccant leaders 

and certain British statesmen have forced entry for them. The standards of 

moral conduct cannot be set aside. Those who would use the authority of the 

Bible in order to perpetuate injustice in the Holy Land would provide an 

example never before seen of Scripture being quoted for the devilôs purpose. 

In fine, to suggest that the rights and the wrongs of the question between the 

Arabs and the Zionists must not be taken into consideration because the Jews 

are predestined to return to Palestine is equivalent to suspending right and 

wrong themselves. It is to imagine an impossible issue, to which, in order to 

fulfil the promises of God, the commandments of God do not apply. It is to 

make sin the means of salvation and to controvert Christianity. Therefore it is a 

doctrine which no Christian for a moment should permit himself to entertain. 

*          *          *          *          * 

I have thought it more convenient to refer throughout to persons by their 

more recently known designation when they have undergone a change of name, 

for example, I have spoken of ñLord Balfourò from the beginning, even when 

he was Mr. A. J. Balfour. On the other hand, extremely recent changes of name 

have been disregarded, for example, I have spoken of ñSir Herbert Samuel,ò not 

Lord Samuel. Convenience has been studied: I have not followed any one rule. 

In quotations I have left names as they were given. 

Names in brackets following quotations identify the writers. Z.O.R. stands 

for Zionist Organization Report. 

Easthayes, Cullompton, Devon.  J.M.N.J. 

 

We may see that our national follies and 

sins have deserved punishment; and if in this 

revelation of rottenness we cannot ourselves 

appear wholly sound, we are still free and true 

at heart, and can take hope in contrition.ð

ROBERT BRIDGES, The Spirit of Man. 
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CHAPTER I  

ñFor what have you to do with me, O Tyre and Sidon, and all the coasts of the 

Phillistines?òðJoel iii. 4. 

In 1922 Lord Northcliffe, visiting Palestine and perceiving the results of our 

government there, declared that we were making a second Ireland of that 

country. What happened in succeeding years, and even more what has been 

happening of late, in 1937 and 1938, show that he spoke only too truly. All the 

mistakes and misdeeds which fed eternal discontent in Ireland and culminated 

in so much vain bloodshed and destruction there have been reproduced in 

Palestine. It is almost as though the Irish precedent, far from being kept in mind 

as a warning, had been remembered as a valuable example of success, and was 

being copied sedulously in every detail. 

But if this imitation of the worst policy is mentioned here, it is but to 

emphasize the fact that Palestine has less room in it for bad policy than even 

Ireland had. It is a very small place. 

There is a natural tendency to transmute the spiritual greatness of the Holy 

Land into physical largeness, and to ascribe wide acres to the locality where the 

horizons of the human race were opened by the Redeemerôs birth. Christianity, 

however, like its Founder, was born in a narrow dwelling. Palestine is closer in 

size to a county than to a country. Take a couple of Yorkshires and you would 

have the acreage of Palestine. Of its famous subdivisions Judaea is about the 

same size as Northumberland: neither Galilee nor Samaria is quite as big as 

Somerset. These comparisons too are made without reference to the number of 

persons living in these districts. Were settled areas only to be considered, 

traditional Palestine shrinks still further in comparison with the populous 

counties of England. In the epoch of its independence half of Judaea was desert: 

inhabited Judaea was not as big as Wiltshire. 

The length of Palestine, from Dan to Beersheba, is about 180 miles, about as 

far, say, as from London to Exeter, or to Hull. Its extreme breadth is seventy 

miles across, but for about half its span the breadth is rarely more than fifty 

miles from the Jordan to the sea, much the same distance as from Berwick to 

Edinburgh, not as distant as is Liverpool from Sheffield. Dean Stanley notes 

that ñfrom almost every high point in the country its whole breadth is visible, 

from the long walls of the Moab hills on the east to the Mediterranean on the 

west.ò 

In the terms of the atlas, indeed, Palestine is little more than a stitch on the 

front of the vast mantle of Asia. Its exiguous size of course is not the measure 

of its importance. Yet when we read its history in the Old Testament, read of its 

kings and their kingdoms, we are reading local chronicles. And it must be 

remembered that local chronicles always expand automatically the territory 

with which they deal. They are like reading-glasses or microscopes which 

magnify things out of their actual dimensions. 

The reason for thus emphasizing this aggrandisement of the tiny area of 

Palestine is that there has been so much loose talk of settling therein great 

numbers of immigrants. Millions even have been proposed, a settlement which 

could only be achieved if the country was turned into something like one of 

those unnatural boxes in which expert nurserymen pack together seedlings for 

sale, and if every man were as artificially planted as his soil would be 

artificially tilled. 

Not only though is Palestine a tiny area, but it has never been a true 

administrative unit. Its uncertain boundaries are a proof of this. Its present 

northern boundary is one contrived in 1921, as a sequel to an Anglo-French 

convention, of which railway-routes formed the chief concern. This artificial 

frontier, separating the territory under British mandate from the territory under 

French mandate, for the first time enabled calculations to be made of the total 

superficies of Palestine, or rather of the Palestine thus constituted. 

Previously, to the north and to some extent to the east, no one could say 

where it began or ended. The creators and protagonists of the ñNational Homeò 

themselves were not sure of the perimeter of the land in which it was to be 

established. There is an organ of theirs, a pamphletic publication named 

Palestine, which is an acknowledged herald of their cause in Britain. Mr. 

Sidebotham, the noted publicist, was its founder and he and other chief Zionist 

supporters among the Gentiles are fond of contributing to it. When the question 

of boundaries first arose, Palestine was quite clear about Palestine. It said that 

ñPalestine has never, except for very brief periods, been a political unity, and 

hardly any definition of its geographical boundaries would agree in detail.ò 

In the official Report of the Shaw Commission, issued in 1929, it was stated 

that ñviewed in the light of the history of at least the last six centuries, Palestine 

is an artificial conception.ò 

More explicit still was the declaration of the main authority in the realm 

upon boundaries and all other territorial qualities of Statesðthe Foreign Office. 

In its pre-War handbook for the guidance of consular and diplomatic officials, 

the Historical Department of the Foreign Office enunciated that ñin modern 

usage the expression óPalestineô has no precise meaning, but is best taken as 

equivalent to Southern Syria.ò 

These pronouncements should be remembered tenaciously by the reader. 

The reason for this is that a practice has been developed since the War of giving 

the name of ñSyriaò to the northern part alone of the country. That is to say, the 

French Mandated region from Tyre to the Turkish border is termed ñSyria,ò as 

though Palestine were not included in it. 

This is a mere deception, and a raw one at that, introduced to consecrate the 

scission of Syria into two at the end of the late war, and arbitrarily carried out 

in the interests of the two Mandatory Powers concerned, at the time of the 

Treaty of Versailles. 
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Ere then, and from the days of remotest antiquity Syria had been regarded as 

a natural unit embracing Palestine. In the fourth century before Christ 

Herodotus wrote, ñthis part of Syria is known by the name of Palestine.ò Two 

thousand years ago ñJoseph went up from Galilee out of the city of Nazareth 

into Judaea to the city of David which is called Bethlehem . . . to be enrolled 

with Mary his espoused wife, who was with child,ò in obedience to the local 

decree of ñCyrinus, the Governor of Syria.ò Thus through the succeeding 

centuries was Syria cited as the country containing the whole littoral at the 

eastern end of the Mediterranean, down to modern times. One has but to look 

into any standard history or geography of pre-War date to see it so recorded: 

Syria [for example says Meiklejohn] is a long strip of high mountain 

country which stretches in an almost straight line from the Peninsula of 

Sinai to the Gulf of Scanderoon. A small district in the south is called 

Palestine or the Holy Land. 

Its well-defined boundaries, [says George Adam Smith] ñthe sea on 

the west, the desert south and east, the Taurus mountains on the north, 

give it a certain unity and separate it from the rest of the world. If it has 

not become a single country yet, it is obviously waiting to be one. 

When you look at the map, for preference a pre-War map before the treaty-

tinkering began, you will see that Syria in shape is a sort of throat under the 

projecting chin of Asia Minor, and that it closes the eastern end of the 

Mediterranean. The birth, or spring, of the throat rises out of the desert borders 

of Egypt, some 120 miles away from the Suez Canal. 

The name ñSyriaò has been thought to be a corruption of ñAssyria,ò but 

scholars reject this derivation, and say that it comes from the more ancient 

Babylonian ñSun,ò a word used three thousand years before the advent of 

Christ. It entered modern languages through Latin and originally it was not to 

be found in Arabic, though afterwards it made its way in. The reason for this is 

most instructive. In classic Arabic Syria is called ñAsh Sham,ò which means 

ñThe Left,ò and the significance of this name is emphasized by its being given 

in addition to the capital city of the Country. Damascus (as we term it) also is 

designated by its inhabitants ñAsh Sham.ò Arabic speakers to-day, especially in 

Egypt, often call Syria ñBarasham,ò or ñthe Land of the Left.ò 

The corresponding word in Arabic for ñrightò is ñYemenò (as we spell it), 

the word we use in English to indicate the south-western tip of Arabia. But the 

Arabic world also uses it in a more extensive sense, applying it in a general way 

to the whole peninsula. Traditionally the Arabs call the Arabian peninsula their 

right and the Syrian frontage to the Mediterranean their left, showing thereby 

that from of old the two lands have been the two integral wings of the Arab 

body. 

So therefore in the Arabic name of the country itselfðand the Turks call it 

ñArabist©n ñðwe find implanted a refutation of the character which some of 

our politicians for their own purposes have sought to apply to it. They have 

amputated it: they belittle it. They would like Syria to be thought an enigmatic, 

scarce christened, ill-defined species of no-manôs-land, hardly worth a mention, 

subordinate to Palestine. For them, not surprisingly, the part is greater than the 

whole. 

They have not scrupled even to justify such distortion of geography by 

invoking the sanctity of Palestine to eke out their pleas. By a quasi-clever 

confusing of moral with physical and political values, they have said Palestine 

was ñno mere Arab provinceò but the greatest site in the world, overshadowing 

all around it. A specious piece of advocacy indeed, for that Bethlehem should 

be in a humble, ñmere Arab province,ò is a situation consonant with the spirit of 

Bethlehem. The sacred value of Palestine precludes the political value these 

same politicians would attribute to it. ñMy kingdom is not of this world.ò 

No, it is Syria, not Palestine, which is the true unit deserving consideration, 

and Syria with Palestine in its breast, is Arab territory, inhabited by Arabs for 

thirteen centuries through good and through ill; ñAsh Sham,ò the left side of 

their body, the very half of themselves. 

That however is not the whole truth. This vast period of thirteen centuries is 

but the recent period of their immemorial habitation. They have held it thus 

long as ñArabs.ò It is exactly thirteen hundred years since their forefathers won 

a great victory on the banks of the Yarmook against the Byzantine Empire, 

which had followed the Roman in the overlordship of the country. But the hosts 

who flowed in then welded with the ancient inhabitants, so that the Arabs of to-

day do not represent a mere conquering race, but are the descendants of the 

peoples who lived in Palestine before the Israelites. We call them ñArabs,ò but 

in that great concourse of their race which stretches from Alexandretta to 

Mecca and beyond there are many strains to be found, and their roots in the 

land are those from which history itself springs. 

It will no doubt be a great surprise to the average reader to learn that the 

Arabs preceded the Jews in Syria. Indeed ignorance of this fact, which is 

altogether too common, is a plank in the platform of the political Zionists. 

But the very name of the country discloses its un-Jewish character. 

ñPalestine,ò a word we have taken through Greek and Latin, is a variant of the 

Arabic ñFilisteen,ò which means the ñabode of the Philistines.ò In the Old 

Testament the prophets here and there use the word in varying forms. ñRejoice 

not thou, whole Philisria, that the rod of him that struck thee is broken in 

pieces. . . . Howl, o gate; cry, o city! all Philistia is thrown down.ò (Isaiah, xiv. 

29, 31.) ñNations rose up and were angry: sorrows took hold on the inhabitants 

of Philistiim. Then were the princes of Edom troubled; trembling seized on the 

stout men of Moab; all the inhabitants of Canaan were made stiff.ò (Exodus, xv. 

14, 15.) 

In the quotation from Exodus the word Canaan occurs. As Professor T. H. 

Robinson, a very great authority, says in his History of Israel, the name 
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ñCanaanite is sometimes used as a generic term for pre-Israelite inhabitants of 

Palestine. . . . It seems to include the Phoenicians,ò The name which preceded 

ñPalestineò in its various forms, or the principal of preceding names, was in this 

way ñCanaan.ò The word still survives as a surname amidst the un-Moslemized 

inhabitants of the country. It is an extraordinary boomerang-stroke of history, 

what the French call a retour des choses, that one of the ablest of the Arabs to-

day writing in defence of his peopleôs rights should be Dr. T. Canaan. 

ñThe limits of Canaanò, says Genesis, ñwere from Sidon as one comes to 

Gerara, even to Gaza ñðthe fruitful coastal plain in fact stretching south from 

Tyre and Sidon by Haifa and Carmel to the marches of Egypt. Different 

branches of the Canaanite inhabitants were fixed in the inland hilly regions. 

Amongst these were the Jebusites, who occupied Jerusalem, the site of their 

city lying outside the walls of the present city. 

It is the opinion of competent judges [declares a great scholar, Sir 

James Frazer] that the Arabic speaking peasants of Palestine are the 

descendants of the pagan tribes which dwelt there before the Israelite 

invasion, and have clung to the soil ever since, being submerged but 

never destroyed by each successive wave of conquest which has swept 

over the land. 

They are the veritable descendants of the Canaanites described in the 

Bible, of the Jebusites and of the Amorites. [says Sir Richard Temple] 

Originally they must have had a decided character of their own and a 

settled form of society. Their system may have been broken up by the 

Jewish conquest; but, as the students of Bible history will remember, 

they never yielded to Jewish influence. On the contrary, they often made 

their influence disastrously felt by the Jewish nationality. They were 

probably not converted in any large numbers in the early days of 

Christianity. In short they preserved their ancient idolatry up to the days 

of Mahomet. Then they were converted by the Arab soldiery to the faith 

of Islam, about twelve hundred years ago. In that faith they have 

remained to this day. . . . They cultivate the soil, chiefly as peasant 

proprietors, directly under the Turkish official who collects the land-tax. 

[Written in 1888.] They have extensive rights of grazing and of 

pasturage, on all which they pay their dues to the Turks. They are called 

Fellaheen, the same name as their fellow-subjects in Egypt. They till 

their fields and pay taxes to the Turk patiently, just as they did to the 

Saracen, to the Arab, to the Roman, to the Greek, to the Persian, to the 

Assyrianðprobably also as they did to the Jew. After the Jewish 

conquest they must often have become tenants of their lands under the 

Jew as landlord. They probably performed the labour in the fields, even 

if the Jews worked in the vineyard and in the orchard. 

The Canaanites, Jebusites and Amorites of whom Sir Richard Temple 

speaks were three out of seven indigenous races who, ñaccording to tradition 

dating back at least to the latter half of the seventh century before Christò 

(Robinson), occupied the land before the Jews came. But, as has just been 

explained, Canaanite is considered more of a generic term for them all than 

anything else. Of the others the Amorites and the Hittites were the more 

important, particularly the Amorites, who mainly occupied the country south of 

the plain of Esdraelon. The Hittites were to the north. Professor Robinson 

opines that the Amorites emerged, not later than the beginning of the third 

period of a thousand years before Christ, from the Arabian peninsula. They 

ñmingled so completely with their predecessors that their identity was lost in 

most districts.ò They formed the true Semitic type, and have transmitted their 

features to their descendants the Arabs. 

Such a tenure it is, held in a simple, faithful, laborious way since man 

emerged from the mists of the unknown, probably the simplest and longest 

tenure in the world, that we are now finding the means to disintegrate. The 

Israelites, for the sake of one thirty-fifth of whose descendants we are engaged 

on this scurvy business, entered the lands of the indigenous peoples at a date 

which cannot be determined exactly. ñThe general tendency of the dates at our 

disposal is in favour of a Fourteenth Century (before Christ) date for the 

Conquest, but the margin of probability is very small.ò (Robinson.) 

On this basis the Israelites came one thousand five hundred years or so after 

the Amorites. The Philistine cities of the coastal plain had been established 

somewhere about a century to a century and a half before then. At first the 

Israelites entered the hills peacefully in small numbers. Then they took up arms 

and the warfare began which is chronicled in the Old Testament. 

These are very ancient affairs, but it is necessary to deal with them in some 

measure before turning to modern events. The reason for this is that the Zionists 

of to-day have been introduced into Palestine under colour of their ancestorsô 

possession of that land. It is convenient to examine this plea, in some part at 

least, while the first data of the country are being supplied. 

The relevant section of the Palestine Mandate declares that, through the 

institution of the Mandate itself and the special character which it bears: 

recognition has thereby been given to the historical connection of the 

Jewish people with Palestine and to the grounds for reconstituting their 

national home in that country. 

ñHistorical connectionòðthat is what is used to justify the establishment of 

the ñNational Homeò and all that has resulted from it. There are two points 

from which it can be considered: (1) Why should remote historical connection 

confer any right to territory some eighteen and a half centuries after Jewish 

power ended; and (2) If remote historical connection is to be regarded as 
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conferring rights, what sort of historical connection was there with the land in 

which this national home was to be reconstituted? 

The second point really contains the first, since any value there might be in 

this plea of Palestine being the historic patrimony of the Jews must be 

considerably affected by the character of their occupation when they were 

there. Yet nothing contrasts so much with the free hand given to the Zionists in 

the Holy Land as the entire disregard of this point by those who were 

responsible for giving them this free hand. Everything to do with the ñNational 

Homeò was left purposely in the most obscure state by the politicians who 

engineered its creation. 

No word was uttered by them to disclose which phase of the very varied 

Jewish past in Palestine the Zionists were to reconstitute. The probability of 

course is that ñThe Principal Allied Powers,ò the junta which, seated round a 

table at the San Remo Conference of 1920, introduced the establishment of the 

ñNational Homeò as an obligation of the Mandate, knew and cared nothing 

about any such phases. I should not credit the Principal Allied Powers, as far as 

they found form in flesh and blood at San Remo, with much or any reading of 

the Scriptures, except indeed the important section of the Principal Allied 

Powers which came from Criccieth in North Wales. That body politic has stated 

in a speech, ñI was brought up in a school where I was taught far more about 

the history of the Jews than about the history of my own land. I could tell you 

all the kings of Israel but 1 doubt whether I could have named half a dozen of 

the kings of England. . . . We were thoroughly imbued with the history of the 

Hebrew race in the days of its greatest glory.ò 

Mr. Lloyd George seems to have been imbued rather too much with greatest 

glory for any of his impregnation to have filtered into geographical definition of 

the ñNational Homeò by himself or by his compeers. Yet there would seem to 

have been the most obvious need of such definition because between the days 

of Joshua and the final victory of the Romans under Titus the Jewish holdings 

in Palestine expanded, and then contracted, like a concertina in play. For a good 

period they slipped from Jewish grip altogether. So that in order to reconstruct 

them, it would have appeared the essential first step to discover and to delineate 

them. 

It was decided otherwise, though, at San Remo or, more probably, in the 

manner of the Principal Allied Powers, attention discreetly was not directed to 

the matter. The Zionists were left to reconstruct wheresoever they liked west of 

the Jordan. It is a significant testimony to the genuineness of the transaction. 

This renders it needful, however, for anyone trying to treat the whole 

business seriously to pay some attention to the extent and to the duration of 

Jewish territorial possession of Palestine. It may seem to be challenging all 

traditions to say that it was ephemeral, but that is what it was. It was ephemeral 

and inextensive. Only during the reigns of David and Solomon did anything 

like Jewish possession of what we call Palestine exist. Eight hundred years 

afterwards the Maccabees re-established the Jewish power which had faded 

with Solomon, but only for a short spasm did it perhaps reach again the 

dimensions of Davidôs and Solomonôs days. 

Before David the settlement of the twelve tribes by Joshua was purely 

nominal. ñJoshua assigned territory to tribes which they could not fill.ò (Belloc, 

in The Battle-Ground.) Biblical research discredits the power and the 

hegemony of the tribes. ñIn Judges v,ò says Professor Robinson, ñthere are 

significant omissions. Of the four senior Leah tribes Reuben only is mentioned. 

Our evidence suggests that Simeon and Levi disappeared at an early period,ò 

and again ñVerse 19 of Judges i. (óAnd the Lord was with Judah and he 

possessed the hill-country, but was not able to destroy the inhabitants of the 

valley, because they had many chariots armed with scythesô) tells us that the 

lower land was not taken.ò The tribe of Judah itself is not included amidst the 

victorious tribes in the canticle of Deborah in the later fifth chapter of Judges. 

ñWe can only suppose that it was not yet fully recognized as an Israelitish 

tribe.ò ñThe early history of the tribe of Judah is even more obscure than that of 

most of the others, and we have to wait till the time of David before we have 

unmistakable evidence of its existence and of its self-consciousness.ò 

The tribes named as by the sea were there in a situation of dependence and 

there is no proof of their being in any numbers. The coastal cities held sway 

over the plain of Esdraelon. ñSometimes the guardianship was so effective and 

close that Israel was denied the use of the main roads altogether, and the 

tribesmen had to creep by unfrequented by-ways and crooked paths from one 

place to another if they wished to cross the forbidden land.ò (Robinson.) 

When Saul established his kingdom, he never obtained possession of the 

plain of Esdraelon, and he was indeed so little master in his own hills that the 

Philistines had a fortress looking down on the Jordan Valley. There is no 

evidence that David himself conquered the Esdraelon plain, no direct evidence. 

The nearest is supplied by recent archæological excavation which has found 

traces that the strong place of Bethshean was destroyed by fire round about the 

year 1,000 B.C. Inferentially it is clear though that the plain must have been 

open to David, since it formed the turn-table of routes to his outlying 

possessions. He may have held it in some sort of condominium with the 

Philistine cities. At the apogee of his rule after fighting them he had grown to 

such terms with the Philistines that his own personal forces or life-guards were 

drawn from a sort of Foreign Legion of the Arabsô ancestors. ñIn addition to his 

national levy, David had at least the nucleus of a standing army. It is interesting 

to observe that its main strength was drawn from foreign sources, for the 

Cherethites and the Pelethites were almost certainly Philistines, and they not 

only formed the mainstay of Davidôs personal force, but their presence in the 

ranks of Solomon went far to secure his accession. They were to David what 

the Praetorian Guard were to Roman Emperors.ò (Robinson.) 
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Since King David forms a pedestal of Zionist claims, he being considered as 

it were an ancestor of modern Zionists, equal connection between that far 

yesterday and to-day must be granted to the Arabs. The pedestal of Zionist 

claims reigned by support of Arab troopers. Arabs in large part gave his throne 

to Solomon. 

The effect of these considerations need not be emphasized. But, without 

pursuing them, granting for argumentôs sake that David won power over 

Esdraelon, to which his son succeeded, to what a tiny span this reduces the 

Israelite possession of Palestine. David reigned for about forty years, from 

somewhere round 1016 B.C. Solomon succeeded him and reigned as long. 

After these two all collapsed. It will have taken David a good part of the earlier 

half of his reign to reach the maximum of his power, and Solomon well before 

the end of his reign had begun to sell or lose part of his possessions. Let ten 

years be deducted, and that is as little as can be deducted reasonably, from the 

total David-Solomon period of rule. Then seventy years remain. 

It was only during those meagre seventy years that the Jews held something 

like two-thirds of Palestine, and there is doubt enough of that. ñIt is probable,ò 

says Wade in his Old Testament History, ñthat only in the neighbourhood of 

Joppa (the modern Jaffa) did Davidôs empire touch the sea. North of this the 

Phînician towns of Tyre and of Sidon were left unmolested, while in the south-

east the Philistines, though crippled, maintained their independence.ò 

Dean Stanley crystallizes the position when he says, ñPalestine reverses the 

usual situation wherein the aborigines are driven into the hills. The Jews 

conquered the hills but failed to take the plains.ò 

In this seventy-year empire there was little territorial basis or unity. David 

within his small limitsðñ120 miles at longest and 60 at widest and often much 

lessò are the limits Mr. Belloc assigns to the Jewish State at its most pridefulð

was something of an Austro-Hungarian monarch occupying the throne while 

Austria and Hungary fought each other. 

Even David on two critical occasions seems to have saved his throne 

by playing off the one (the North or Israel and the South or Judah) 

against the other, and it is noticeable that when Judah rose against him he 

received the support of the other tribes and vice-versa. It is clear that the 

ideal unity was far from being achieved in his lifetime, and the policy of 

Solomon, so far from cementing more firmly the two parties, tended 

rather to emphasize the distinction between them and to widen the 

original breach. It is then hardly surprising that, when the North found 

the burden of the House of David intolerable, the South should have 

taken the opposite side and maintained its allegiance to Rehoboam. 

From that time onward, though there was a certain sense of unity as 

against the rest of the world, that feeling never found expression in a 

single political organization. There were periods in the history of the 

divided kingdom when the two sections worked together in harmony, 

though North was the dominant partner, and we may suspect that the co-

operation of the South was not wholly voluntary. But down to the time 

when the kingdom of Israel came to an end and the Samaritan territory 

was incorporated as a province of the Assyrian Empire, there does not 

seem to have been a single point at which the possibility of a formal 

reunion entered menôs minds. [There was a sense of kinship, of oneness, 

but] the fundamental basis of this sense of oneness lay less in the 

common descent than in the common religion. The Judaean had always 

stood apart from the Ephraimite. 

Reviewing Davidôs reign, Professor Robinson continues: 

David, as it were, collected and laid in place the material for a noble 

kingdom which might have been expanded into an empire. But it 

inevitably lacked that cement of habituation which time alone could 

supply, and for its endurance it needed a succession of rulers who would 

maintain his spirit and carry on his traditions. But the two kings who 

immediately followed him were cast in another mould, with the result 

that first the outlying portion fell, and then, at the touch of a real test, the 

whole fabric crumbled away. . . . The bubble was pricked and the house 

of David was left with territories scanty and infertile in themselves, 

suffering from the ravages of despotism and of war. 

How far these territories shrank is well shown by another historical 

authority, Dr. Foakes Jackson of Cambridge University, in his Josephus and the 

Jews. Commenting upon the silence of Herodotus, ñthe most persistent and 

inquisitive of globe-trotters,ò concerning the Jews, he says 

The silence of Herodotus is still a problem to some, but its solution is 

perfectly simple. Judaea was so small a district and its inhabitants were 

so insignificant that the most intelligent traveller in the fifth century B.C. 

(the date of Herodotus) might even visit what was then called Syria-

Palestine, or Syria of the Philistines, and never hear of the Jews. In the 

time of Nehemiah (a contemporary of Herodotus) Jerusalem must have 

been a very insignificant city in which the inhabitants of the 

neighbouring villages were only with difficulty persuaded to dwell; and 

no place mentioned in his Book as Jewish was much more than ten miles 

away. As the prophet says, it was ñthe day of small thingsò. What is 

more remarkable than the insignificance of the Jews in Palestine in the 

days of Nehemiah (445ï432 B.C.) is that their territory remained 

restricted, nor do they seem to have multiplied in the country for nearly 

three centuries. The Temple at Jerusalem increased in splendour and 

probably the city in population, but the Jews did not become a power in 

the land till nearly the middle of the second century before Christ. [The 

Maccabee period.] They were no doubt numerous in Babylonia and 

Egypt, but in Palestine they were well nigh negligible. 
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In his The Battle-Ground Mr. Belloc says of the tiny plot of Judah, ñHow 

small it was can best be seen in this; that a man walking out from Jerusalem 

eastward or northward or westward would have reached its boundaries in a 

morning. It was not a dozen miles in any direction before he was out of the 

district which the chieftain, the petty so-called ókingô of Jerusalem claimed to 

govern.ò ñIt was a poor handkerchief of a realm.ò 

It would be easy enough to emphasize this point with further quotations 

from further sources, old and new, but the truth of the matter is sufficiently 

clear. Jewish tenure of Palestine, in any real sense of the word ñPalestine,ò was 

never complete and it only lasted continuously, within its limits, for seventy 

years. It lasted, this vaunted possession, for no longer than the lifetime of one 

man, and that was three thousand years ago. Under the Maccabees it was a still 

shorter possession, some fifty years at the most between Simon and Alexander 

Jannaeus. But the Maccabees really ruled as High Priests, and the essential 

quality of Judaism, that it was religious and not territorial, was emphasized 

under them by the action of Eleazar. He called on the Maccabee John Hyrcanus 

to divest himself of his priesthood, his true quality at the head of the Jews, 

because of Hyrcanusôs very absorption in the unbecoming secular conquest of 

lands and cities. 

If we turn, then, bearing all this in mind, to compare the Arab historic 

situation in Palestine with the Jewish historic situation there, what a contrast 

between the two there is. The Arab possession began five thousand years ago 

and has never ceased. It has been the most thoroughgoing possession of all 

possessions, one which had its own share of conquest, and its lengthy dominion 

where the Israelite power came and glittered and buzzed for a gnatôs span and 

was gone, but it has been above all possession by uncounted generations of 

peasants. The passing centuries have given them different names, as one strain 

after another was absorbed into them, but Amorite, Canaanite, Philistine, Arab, 

it has been the labouring stock of each and of all which has held the soil, and by 

that tenure their present representatives, the Arabs, claim Palestine to-day. 

Peasants as they were, and pagans for so long, it is not to be assumed that in 

every aspect the Arabsô ancestors represented barbarism in contrast to Israelite 

civilization. The Phînicians were the traders and the voyagers of the ancient 

world, who reached Britain itself. The Philistines ñpossessed an advanced and 

ancient culture.ò (Robinson.) ñIt is,ò he adds, ña curious irony of fate that the 

term Philistine should have come to mean barbaric.ò This usage of course 

sprang up through the history of their day coming to us through the Israelites, 

who had no brief for their foes. ñIf the Gentile accounts,ò says Dean Stanley, 

ñare insensible to the cruel idol-worship of this raceò (speaking of ñthe 

Canaanitesò) ñthe Israelite versions mostly take no heed of the noble aspect 

which this great people presented to the Western world.ò 

ñThe Old Testament is the only document illuminating the life of theô 

country.ò (Belloc.) Or again, in Stanley, ñthe detested and accursed race of 

Canaanites, as it appears in the Books of Joshua and of Judges, is the same as 

that to which from Greece we look back as to the parent of letters, of 

commerce, of civilization.ò 

So much for ñhistorical connection.ò To resurrect that which the Jews had in 

order to impose them upon the Arabs of Palestine does not bear consideration. 

That a possession of Palestine so ephemeral and so broken as the Israelite 

should give them a valid right to oust the Arabs in any degree, eighteen 

centuries after the last shadow of the Israelite flicker of power faded, is a thesis 

too fantastic to be taken seriously. If, though, the historic connections of far-

vanished eras are to be used as a charter to-day, then at least let it be historic 

connection. If extravagant claims drawn upon dim antiquity provide title-deeds 

in Palestine, then it is the Arabs who have the really extravagant and wholly 

ancient claim, and their right to these strange title-deeds is as unquestionable as 

their right to the true deeds, proceeding from their current thirteen centuries of 

occupation. 

Now for the codicil to this. The Jews, in their territorially exiguous stay in a 

corner of Palestine, were, but for the passing few years above mentioned, 

confined to its hill recesses. Josephus himself, the historian of the Jews, who 

described the fall of Jerusalem, underlines this fact: 

As for ourselves, [he declares] we therefore neither inhabit a maritime 

country nor do we delight in merchandise, nor in such a mixture with 

other men as arises from it. But the cities we dwell in are remote from 

the sea, and having a fruitful country for our habitation, we take pains in 

cultivating that only. 

What follows from this? When the ñNational Homeò was established under 

British patronageðwe are leaving aside now the question of the ñNational 

Homeôsò legitimacyðthe assumption surely was that the new Zionist colonies 

would have been established in the old eyries of the Jewish interior. A certain 

number, it is true, were so founded eventua1ly. But from the start the Zionist 

authorities preferred to seek land in the plains. The acreage they own in the 

plains now far and away surpasses their acreage in the hills. If the figures of the 

Peel Commission be taken the total of Zionist holdings in Palestine is 1,332,000 

dunams, or 333,000 acres. In the hills they hold about 80,000 acres. ñIt is not 

the hills, but the plains, the Maritime Plain and the Plain of Esdraelonðwhich 

are the centres of Jewish colonization,ò observes Mr. Leonard Stein in the 

course of an argument that the Zionists are not responsible for Arabs being 

crowded into the heights. 

This means that the Zionists have preferred to buy where the land was level, 

or convenient for transport, or suitable for reclaiming, or rich, rather than to buy 

where the land was Zion. 

No pressure was put on them to purchase the particular sites which they 

chose. All their apologists have gone out of their way, indeed, to maintain that 
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till fairly recently Arabs made no difficulty about selling to Jews anywhere. 

The recent difficulties, they never tire of repeating, are due to the artificial 

antisemitic agitation organized by the politicians in the towns. 

Well and good. This is an argument to be considered and to be met when the 

question of the relations between Arab leaders and the Arab population comes 

under examination. But if in that issue the Zionists can employ it, just as 

decidedly it is an argument against them in this issue and one which they 

themselves must admit, since it was they who produced it. When they were 

free, then, to buy where they liked, which was pretty well all the time, they 

bought (and they have continued to buy) principally in the plains. 

Without any doubt the motives of the Zionist leaders in making these 

Lowland settlements were extremely practical. Here were the accessible sites 

for the industrial transformation of Palestine which they planned. As far as 

agriculture was concerned, they were determined that their colonies should 

possess the finest land obtainable. They fixed their farms and their orchards, 

their experimental stations and dairies where a good return from them seemed 

likely, so that they might be self-dependent. They did not want their colonies 

and their colonists to be maintained by the bounty of Jews in other parts of the 

world, which bounty had been in general the uneconomic mainstay of the pre-

War Jewish population and the pre-War Jewish colonies. 

They took into consideration the agricultural future of the region and came 

to the conclusion that the finest prospects in the country lay in citrus-planting, a 

generic term for the growing of fruit of the orange family. There was perhaps 

not so much difficulty in arriving at this conclusion, since Arab fruit-growers 

had long established the Jaffa orange on the markets of the world. The Zionists 

decided to follow in their lead and determined to specialize in orange-groves 

and in plantations of like nature. They also engaged, as is known, in forestry 

and in the drainage of marshes, work of primary value in a country neglected by 

the Turks. 

In fine, their agricultural policy was good and sensible, with the sole proviso 

that for trading reasons they might be in danger of over-production of citrus-

fruit. There would be nothing to say about it but to commend it, were it not for 

one reason. That reason, however, is all-important. 

The Zionists did not come to Palestine to practise colonization. The 

Mandate did not summon them thither because of their historic connection with 

oranges. They are practising Zionism. They have obtained their warranty for 

entry into the landðsuch as it is from such as gave it to themðand they have 

been set down there in a situation of privilege beyond the dreams of colonists in 

any other part of the world, for what cause? Precisely upon the grounds that 

they are not ordinary colonists seeking for good land or for advantageous 

concessions. Precisely upon the grounds that they are not planting trees or 

draining marshes or sowing vegetables like other pioneers in other lands, but 

are engaged in a spiritual act, in the rebuilding of its vanished sanctuary for the 

errant Jewish soul. Precisely because they are returning like pilgrims, austerely, 

to their ancient home, be it ever so humbleðand ever so profitless. 

The extraordinary licence which they have received, to be injected into 

Palestine against the will of its inhabitants, is based purely upon their coming to 

regain the soil which they lost, ñto reconstitute their national home,ò to 

reconstruct the walls of Zion which have fallen down. I say nothing now of the 

full motives of those who gave them this licence. Whatever these men had in 

their hearts, it was under the terms of ñreconstituting their national home in that 

countryò that they summoned the Zionists to Palestine. But what regard for that 

did the Zionists show? 

What sort of connection is there between reconstituting this home and the 

planting of 30,000 acres of orange-groves in the maritime plain which even 

David could not make Jewish, in the plains of the Canaanites and the Philistines 

and of their descendants, the Arabs? How does historical connection square 

with the Jewish National Fundôs holdings, three years ago, of some 8,000 acres 

in the fruitful Phînician plains of Acre and Haifa, confronted with a single 

thousand in stony Galilee? How do the 80,000 acres occupied in the hills, a 

vision of Zionism, blot out from sight the 250,000 substantial acres in the 

plains? What are the 150,000 town-dwellers of Tel-Aviv doing by the 

Mediterranean? Are they reconstructing the tents of Saul, or perhaps the pillars 

of Samson? Of the 400,000 souls who constitute to date the Jewish National 

Home, how many are tilling in the hills? Four thousand one hundred. If ever 

figures spoke, these do. 

It might be objected that the Zionists could not have got in Judaea the extent 

of land they obtained in Phînicia. It might be objected that they could not 

acquire what was not existent, or not available, and that they only were taking 

what they could get where they could get it. But that was exactly what they 

must never do. It was a question of principle. If Zionist motives were to stand 

examination Zionists must refuse to consider land, however fertile, which had 

no part in the reconstruction of Zion. The situation would have been different if 

they had been entering the country as ordinary colonists under the regulations 

laid down by a native government or by a government in consultation with the 

natives, with no Mandatory clearing a way for them. 

Under such circumstances they could have entered Palestine wherever it was 

convenient and have bought wherever they wished, and have won the usual 

rewards of increased wealth. 

But when they entered as they did, ringed by bayonets, against the will of 

the native population, on the ground that they were to reconstruct something 

out of the past which they alone could reconstruct, and that its transcendent 

character gave them a right to such privilege, then by the Lord Harry they had 

to reconstruct it only, nor ever stir from its site. ñFor what have you to do with 

me, O Tyre and Sidon and all the coasts of the Philistinesô?ò, it is written in the 

Book of Joel. 
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Suppose, however, that amidst their many holdings a few had been scattered 

round the retreating borders of ancient Israelôs ever-shrinking realm. It would 

have been perhaps academic to quibble about the situation of these. But, as 

things were and are to-day, we are not dealing with a few accidental border-

holdings of this type. We are dealing with a policy which is content, nay, 

anxious, to ñre-establishò the Jewish National Home as a State where 

previously it had not been established. Under the guidance of their leaders the 

Zionists returnðto whence they have never come forth. British statesmen, or 

men at least occupied in affairs of state, incite them on, authorize their arrival 

because of their ñhistorical connectionò with Palestine, and in virtue of that 

encourage them to take over territory with which at no time, since history 

began, have they had any true, durable, historic connection whatsoever. 

Now, as these pages are being revised, the National Home may be 

transmuted (as was intended always) into a Zionist State or ñautonomous 

enclaveò or ñself-governing cantonò or whatever other pseudonym is preferred. 

If this be so, it will be established in the plains, by the Mediterranean and amid 

the orchards, a travesty of the Israelite past, a Temple to the design of the 

money-changers, a Zion for Sadducees. 

But the admonitions of that rejected past wait upon the modern Zionists and 

visit their imposture with prophetic rebuke. ñBecause thou hast forgotten the 

God of thy salvation and hast not been mindful of the God of thy strength, 

therefore shalt thou plant pleasant plants, and shalt set it with strange slips.ò ñO 

God, the heathens are come into thy inheritance; they have defiled thy holy 

Temple; they have made Jerusalem as a place to keep fruit.ò 

CHAPTER II  

The great Arab raceðThe possession of Palestine necessary for its expansion. 

In the previous chapter it has been shown that Palestine is but a section of 

the larger natural unit of Syria; that Syria itself is an integral portion of the 

great Arab inheritance; that the plea under which the Zionists have been 

introduced into Palestine, their ñhistorical connectionò with the land, cannot be 

properly used to override the ownership of the Arab inhabitants who have an 

infinitely more ancient historical connection; and finally, that the Zionists 

themselves have betrayed their inner estimation of this ñhistorical connectionò 

by ñreconstructingò their National Home where for the most part the Jewish 

race has never had a home. 

I now return to deal with the Arabs, the Arabs strictly so-called, of the last 

thirteen centuries in Palestine. Strange to say, the name they bear is a marked 

disadvantage to them. Relatively few people know anything of the Arabsô great 

past. We Europeans owe more to them than we credit. For nearly three hundred 

years they led the world in civilization. We drew from them most of our 

mathematical system. The figures or numerals we use are ñarabic numerals.ò 

Algebra is a corruption of ñAl-jebrô the first words of the title of a ninth-century 

work by an Arab scholar. The Arabs also developed the practice of medicine, 

founded universities, brought farming and gardening to a high level. 

To-day the extraordinary achievements of the Arabs are forgotten and the 

destruction of their civilization by the Turks passes as a consequence of its own 

decay. No other race has had such a hard lot in history as to be identified with 

its own oppressors and to be found guilty of the crimes by which it was slain. 

But this false and absurd verdict has been accepted in popular belief through 

the centuries. In our time the barrenness of any plot of Arab ground is attributed 

to the shiftlessness of the Arab, who in reality is as good a husbandman as his 

forefathers, and never to the pestilent Ottoman yoke. That yoke forced parts of 

the Arab race out into the desert, and it seems to be these Arabs of the desert 

alone who typify the race to the Western publics. 

The average Briton thinks of the Arab as a bearded man in flowing robes 

who gallops about firing rifles at nothing (except perhaps latterly in Palestine). 

He lives in a tent and is ruled by sheikhs with burning eyes and a tendency to 

abduction. 

This concept is nonsensical. Still, it is widely held. One of the Arab 

delegates who have come so regularly, and so vainly, to England for so many 

years, to plead the cause of their people with successive occupants of 

Whitehall, told me of an incident which shows this well. He and his fellow-

delegates were paying a visit to the House of Commons. They waited in the 

lobby for a Member to come out and see them. Presently he emerged, cast his 

eyes over them and over others waiting, and then looked round at a loss. He did 

not conceive that the quiet men dressed in clothes like his own could be an 

Arab delegation. His gaze searched the lobbies for banditti in burnouses, girt by 

dangling scimitars, with cords binding their head-dresses. 

The grave disadvantage of this preconception is that it makes those who 

entertain it fall in only too readily with the notion, so valuable to Zionists, that 

the Arabs are a semi-barbaric block of Easterns, who need direction at all points 

from educated Western governors. 

Whereas the Arabs, like the peoples of Europe, are an assemblage of all 

ranges of men. They have of course their great peasantry of shepherds and 

husbandmen wearing the old traditional garments that were worn by the first 

Christians. But they possess an educated, professional, commercial class in as 

large proportion to their numbers as we possess ourselves, possibly in a larger 

proportion. The educated youth of Syria has long frequented schools and 

universities of French and United Statesô foundation. A number of them have 

come to England to study law or medicine, or to engage in commerce. In 

Manchester there is a considerable colony of Arab business-men, but as it 

happens there and elsewhere these Arabs escape notice because they are known 

by their truer name of Syrians. 
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There are Syrian clergy of all the principal confessions. There are numbers 

of Syrian bank-clerks, Syrian chemists, Syrian journalists. 

It may stir some readers to know that there are Syrians who are millionaires. 

A good many others, without becoming millionaires, have gained various 

degrees of wealth and of comfort in South America. In a humbler stage of 

activity, droves of them traverse as pedlars the republics of Latin America. In 

the United States they have large colonies. There are plenty of them in Africa. 

Wherever the Syrians live they show themselves exceedingly competent 

business-men. In fact, they are sometimes thought too competent, too versed in 

the tricks of business. Perhaps they are so on occasions, but at least this is a 

proof that they need none of the schooling from the Zionists of which one reads 

so much. 

Altogether they possess a full complement of educated persons, and if 

education goes for anything have as much right to look after themselves and to 

be masters in their own land as we have. 

I might have added to my little catalogue of their capacities that the Arabs 

are good linguists. This is not surprising, because they are a diverse people in 

themselves. The Arabs of Syria have, as we have just seen, a good many strains 

in them. Their country has been held by a series of overlords, and has been at 

different times both a place of battle and a place of refuge. Pursuers and 

pursued alike have left their traces. In the Seven Pillars of Wisdom Lawrence of 

Arabia enumerates at least sixteen sub-divisions of the population between the 

Turkish and the Egyptian borders. But it would take a Lawrence to perceive 

these sub-divisions, just as it takes foreign specialists to distinguish between the 

provinces and counties of the British Isles, and he himself put the general 

position admirably when he said that ñthe appearances and customs of the 

present Arabic-speaking peoples of Asia, while as varied as a field full of 

poppies, had an equal and essential likeness.ò 

To take a different kind of metaphor, it might be said that the Arabs are like 

a great wall in which there are bricks of many shapes and hues, but all mortared 

together. Their junction perhaps, is more elastic, looser, more insecure even, 

than that of bricks laid upon each other, but the resemblance is near enough to 

give a fair idea of their national formation. 

The Arabsô mortar is largely compounded of religious faith. Whether in Irak 

or in Syria or in Sinai they mostly are Moslem. But in Syria there is a big 

Christian minority, a minority of Christians too who have a lineage of belief 

from the days of Christ in Palestine. (Yet of the ñhistorical connectionò of Arab 

Christians with the land of Christ what have we heard from British Government 

or from League of Nations?) And there are small bodies amongst them with 

other beliefs. 

Therefore while religious faith is a powerful bond it is not the supreme 

bond. This bond is the Arabic language. The Arabic language binds all the 

sections of Arabs together. Their common use of it, and the common ways of 

thought which this entails, have made them one of the great national units of 

the world. Indeed they have attained before others that type of national unity to 

which mankind is moving, the unity of those who speak a single tongue. 

They have an evident affinity with the British Commonwealth in the sense 

that (if they get a proper chance) they are likely to form a group of Arab 

countries, each independent of the other, but with some common link, as the 

King is for our various self-ruling states. 

Their nearness to each other ought to prove helpful towards this ideal. They 

are bunched together in the south-eastern corner of Asia. There is however 

another point of view from which their geographical position has to be 

considered, and it is one which has an important bearing upon the particular 

affairs of Palestine. 

If you look off-handedly at a map of Asia, the Arabs, with Syria, Irak and 

the great peninsula of Arabia proper, appear to hold a huge extent of territory. 

The friends of political Zionism are always drawing attention to this. They 

wave their hands in wide circles at the Arab territories and then ask rhetorically 

whether with all this in their possession the Arabs cannot spare them a morsel 

in Palestine. Lord Balfour himself, in an unusual apologetic moment, made this 

plea in a speech once. 

But if you look at the map carefully you see that most of the great Arab 

expanse is uninhabitable. Limitless stretches of naked desert occupy nearly the 

whole surface of it. In Syria there is an inhabited western fringe; in Irak a 

broader eastern fringe watered by the Tigris and the Euphrates. The peninsula 

of Arabia has a mere band of cultivation and of habitation round its extreme 

hilly edges, a few oases inland. Desert, desert and desert; gravel, lava and sand; 

that is the story of the Arabsô country in the main. 

So for them, their most precious holdings are their rare cultivable tracts, on 

the east in Irak and on the west in Syria. Therefore Palestine is not a superfluity 

of theirs but a necessity. Lord Balfourôs appeal should have run, ñCan the 

Arabs not spare for the Jews the small cornfield out of their vast desolation? 

Can the Arabs not spare for the Jews the iron ration out of their famine?ò 

There is another consideration, too, and an even greater one. For the Arabs 

Syria represents their outlook upon the Mediterranean Sea, their contact with 

the West. It is their forward gate, and it is in so far as they hold it and keep it 

and make it thoroughly their own that they will mingle their lives and their 

destinies, in their own way, with Europe. It is not by rickety back-doors on the 

Persian Gulf, by the hot oven-lids of Muscat or Koweit, that the Arabs are 

going to find their way into the worldôs centre. Now they are cooped up amidst 

the arid lands and the baking seas which lie between Persia and Egypt. But this 

has never been their desire. It is a situation which has been forced upon them. 

Their natural outlook is the European Mediterranean. ñThe Arabs,ò says 

Lawrence, ñlooked always to the Mediterranean, not to the Indian Ocean, for 

their cultural sympathies, for their enterprises, and particularly for their 
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expansions, since the migration problem was the greatest and the most complex 

force in Arabia, and was general to it, however it might vary in the different 

Arabic districts.ò 

ñThe new Arabia,ò writes Professor W. E. Hocking of Harvard University, 

in his standard work, The Spirit of World Politics, ñreached the Mediterranean 

through Palestine. The progress of the Zionist colonization thus becomes for the 

Arab national outlook a culminating stroke in a prolonged series of breaches of 

faith.ò 

These breaches of faith will be exposed in the course of this book. What is 

to be noted at the present point isðwho speaks at Geneva or in Whitehall of the 

Arab migration problem? There has been infinite, endless talk there about 

Jewish exiles, though indeed not much hint of settling them in our own lands, 

for all our professed sympathy. But about the plight of the Arabs, continually 

driven north by their increasing numbers, or driven into the desert because of 

their inability to reach the more fertile northern or eastern fringes, is there a 

word spoken? 

Lawrence tells of these currents of tribal movement and shows how they 

have not at all been due to hazardðwhat we might call Bedouin errancyðbut 

instead have been the result of economic want. ñNor then,ò says he, ñdid the 

pressure cease: the inexorable trend northward continued. The tribes found 

themselves driven to the very edge of cultivation in Syria or Mesopotamia. 

Opportunity and their bellies persuaded them of the advantage of possessing 

goats, and then of possessing sheep; and lastly they began to sow, if only a little 

barley for their animals. They were now no longer Bedouin, and began to suffer 

like the villagers from the ravages of the nomads behind. Insensibly they made 

common cause with the peasants already on the soil, and found out that they, 

too, were peasantry. So we see clans, born in the highlands of Yemen, thrust by 

stronger clans into the desert, where, unwillingly, they became nomad to keep 

themselves alive.ò 

The race which has this unceasing dilemma of settlement before it is very 

prolific. Its progeny almost springs as we look at it. To where shall it expand? It 

is not oases in the desert which will increase to suit it. Irak can take a moiety, 

no doubt, but no more. It is true that the narrow fertile belts of Palestine and of 

Northern Syria can indeed receive themselves but few newcomers. Yet what is 

to be said of the statesmanship which is determined to go on filling with 

persons from foreign lands the little space that is available therein? What sort of 

statesmanship is it which places across the narrow Arab upward and westward 

path the bar of Jewish occupation? What right and what sense is there in 

denying to the Arabs their natural opening to the Mediterranean, or, to put it 

better, since they already possess it, in taking it from them and in placing 

strangers at their gates? 

On that Mediterranean shore, so near the highway to India, we especially 

have deep concern. We shall have to seek accommodation for our interests 

there. The more these interests are pondered, the more wildly foolish does our 

present policy appear. Into a plain issue between the Arabs and ourselves, 

which might have been determined by motives of friendship, we insert a 

foreign factor. We banish friendship, we introduce the Zionists and go on 

introducing them, we levy an army and call reservists to the colours and ship 

troops and lose our soldiersô lives so that Zionists may continue to be 

introduced. We, as it were, plant brambles everywhere, and defend with rifle 

and gun the international tangle which ensues. The problems of the future 

which should have been simple enough become ravelled and complex and even 

perhaps beyond our untwisting. 

 

CHAPTER III  

Arab renaissanceðThe Arab preparations to overthrow Turkish rule in Syria 

and to re-establish the old Arab State. 

One of the axioms upon which the Palestine Question too often is based is 

that there has been in that country of late but a single political movement, 

which is Zionism. Zionism, according to this theory, impinged upon a 

population which mentally was motionless, and any vigour, or political activity 

which that population may have showed since has been nothing but a reaction 

to the intense Jewish effort. 

This is a wicked perversion of fact. The Zionist movement, as far as it took 

shape within Palestine in these later years, followed upon an Arab movement, 

so genuine and so strong that in the end men were to lay down their lives for it. 

The Zionist movement sprang, as will be seen, from outside the country: the 

Arab movement was a native one comparable to the irredentist cause in the 

parts of Italy which were under Austrian rule, or in Alsace-Lorraine or in 

Poland. Like these causes, it aimed at the restoration or completion of an old 

sovereignty, and would without doubt have developed as they have done into 

fully restored nationhood if it had not been for the unexpected establishment of 

the Mandatory system. 

Therefore Zionism, which as a political reality was only created by the terms 

of the Mandate, far from being the sole force which has stirred Palestine, was a 

secondary force arbitrarily introduced from outside which did nothing but 

retard the native, previous and primary force of Arabism. 

The great difference between the two movements will become apparent as I 

detail them. Seniores priores: let me take the Arab action first. 

The Arab empire in Syria, which underwent many vicissitudes, and was 

nearly destroyed by the Crusades, ended in the sixteenth century. The Turks 

then became masters of the country, but the Arab population continued to hold 

the land under their suzerainty. This situation lasted till the Napoleonic wars, 
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when the French established themselves in the south. But how Sir Sidney Smith 

defended Acre against them is one of the doughty records of our history. 

There followed an interlude of Egyptian overlordship and then, through 

European intervention, the Turks were re-established and ruled over Palestine 

and the other parts of Syria (the Lebanon canton, predominantly Christian, 

having a measure of autonomy) till their power broke for good before the 

armies of Allenby in 1918. 

It may be noted that I have used phrases such as ñsuzeraintyò and 

ñoverlordshipò to describe the Turkish dominion in Syria. This is because the 

Turks conquered lands, but did not colonize them. Once their rule was 

established, thenceforward they confined themselves to milking the territories 

under their control for taxes and, amongst Moslems, for conscripts for their 

army. The Sultans held sway over many non-Turkish peoples, and the Sultan 

himself was little other than a supreme landlord possessing a vast number of 

tenants. Provided they paid exorbitant rents and did not question his ownership, 

the Sultan and his pashas left the tenants, strangers to him, to look after 

themselves. 

This has a notable bearing upon Syria. The people of Palestine in one 

respect remained their own masters under Turkish rule. When the Turkish 

officials were not exerting themselves harshly the Arabs were free and entirely 

amongst each other. In the course of time, too, they came to have compatriots 

set over them, Arabs who acted indeed as Turkish officials and had to identify 

themselves with Turkish rule, but none the less were Arabs. Musa Kazim 

Pasha, who led till his recent death the Arab delegations to London, had been 

governor of the Jaffa district under the Turks. 

Therefore the Arabs are not unaccustomed to governing. The Turkish 

system which they administered was a bad one, and nobody could shine in 

office, but at least they had experience of governmental routine. Dispatches and 

files and so forth are not the mysteries to the Arabs which is suggested by the 

latterôs description in Article 22 of the Covenant of the League of Nations. 

Therein they are catalogued along with other mandated peoples as ñnot yet 

being able to stand by themselves under the strenuous conditions of the modern 

world.ò 

This phrase of the Covenant, it may be as well to interpolate here, is part of 

the chicanery developed for the benefit of Palestine. In Palestine till 1918 there 

were no strenuous conditions. Existence went along on traditional lines in 

general. Clearly, there would have been some gradual and quiet development 

after 1918, with British help, if the Arabs had been left to themselves. But there 

would have been no sudden appearance of strenuous modern conditions, 

because the Arabs had no desire to install them. 

As soon though as we could, as soon as the then British Government could, 

it imported the Zionists into Palestine and ipso facto created, as it intended to 

create, ñstrenuous modern conditionsò in that unhappy country. The next step, 

of course, was to take charge of the natives to protect them from the 

strenuousness. The situation of Palestine, in fact, became that of a man whom a 

benefactor knocks down with a motor-car, so that he may not be able ñto stand 

by himself.ò Whereon the benefactor, leaving the car, rushes to uphold the 

victim and to guide his faltering steps with devotion. 

However, the point is that before being thus succoured, the Arabs were not 

thrust out by the Turks of all control in and over Palestine. The educated classes 

had some part in their own government, and the Arab masses even had a say in 

a more extensive field of affairs. ñUnder the Ottoman regime,ò says the official 

report of the 1929 Shaw Commission, ñno doubt the more important activities 

of provincial and even perhaps of municipal bodies were controlled either 

directly or indirectly by the central Government. But the fact remains that even 

the peasant, provided that he paid so small a sum as ten shillings per annum in 

direct taxation, could feel that through the exercise of his voting powers he had 

a voice in the control of his village, and indirectly, through the system of 

secondary elections, in the control of the affairs of the larger administrative 

units, up to the Ottoman Empire itself.ò 

These are the words of a British Commission, which in its next few 

sentences, after allowance has been made for the material benefits and for the 

better administration of our rule, recognizes that a case exists for those who 

contrast Arab self-government under the Turks with their situation under our 

regime. The Arabs, sums up the Commission, were indeed given opportunities 

of self-government in 1922, but their leaders refused them on the ground that 

they would not amount to as much as they had under Turkey. The Commission 

records this fact without attempting to controvert it. 

Still, that share in local self-government and that small say in the first-class 

affairs of Turkey which the Arabs held, if they do show to advantage compared 

with the Arabsô present abject political status, were in themselves nothing so 

much. They were only enjoyed at the price of the surrender of national feeling. 

Men who exercised them had to drop Arab nationalism and act as Turkish 

subjects. 

But Arab nationalism, or rather the feeling that Arabs had of individuality 

and of insulation from their rulers, which later was to take the usual guise of 

nationalism, always existed amongst them. It had dormant periods, but like so 

many nationalisms began to emerge vigorously into life in the mid-nineteenth 

century. It was stronger in Syria than in any other part of the Arab lands. Syria 

was in contact with Europe. The Christians of the Lebanon, benefiting by their 

special rights, led the way. 

The Syrians began the national renaissance with what may be called an 

intellectual rising. They made the printing press busy. They published an 

Arabic encyclopædia. They translated Homer and Virgil and other classics, and 

then the works of more modern poets and essayists out of the various European 

languages. There was more than research in these discoveries of the literature of 
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the West. Reading great Western books, the youth of the country responded to 

the sentiments of liberty they found in the poets, and to the themes of the 

essayists which were based implicitly on liberty of thought. They made 

parallels between Homerôs heroes and the traditional heroes of their own race. 

Each book, though born long before Turkey was born, deepened their 

discontent with their Turkish environment. 

In what is read lies the germ of what is to be written, and presently Arabic 

newspapers appeared, dealing rather with the news of ideas than the news of 

happenings. In 1860 Boutros al Boustani founded one that had considerable 

influence, the Nafeer Souriyya or Syrian Trumpet, a name sufficiently 

explicative of the paperôs mission. Another journal of the kind was Al Jinan, 

The Garden. Beyrout, where were the foreign schools, became the chief centre 

of nationalist journalism, though the other towns of Palestine and North Syria 

had their share. Women began to take a part in the rising movement: several of 

them helped to edit sheets and pamphlets which became more patriotic and 

more clandestine as Turkish attention by degrees was aroused. 

The movement went underground also. Secret societies were formed. It also 

went abroad, for the Turks began to banish the more prominent nationalists. 

Some of these fled to Egypt and became the leaders of the anti-Turkish 

activities there. Others went to France which provided them not only with a 

refuge but with a natural forcing-ground for the growth of national feeling by 

reason of its own stir and agitation. 

Ideas of freedom filled the air and moved Constantinople itself. The Sultan 

granted a Constitution in 1876, which stayed dormant however till 1896, when 

under renewed pressure from liberal elements a Parliament met. It was short-

lived, but presently the ñYoung Turkishò Party arose, and in 1908 the Sultan 

Abdul Hamid opened yet another Parliament. It served the Arab cause, for 

Syria elected representatives along with the other countries of the Turkish 

Empire, and they all were nationalists. 

This Parliament was dissolved in 1912. Most of the Arab members went into 

exile, but they had gained their status and now formed an authoritative Arab 

nucleus abroad, in secret touch with the homeland. The Arabs in France had 

organized themselves. A ñNational Committeeò had been founded in Paris by 

an Arab of Egypt, Mustapha Pasha Kamel. 

In 1895 this Committee issued a document of high importance. It was the 

prospective charter of Arab Independence, which was never to be lost from 

sight and to re-appear, some twenty years later, under the pen of the Shereef 

Hussein, in Mecca itself. The essential parts of its explanatory preamble ran, 

ñThe Arabs are awakened to their historical, national and ethnographical 

homogeneousness and aim at separating themselves from the Ottoman body 

and forming an independent State. . . . Its boundaries will be from the Tigris 

and the Euphrates to the Suez Canal and from the Mediterranean to the Gulf of 

Oman (the continuation of the Persian Gulf). It will be governed by an Arab 

sultan as a liberal constitutional monarchy.ò 

Everybody in 1895 was liberal and constitutional in the Gladstonian fashion, 

and it is a question whether Arabia could produce then, or now, for that matter, 

Gladstones cut to the exact Hawarden pattern or Gladstonian constituents of the 

Midlothian breed. But this does not matter. In the manifesto of the National 

Committee the project for an Arab state was publicly filed, its dimensions and 

boundaries were publicly declared, and the principle of a non-despotic 

government was laid down for it. 

Arab leaders in Syria of course could not openly espouse the Paris 

proposals. They sought for a measure of autonomy under the Turkish rule, and 

formed a ñDecentralization Committee,ò as it was called. This committee 

published a scheme under which governing officials should only be appointed 

with the consent of local authorities, and also they demanded the creation of 

provincial diets. 

By the beginning of the new century, official Arab claims had grown bolder. 

A still more representative committee numbering eighty-four members, of 

whom half were Christian and half Moslem, was established, of which the 

object was to secure a ñGeneral Provincial Council for Syria,ò Home Rule for 

Syria in fact. 

The movement abroad and underground, aiming at complete independence, 

gathered impetus meanwhile. The Paris National Committee expanded into the 

ñLeague of the Arab Motherlandò and set forth as its aim the return to the Arabs 

of all Arab countries. 

Some hesitations upon policy came when the Young Turk movement gained 

strength. Various personalities amid the Arabs were affiliated to this at first, 

thinking that as it was a general advance towards emancipation, it might be a 

step also towards the Arabsô goal. An Arab, Shawki Pasha, was prominent in 

the group which dethroned the Sultan, Abdul Hamid. Under his successor, 

Mohammed V, Arabs held Cabinet posts and in general higher positions than 

had been their lot previously. 

But the Young Turk movement soon became more and more a pan-Turk 

movement, introducing the idea of Turkish nationalism at the expense of the 

previous Ottoman dynastic regime. This meant the suppression of all non-Turk 

elements in the life of the country, and the Arabs, seeing they had nothing to 

look forward to but subordination, soon began to break, openly or in secret, 

their connections with Enver and his companions. 

Arab hopes now centred in the secret and semi-secret national societies. The 

most powerful of these perhaps was the ñHizb al Ahd,ò sometimes called 

ñAhadò for short, or ñParty of the Oath.ò It was the most dangerous to Turkey 

because its members were all officers in the Turkish army, who swore, as 

Lawrence puts it, ñto acquire the military knowledge of their masters, and to 
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turn it against them, in the service of the Arab people, when the moment of 

rebellion came.ò 

A larger secret society, in some way the civil counterpart of the Hizb Al 

Ahd, was the so-called ñFatah.ò It was, says Lawrence, the ñsociety of freedom 

in Syria. The land-owners, the writers, the doctors, the great public servants, 

linked themselves in this society with a common oath, passwords, signs, and a 

central treasury, to ruin the Turkish Empire.ò The full title of this society was 

ñAl Arabiyah al Fatahò which means ñArab Youth.ò Its members were the 

Young Arabs, in fact, who thus faced the Young Turks. It was founded in Paris, 

amidst Arab students there and some residents. Three of its founders hailed 

from Palestine and one of them was to become well known later on as Auni 

Bey Abd-el Hadi, signatory of the Versailles Peace Treaty, and years after 

internee of the Sarafend Concentration Camp.1 

The widest-spread society of all was the Literary ClubðñAl Muntada al 

Adabiòðwhich was founded at Constantinople in 1912, but like the other 

societies had its main membership and organization in Syria. Ostensibly the 

Literary Club had no political interests, but was concerned with social and 

literary pursuits. It could enjoy, therefore, a public existence. It produced a 

widely read magazine, the joint editors of which were an Arab man of letters 

from Baghdad and Asem Bey Bseso, who came from Gaza. Its founder, Jameel 

Bey at Husseini, was from Jerusalem. The Literary Club of course, under cover 

of its innocuous public meetings and conversaziones, was a focus of national 

action. 

There were several other smaller societies, but these three were the 

principal. The reader will observe that the Arabs of Palestine, far from being 

inert, uninterested and obscure, were extremely prominent amidst the 

organizers of the movement. 

Lawrence, who did not care for townsmen and, despite his own gifts of 

manipulation, did not care for intrigue on behalf of any cause, speaks 

contemptuously of the Fatah. He would have wished its members to have 

sought freedom ñthrough sacrifice,ò that is, by risking a revolt. But he grants 

that it became a formidable organization. It is possible that the Arab societies at 

the time knew best what advanced their cause. 

An Arab National Conference was held in Paris three years later, but the 

Balkan and Tripoli wars gained for the Turks some respite from the Arab strain. 

The more advanced Arab irredentists became nervous of the advance of 

European arms against Turkey. It was not that they cared a whit for the 

preservation of the Turkish Empire, but that State did not present such an 

obstacle to their hopes as did this European advance. The Turkish yoke was 

                                                 
1 Auni Bey Abd-eI Hadi is one of the Arab delegates at the Conference convened by the 

Government at St. Jamesôs Palace, being held in February 1939, as these pages go to 

press. 

something which sooner or later they felt they could slip, but they were very 

doubtful about their own prospects on soil which in the interval Europe might 

have garnered from the Turks. These apprehensions have not proved so ill-

founded. 

However, after the close of the Tripoli and Balkan conflicts, Arab pressure 

on Turkey grew, and the approach of the Great War found Syria close to a 

formal demand for autonomy. But as the events which ushered in the Great 

War, and afterwards followed it, are of more importance than anything else in 

the history of the Palestine Question, it will be better to return to them at full 

length later. Some account must first be given and some comment made upon 

the origins and the rise of the other force mentioned at the beginning of this 

chapter, Zionism. 

 

CHAPTER IV  

The Jews in PalestineðMisuse of the term ñexile ñðDid they survive in 

Palestine?ð The two ZionismsðEarly ZionistsðHerzl and political Zionismð

Refusal to be aware of the Arabs. 

Few causes have owed so much to ignorance as the cause of Zionism. This 

does not mean that Zionists themselves are ignorant. Far from it. 

What is meant by the debt of Zionism to ignorance is that the measure of 

success which Zionism has won in British circles, above all its enrolment 

amidst British political causes, is in great part due to the ignorance of the 

general public. The cabinet ministers who adopted Zionism during the latter 

years of the war were able to force it upon Palestine largely because no one at 

home knew anything about the more recent past of Palestine. Things were done 

there which would not have been ventured if the electorate of the United 

Kingdom had been informed and alert. 

No doubt some of the British politicians who were responsible may not have 

had so much knowledge themselves of the history of the land they intended to 

govern. In this case, they might have read something of it and like other 

apprentices have taken a course in the subject which they intended to profess. 

But most of them, I fear, had no interest in dissipating public ignorance. One of 

them, Lord Balfour, went further. Lord Balfour kept himself determinedly 

innocent of everything concerning Palestine, and then exploited his own 

innocence. It was a state of mind which appealed to his peculiar cast of 

character. 

One piece of general ignorance which helped enormously, and without 

doubt still helps the Zionist cause is the popular notion that all Jews were 

driven into world exile when the Romans took Jerusalem and destroyed the 

Temple in A.D. 70. As a matter of fact the Jews remained still strong enough in 

Palestine after the fail of Jerusalem to launch a final revolt sixty years later. 
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But that is a very minor point. The primal point is that most Jews were never 

driven into world-wide exile at all. They left Palestine, long before Roman 

days, because they wanted to go. Under pressure of hard times or in hope of 

bettering themselves they quitted the homeland and settled down all over the 

ancient universe. They were not exiled: they emigrated. They and theirs, when 

they had the means, liked to come back for visits to Palestine, but they had not 

the least intention of returning to live there. 

Their own writers to-day, as in bygone days, quite recognize the situation: 

The children of Israel, [says Mr. Norman Bentwich] were scattered 

far and wide in all the countries of Hellenistic civilization, in Persia and 

Babylon, Egypt and Cyprus, the isles of Greece and the coasts of Asia 

Minor. ñEarth and sea are full of them,ò said the Sibylline oracle. And at 

Alexandria, the intellectual capital of the world [in the pre-Christian era] 

they were gathered in hundreds of thousands and occupied two of the 

five quarters of the city. By their numbers and their commercial 

prominence they held a position there, at the centre of the Orient, 

analogous to that which the Jews hold in the metropolis of the New 

World to-day. 

At the time of the débâcle [(the fall of Jerusalem) writes Mr. Leonard 

Stein] Palestine did not contain more than a fraction of the Jewish race. 

Flourishing Jewish communities had long existed in Egypt and in 

Cyrenaica, in Syria [north Syria, that is] and in Mesopotamia, in Italy 

and Greece. The Jews were dispersed long before the collapse of the 

Jewish State. Indeed at the opening of the Christian era there are said to 

have been only about 700,000 Jews in Palestine out of something like 

4,000,000 in the Roman Empire alone. 

The plain fact is that the vast majority of Jews for more than two thousand 

years has been satisfied to live outside Palestine. They remained attached to 

Palestine, at least those who remained attached to it were very attached. But 

they were not and never have been exiles for an enduring space in any true 

sense of exile, as the comings and goings to Palestine of those who returned to 

visit it showed. 

Unfortunately this fact is not widely known. Our own politicians have been 

the last men to disclose it. They preferred their constituents to think that the 

Jews had been driven en masse from their home and had been impeded en 

masse from returning thither, and that these conditions always prevailed. 

However, let us trace the course of the Jews in Palestine. After the final 

insurrection, the land was laid waste. They were butchered in great numbers 

and were enslaved. Many of the Palestine Jews endured genuine exile for a 

while, such as the Arab leaders have suffered in the Seychelles. Under the 

emperors who followed Hadrian however they were allowed to return, though 

there was little then to induce them to return. Jerusalem had been made into a 

Roman city, entitled Aelia Capitolina, and this particular area, their own 

capital, was forbidden to them. They chose in the main to stay in Alexandria 

and in the other cities in which they had taken refuge. 

A group of their priests and teachers however never were expelled from 

Palestine, though driven from this place to that. Eventually they came to rest, 

chiefly in Galilee, where they established rabbinical schools. They were men of 

strong faith, who when their visible sanctuaries were destroyed, made 

sanctuaries of their minds and kept alight in them the holy lamp of Jehovah. 

They gained reverential repute throughout the Diaspora, the Greek word 

generally used to designate the mass of Jewish settlements scattered about the 

world. 

But with the passage of time their schools declined, and Jewish 

representation in Palestine grew more and more tenuous. Whether for a period 

it survived or vanished altogether is a moot point. No one can be quite sure 

about what happened in the middle of the Dark Ages. Laurence Oliphant, the 

traveller, about eighty years ago, paid a special visit to Bukera, or El-Bukhera, a 

village west of Safad in Northern Galilee, situated ñin a savage mountain 

wilderness of desolation,ò because of a few Jews living there who were reputed 

to be the only Jewish community which had kept on the soil since the time of 

Christ. Such a tradition might well be accepted. 

After the battle of the Yarmook, to which reference has already been made, 

in the first part of the seventh century, the Arab Caliphs who followed certainly 

ruled over a number of Jews, for there is record that they treated them very 

tolerantly. The Jews existed in the chief towns and survived the convulsions of 

the next centuries. But the Crusaders slaughtered a considerable number when 

they captured Jerusalem. 

When Saladin regained the realm he was kindly to the Jews, who by now 

again were very few. A scarcely known and curious episode of history was his 

reception in the year 1211 of three hundred rabbis of England and France, who 

sought to investigate the prospects for Jewish immigration. They deserve surely 

to be called the first Zionists, and they show an example to their successors of 

the twentieth century, who, before entering Palestine, did everything but 

ñinvestigate prospectsò amid Arabs. 

Their mission however cannot have had any results, for some fifty years 

later, in 1267, there were only two Jews, brothers, living in Jerusalem. In 1327 

a small community was established there, who were dyers for the most part. At 

the beginning of the fifteenth century there was a synagogue in the Holy City, 

but its congregation was oppressed and a hundred families, which must have 

been about the sum total of believers, emigrated. 

During the fifteenth and sixteenth century the Jews in Jerusalem seem to 

have varied in number from 250 to 1,500 souls. The expulsion of the Jews in 

1492 from the Spanish peninsula accounted for the larger total. Most of the 
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expelled Jews however who came to the Orient went not to Palestine but to 

Salonica, where they have remained ever since. 

The Moslem population of Jerusalem varied also at that time. It was 10,000 

in 1481, by the account of travellers. But plague reduced it by a half within a 

few years, and the Jewish nucleus with it. 

Mr. Bentwich mentions a curious episode of the sixteenth century. A 

member of a Jewish family exiled from Portugal, Dom Joseph Nasi, ñwho had 

become the most trusted diplomatist of the Ottoman Empire and had been 

created Duke of Naxos, after entertaining and then abandoning the idea of 

establishing a Jewish colony in an island of the Greek archipelago, obtained 

from the Sultan Selim II the grant of a large tract in Galilee, with the 

permission to rebuild the town of Tiberias and to populate it exclusively with 

Jews.ò This Selim was the Sultan whose fleets threatened Christendom but 

were destroyed at Lepanto by Don John of Austria. The Tiberias enterprise 

never apparently was put into operation, but Mr. Bentwich, unaware probably 

of the embassy of the three hundred rabbis to Saladin, says of it that it was the 

anticipation of the modern movement for the return of the Jews to their 

ancestral soil, the first vague expression of the reviving national consciousness, 

and that some of the Jewish settlements in villages of Northern Galilee are 

effects of it. 

In the first half of the next century 2000 Jews are reported in Jerusalem. 

Their numbers fell to a thousand in 1730. Outside Jerusalem there were groups 

only, for the most part in Safad and in Tiberias. 

With the arrival of the nineteenth century comes the period of larger 

numbers. A species of census made by Ludwig Franki in 1856 counted nearly 

5,000 in Jerusalem, and there will have been rather more in the other parts of 

the country. There was an estimated population of 20,000 Jews in the whole of 

Palestine in the ôeighties, which increased under modern conditions of 

government and with the first foundation of Jewish colonies to 85,000 or so 

before the war of 1914. 

So much for the numbers of the Jews in Palestine. The figures which I have 

quoted, and other such evidence as there is, go to show that they may have kept 

a minute thread, a mere filament of residence in a nook of Galilee from the time 

of Christ. In the city of Jerusalem there was a break in their residency as the 

Roman era merged into the Dark Ages, and most probably one also after the 

Crusades. Still, Jerusalem has been the real centre when they have lodged in 

Palestine amid the Arabs since Henry III ruled in England, six hundred and fifty 

years ago. During these centuries they maintained, though with what continuity 

it is not possible to say, the ceremony of ñWailing at the Wallò in pious 

memory of their destroyed Temple. 

There is nothing in all this to disturb any defender of the Arab cause in 

Palestine to-day. If modern Jewish immigration, in continuance of the old 

connection, had been properly begun and conducted and had been reasonable in 

volume, there would have been (as I have said) probably no Palestine Question 

and no Arab cause to defend. It is only because this old connection is 

interpreted after a fashion which challenges the Arab ownership of the country 

that trouble has arisen and has become endemic. 

That Arab right of ownership should not have had to meet a challenge so 

groundless. It is a right whichðit must be repeated again and againð devolves 

upon the Arabs because they are the present representatives of races who 

possessed the land when the Jews were not even yet a people. It devolves also 

upon the Arabs because they have been and are to-day the occupiers of the soil 

for one thousand three hundred years without a break, a period of time 

conveying such evident and absolute ownership that anywhere else in the 

civilized world a kindred title would only be questioned by lunatics and 

disregarded by rogues. However, since this challenge was made, the question 

is, how did it come to be made? How did modern Zionism arise? It is a modern 

movement, whatever some of its protagonists may say about the age-long desire 

of the Jews to repossess Palestine. 

Mr. Leonard Stein, a conscientious writer, has some instructive paragraphs 

on the attitude of Jews throughout the ages. He says that 

Jews might have lived for generations in Poland or Russia, in Italy, 

Spain or the Rhineland: but Palestine was still the Land of Israel. 

Through good and evil days alike, Palestine remained the desire of their 

hearts. In the ease and security of Andalusia, hardly less than in the 

gloomy recesses of the Ghetto, they stretched out their hands to 

Palestineðsang of it, prayed for it, wept for its fallen majesty, and 

patiently awaited the hour of redemption. 

[He goes on:] The Palestine of which they dreamed had for most of 

them long ceased to be the Palestine of concrete reality. Of its 

geographical position or of its physical form they knew little or nothing. 

They were not bound to it by ties of personal affection, nor haunted by 

memories of its sights and sounds. It was not indeed a mere abstraction. 

The return of the exiles [Mr. Stein would call them the ñexilesò] 

ñassuredly would be a return in the most literal sense. But it would not 

come as the result of human effort. It would come in Godôs good time 

with the appearance of the Messiah. 

The whole matter of the thing is in this paragraph. Till recent days, till the 

start of the nineteenth century, say, the cry of the Jewish race for Palestine has 

been a religious one. That has made it, to begin with, only nominally the cry of 

the Jewish race, since out of the millions of Jews how many have been bound 

by the horizons of commerce and of humanitarianism, and have seen no 

further? Those of them who did look beyond, dwindling into a smaller and 

smaller minority as the centuries went past, never thought they would occupy 

Palestine till a time had come when Time would be no more. The Messiah 
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would bring them back to a Palestine transfigured, a stepping-stone to the next 

world. It was not for a territory, not so much for earth that they prayed as for 

Heaven. It has been left to an entirely different set of men, not at all their heirs, 

the Zionists of to-day, to insinuate that they did dream of a delimited country, 

and to produce atlases to measure their ancestorsô transfiguration. 

There were some rather fanciful beginnings to modern Zionism just after the 

French Revolution. An anonymous letter to the Jews of France, published by 

one of them in 1798, suggested the creation by the Jews of the world of a 

Jewish Council, which should treat with the French Government for the 

restoration of Palestine to ñits traditional people.ò ñThe country we propose to 

occupy,ò said the characteristic text, ñshall includeðsubject to such 

arrangements as shall be agreeable to FranceðLower Egypt, with the addition 

of a district which shall have for its limits a line running from Acre to the Dead 

Sea and from the south point of that lake to the Red Sea.ò The writer went on to 

expound the economic advantages to everyone of this calmly proposed 

occupation.  

Some very uncertain evidence makes Napoleon toy with a species of Zionist 

scheme. On the 22nd of May in 1799 a message appeared in the Moniteur, the 

official organ of the then French Government, dated from Constantinople, 

which ran, ñBonaparte a fait publier une proclamation, dans laquelle il invita 

tous les juifs de lôAsie et de lôAfrique a venir se ranger sous ses drapeaux pour 

r®tablir lôancienne Jerusalem. Il en a deja armé un grand nombre, et leurs 

bataillons menacent Alep.ò That is, ñBonaparte has caused a proclamation to be 

issued, in which he calls upon the Jews of Asia and of Africa to join his colours 

in order to reconstitute ancient Jerusalem. He already has armed a considerable 

number of them, and their battalions are threatening Aleppo.ò 

Some weeks later the Moniteur, for reasons which alas! remain unknown, 

proceeded to exculpate itself. ñCe nôest pas seulement,ò it explained, ñpour 

rendre aux juifs leur Jerusalem que Bonaparte a conquis la Syrie. II avait de 

plus vastes desseins . . . de marcher sur Constantinople, pour jeter de là 

lô®pouvante dans Vienne et dans P®tersbourg.ò ñIt is not merely to restore to 

the Jews their Jerusalem that Bonaparte has conquered Syria,ò says the 

Moniteur. ñHe nourished vaster plans . . . of marching from there upon 

Constantinople, to cast terror into Vienna and St. Petersburg.ò 

These extracts from the French organ have been studied and have been 

followed up by Mr. Philip Guedalla, whose lively mind plays amid them and 

inquiring sense is unsatisfied altogether about them. He can find no trace of the 

proclamation amidst the archives of the Egyptian expedition, nor any trace of 

other documents confirming or even referring to it. No Jewish battalions ever 

threatened Aleppo. No one threatened Aleppo, not even Napoleon, who never 

came near it. 

Asking himself in consequence whether the restoration of a Jewish State in 

Palestine was any part of Bonaparteôs plan, Mr. Guedalla replies that ñThe 

answer is not free from doubt.ò He adjudges however that there is some bare 

chance of an idea of the kind having floated through that great soldierôs mind, 

and he recognizes as a possibility that ñfor a few weeks in the spring of 1799 

Napoleon was a momentary Zionist.ò The adjective is well chosen: it is about 

the space of time during which Napoleon would have been a Zionist. 

This odd little episode indeed might have been scarcely worth recording 

here, were it not for a singular sequel to it. Mr. Guedallaôs researches into the 

matter were made public by him in the form of a lecture which he delivered on 

the 25th of May in 1925 to the Jewish Historical Society of University College, 

London. As it happened, Mr. Lloyd George was a guest of the Society on that 

occasion, and after the lecture he proposed the usual vote of thanks to the 

lecturer. In this address he was franker and more expansive upon the 

circumstances under which Zionism was adopted by the War-cabinet, and 

especially by himself, than he has been at any time since. At the proper juncture 

I shall cite his remarks. It is a strange combination of circumstances indeed: a 

semi-apocryphal declaration of the French Empire: an esoteric lecture upon it a 

hundred and twenty-five years later: Mr. Lloyd George blurting out thereon 

why he adopted a policy which is proving a disaster for the British Empire. 

Returning to the history of Zionism, it was only in the latter part of the last 

century that it either took on any importance or took a political aspect. In 1827, 

the Jewish philanthropist Sir Moses Montefiore, who was the first Jew ever to 

be a Sheriff of London, visited Palestine, and conceived the hope of settling, as 

he said, ñthousands of our brethren in the land of Israel.ò He intended to form a 

company for the purpose and applied to Mehemet Ali, the Egyptian Pasha who 

then held Syria. But Mehemet Ali was driven back to Egypt and the plan of Sir 

Moses fell through. 

Various writers during the next few decades gave birth to schemes for the 

resettlement of Jews or nurtured the idea that they should be resettled. Some of 

these were Gentiles, Laurence Oliphant being the most conspicuous. His, and 

most of the plans suggested, began to be political in character. There is 

unsuspected humour in the title of the book sent to Queen Victoria in 1846 by a 

Colonel George Gawler, The Tranquillization of Syria and the East by the 

Establishment of Jewish Colonies in Palestine. A Mr. Hollingsworth, a frank 

political ancestor of Mr. Ormsby-Gore, suggested that a Jewish State should be 

set up in Palestine under British suzerainty in order to protect the road to India. 

A few colonies were founded beginning in 1870, by a society called 

ñChoveve Zionò or ñLovers of Zion.ò The senior of these, Mikveh Israel, 

founded south of Jaffa, still exists. 

It was persecution, in two very different forms, which really brought modern 

Zionism into being. In the year 1881, in the reaction from the assassination of 

the liberal Tsar Alexander II, a wave of tyranny rose in Russia. One of the too 

frequent pogroms against the Jews followed as a matter of course, and the 

legislation which succeeded this was so despotic and injurious to them that 



PALESTINE: THE REALITY  26 

great numbers fled the country. The majority made for the United States, where 

within thirty-five years the Jewish population increased from 250,000 to 

3,000,000, and made of New York with its million of these the chief Jewish 

residence in the world. 

A certain number however turned to Palestine. ñThree thousand Jews,ò says 

Mr. Stein, ñlanded at Jaffa within twelve months of the enactment of the 

Russian óMay Lawsô of 1881.ò He points out that they were a new type of 

colonist, men who by implication preferred Palestine to the United States or to 

any other place of refuge. Previous colonists when they went to Palestine had 

had no choice between going there and going anywhere else. ñNor,ò adds Mr. 

Stein, ñwere they moved by the old-world sentiment which craved for the pious 

consolations of the Holy Cities.ò 

The fact is notable, and so is the phraseology used to describe it. In so far as 

there had been a link between Palestine and scattered Jewry, it was this same 

ñold-world sentiment,ò the strength of which Mr. Stein himself stresses, since 

he asseverates a Jewish continuity based upon it, in the paragraphs of his 

quoted a page or two back. But the new colonists would have nothing to do 

with old-world sentiment. Yet, while they repudiated it, they made use of it, 

acting as though it still were there. This employment of bridges into Palestine 

after blowing them up was indeed to become a commonplace of the singular 

modern Zionist movement. 

The second act of persecution which had so much influence in determining 

the rise of this movement was exerted against a single man, not a multitude. It 

was the condemnation and the transportation to Guiana of Captain Dreyfus. The 

well-known Neue Freie Presse newspaper of Vienna, sent as its correspondent 

to Paris in 1891 a young Jew of Budapest named Theodor Herzl. Three years 

later Herzl had to chronicle the Dreyfus trial and all the attendant antisemitism 

which it aroused. What he saw and heard made such a deep impression upon 

him that he grew conscious of his own people and of their difficult situation in 

the world. Hitherto he had thought of himself as an Austro-Hungarian subject 

and no more. Now he thought of himself as a Jew and nothing else. Where his 

fellow-Jews had emigrated physically from Russia, he emigrated mentally from 

Austria. 

Herzl reviewed the condition of the Jews. In Eastern Europe they were 

oppressed. In Western Europe they were tolerated at the best, as it seemed to 

him, and in some countries toleration was wearing thin. Wherever Jews lived, 

the more their very capacities advanced them and increased their influence in 

that country, the more was its Gentile population irked by them and made 

increasingly hostile to them. 

Herzl brooded on this indeed terrible dilemma, and he came to the 

conclusion that the sole solution for it was for the Jews to have a State of their 

own. He did not intend by this a State to which all Jews should repair, but one 

to which those should go whose position in Russia or elsewhere had grown 

intolerable. His was a stop-gap idea, destined really to deal with the existing 

situation of the depressed Jews, and did not peer much into the future. In 1896 

he published his theories in a book entitled Der Judenstaag, The Jewish State. 

This made a great sensation and was read in translations in all parts of the 

world. 

Herzl at very first did not advocate the establishment of the Jewish State in 

Palestine. His cry was for a State, here, there, anywhere, as long as it was a 

Jewish State. He received indeed, some years later, an offer from the British 

Government, through the medium of the by now established ñZionist 

Organization.ò This offer was of six thousand square miles of uninhabited land 

in the highlands of British East Africa. Herzl would have closed with this offer 

of 1903, prompted by the interest which Mr. Balfour, the Prime Minister, had 

long taken in Jewish affairs. It was, thought Herzl, a step to the goal. A night-

refuge, a ñnachtasyl,ò he called it, for such as then were homeless. But by that 

time there were too many others in the Zionist movement whose thoughts were 

riveted on Palestine, and they brought about a refusal, albeit a grateful and a 

polite one, of the African offer. 

Herzlôs own attitude towards Palestine was that while it was not 

indispensable, it was the location which he would prefer for the Jewish State. 

His writings had awakened and had coalesced a good deal of Jewish feeling, 

and representatives of the race from many lands gathered in 1897 at Basle in 

Switzerland to hold the first Zionist Congress. The Sultan of Turkey had been 

approached in the meantime, and there seemed some chance of his granting a 

charter of occupation in Palestine to the newly formed Zionist Organization. 

The aim was a Chartered Company, with ñJohn Companyò1 privileges and 

headquarters in London. In his presidential address Herzl was guided by this 

and proclaimed that ñthe aim of Zionism is to create in Palestine for the Jewish 

people a publicly recognized homeland under legal guarantees.ò As a matter of 

fact the Chartered project fell through. Abdul Hamid himself had been not so 

disinclined to dispose of Palestine and its people for a return in cash, but the 

sum which he had asked, ten million pounds, was beyond attainment. He 

became aware, too, as negotiation went on and grew known, that there was 

more and much stronger Moslem sentiment against the plan than he had 

expected, and his willingness for the bargain lessened correspondingly. He 

indeed gave a promise, in answer to remonstrations from Palestine, that he 

would impose a check on Jewish immigration, though he did not do much to 

fulfil it. On the fall of his throne, the Zionists placed some hopes in the Young 

Turks, who had a strong Jewish tinge themselves (ñthe Committee of Union 

                                                 
1 [The British East India Company. The origin of the expression seems unknown, 

presumably deriving either from John Stuart Millôs association, or the fact that so many 

other Johns were involved its goings on that it became a popular quip to the newspaper-

reading public. ïEd.] 
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and Progress was largely under Dônmé, crypto-Jew, influenceò says Sir Ronald 

Storrs), but the Zionists soon enough were disillusioned. The Young Turks 

were a local cabal, to which Russian-inspired Jewish nationalism made no sort 

of appeal. To have identified themselves with political Zionism would have 

been to disidentify themselves with their doctrine of Turkish nationalism. 

There is no occasion here to go at length into all the ensuing details of the 

rise of pre-War Zionism. The 1897 Congress was the first of a long series held 

in various cities and countries. ñAppropriately nomad Parliamentsò a French 

writer has called these Congresses. The Eleventh was held in Vienna in the year 

before the War. Herzl himself died prematurely, from overwork, in 1904. The 

Zionist Organization was founded to embody the movement, to arrange the 

Congresses, and generally to form a representative body for purposes of 

negotiation. Its membership rose at one time to 200,000 but declined to 130,000 

at the outbreak of the War. 

In comparison with the number of Jews in the world then, somewhere about 

thirteen million, 130,000 was not a large proportion, particularly when this 

proportion was obliged by its own tenets to offer itself as representing the 

whole of Jewry. It did not of course do so at all. Some of the impoverished and 

down-trodden Jews and a group of ñintellectualò secularized young Jews in 

Russia and in a number of other countries adopted Herzlôs doctrine of the 

Jewish State. The average commercial Jew, the bulk of orthodox rabbis and 

their congregations. the Jew settled in one of his many modern Alexandrias, 

nine-tenths of the race that is to say, fought shy of it. 

As usual however, the small group which wanted to go somewhere and to 

do something had its own way very much. The 130,000 Zionist cavalry charged 

into the Chancelleries of Europe and America and created an excitement and an 

impression of overwhelming unity, unaltered by the pedestrian Jewish millions 

living peaceably at home. The existence of the non-Zionist multitude, though, is 

a point which, to say the least of it, deserves to be remembered, now and at all 

times. Whenever a political Zionist declares that Zionism as begun in Palestine 

was the cause of the Jews, he can always be gently corrected. It was not the 

cause of the Jews, it was a cause of Jews. 

The chief result of the passage of the sixteen years between the First and the 

Eleventh Zionist Congresses was that the doctrine expounded at them changed 

definitely from Herzlôs scheme for housing the depressed Jews in a territory of 

their own. It changed into the modern Zionist doctrine of making Palestine a 

Jewish country, in order to regenerate the status of the Jew outside it, and to 

provide a spiritual sanctuary for his national feelings or national sanctuary for 

his spiritual feelings, whichever he preferred. 

That closes the story of pre-War Zionism so far as it need be told for present 

purposes. There are, though, some matters in connection with it which have a 

marked bearing on the problems of to-day. These particular points have been 

noted little and still less driven home. 

In the first place the quotation from Dr. Herzlôs presidential address to the 

First Zionist Congress, which I have already given, is worth studying again. 

ñThe aim of Zionism,ò he said, ñis to create in Palestine for the Jewish people a 

publicly recognized homeland under legal guarantee.ò Along with this may be 

quoted the words of his precursor, Dr. Pinsker, who in 1881 wrote that the Jews 

ñmust be amalgamated as a nation among nations, by the acquisition of a home 

of their own.ò [The italics are mine.] 

The interest of these assertions is that they demonstrate how the ñNational 

Homeò phrase found in the Balfour Declaration had been devised by Zionist 

leaders decades before it was proclaimed as the watchword of Britainôs own 

policy. Moreover, the word ñHomeò was to be used by its British borrowers as 

a periphrasis, or more properly as a pseudonym for a Jewish State while in its 

period of incubation, but there never was any concealment about its meaning 

when it was invented by the first Zionist leaders. When Herzl spoke of a 

ñhomelandò he meant a sovereign State, for it was the only conception which 

he admitted. Pinsker wrote of the ñhomeò as a ñnation among nations.ò 

This establishes what so many interested parties do not care to have 

established, that Zionism from the start, wherever it was to be installed, stood 

for sovereignty. The pretences of partnership and of blended authority in 

Palestineðthemselves indefensibleðwith which, till in 1937 Partition was 

frankly proposed, it had been thought to delude the Arabs, never were the aim 

of the movement. This always was what Herzl said it wasðsovereignty. The 

other formula was only put forward while it was believed that the Arabs might 

be deceived by a system under which they would only lose their natural 

authority by degrees. 

The point of essential sovereignty is not the only one which emerges from 

Dr. Herzlôs declarations. Reading them, the reader may be conscious of a 

remarkable anomaly in them. If Herzlôs fundamental thesis was that persecuted 

or unenfranchised Jews should get away from their false environment and 

found a State where they would be by themselves and so be the equals of any 

men, if this was what Herzl meant, how then could he come to consider 

Palestine as a spot where such a State could be founded? It was a territory 

where the Jews could not be self-secure, for the Arabs were already living there 

in hundreds of thousands. How could Herzl fix his eyes on Palestine then, 

where the conditions for his Sinn-Fein ñourselves-aloneò State were 

unobtainable? 

The question may well be asked. But it would be difficult for Zionism to 

provide an answer to it. Nothing is more significant of the character of the 

Zionist movement than the fact that in those crucial days of last century it never 

paid the least attention to the Arabs who peopled the country upon which all its 

efforts were directed. Not a lift of a Zionist eyebrow seems to have been wasted 

upon an Arab form. 
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The sincere Mr. Stein is one of the few Zionist writers who seems conscious 

of this shortcoming. He does what he can to rectify it. ñWhen Herzl,ò he 

explains, ñhad spoken of a Charterò (from the Sultan) ñhe had not, needless to 

say, contemplated any eviction of the Arabs of Palestine in favour of the Jews. 

He was, to judge from his Congress addresses, hardly aware that Palestine had 

settled inhabitants, and he had, in perfect good faith, omitted the Arabs from his 

calculations.ò 

Was there ever anything more extraordinary than this? Vast plans are made 

engaging the destinies of a multitude of people, yet the man who engenders 

these plans never takes the essential first step of surveying the land where he 

proposes to carry them out. Nor apparently do any of his associates suggest it to 

him. There might be no Arabs in the world for all the difference it makes to him 

or to his associates. 

Year by year Zionist congresses are summoned, and from their platforms 

and in the corridors of the assembly speakers discourse incessantly about 

themselves, about champions and about opponents of the cause within the ranks 

of Jewry, about the dovetailing of ill-fitting factors in their programme, about 

their hopes and their fears of Gentile help, about their own culture and their 

own need for spiritual expansion. Without doubt these were reasonable and 

respectable topics. When however were they put aside to consider the existence 

of inhabitants in the land which the Congress members proposed to acquire? 

When indeed? Was a single dayôs session of a single Congress devoted to the 

discussion of the understanding which must be reached with the people of 

Palestine? Not one. 

Herzlôs own situation is the most extraordinary of all. He justly becomes 

celebrated. He goes about the world spreading his gospel. He interviews 

monarchs and chiefs-of-government. Strange interviews they must have been, 

for he is closeted with the Sultan, the ruler of Palestine, yet comes away 

without news that Palestine has a population. He interviews the Pope and talks 

with him of the custody of the Holy Places, but never learns of the Christian 

inhabitants who frequent them. He even visits Palestine, but seems to find 

nobody there but his fellow-Jews. Arabs apparently vanish before him as in 

their own Arabian Nights. The Arabic tongue at the moment of utterance is 

transmuted magically into Hebrew or Yiddish or German! 

But it is when we turn from Herzl to his associate leaders, and still more 

when we consider the action of the chiefs of Zionism who immediately 

succeeded him, that this plea of not having perceived the Arabs cannot be 

entertained. We are given to understand that this blankness of view persisted 

for some six or seven years. Mr. Stein, writing of the period round 1905, says 

that ñit was now coming to be realized that Palestine was not empty.ò Herzl had 

died after the Sixth Congress, in 1904, and his death makes a point of 

demarcation. 

I cannot see how it can be held that for six years a great number of 

admittedly intelligent educated men remained ignorant of the presence of the 

Arabs. If they did remain so ignorant, theirs was as bad a case of culpable 

ignorance as can be imagined, and they cannot be allowed to profit by it. But I 

do not believe in this ignorance, and I maintain that the half-and-half 

prolongation of it which was kept up till the War, and to all intents was 

resumed afterwards (as will be seen when the Balfour Declaration is analysed) 

altogether discredits the leaders of the Zionist cause as well as their friends in 

our own Cabinet. 

There were nineteen Jewish colonies established in Palestine before the year 

1900. The colonies of Rishon-le-Zion, Zichron Jacob and Rosh Pinah had been 

founded in the early ôeighties, and housed thousands of Jews who had fled from 

Russia. The international Jewish Colonization Association, founded by Baron 

Hirsch in 1891, was busy in 1900 reorganizing these colonies, which had been 

over-subsidized by Baron Edmond de Rothschild. The ñChoveve Zionò or 

ñLovers of Zionò organization, established in Russia, but with committees in 

Vienna, Berlin, New York, Paris and London, had been engaged in Jewish 

settlement for six years. The ñJewish Colonial Trustò had been founded and 

registered in England to collect funds for use in Palestine and had received a 

quarter of a million pounds in its first year. The Jewish ñNational Fund,ò 

created to acquire land in Palestine, was founded in 1901. In Jerusalem there 

were many thousands of Jews, and also in Jaffa. 

All these trusts and colonies and the people who inhabited them were in 

regular continuous communication with Jewish bodies and persons throughout 

Europe and America. Many of the Jews of Jerusalem were subsidized by pious 

co-religionists, so that they alone were responsible for a network of 

correspondence between Palestine and innumerable synagogues and 

congregations everywhere. The ñChoveve Zionò and the secular associations 

necessarily were drawn into association with the Zionist Organization and with 

the Zionist Congresses. At Basle and at the succeeding Congresses there was 

infinite discussion about the colonies. 

In a hundred ways the conditions prevailing in Palestine and the existence of 

the Arabs and the varying ways in which the Arabs reacted to existing colonies 

and to the promise of more colonies must have been known to all active 

Zionists. 

The only conclusion then, and it is a conclusion forced upon the observer, is 

that if Zionism was unaware of the Arabs it was because most Zionists 

perceived an obstacle in the Arabs and did not want to be aware of them. The 

Zionist leaders, and the more prominent of their followers, obsessed with the 

absurd notion that Palestine had always been the patrimony of the Jews, did not 

intend to be aware of anything which conflicted with this. To have made 

approaches to the Arab population, and to have discussed at any length the bar 

which that population presented or might present to the accomplishment of 
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their plans, would have [been] to disconfess the plea upon which those plans 

were based. It would have disclosed to most of the non-Jewish world, and 

indeed to a good part of the Jewish world, that there was a factor in existence 

which upset the whole formula of Jewish ownership. 

I do not say that all of the leading Zionists viewed the matter quite in this 

fashion. Some of them will have thought about the Arabs in a careless, 

indifferent way. They will have considered them as nobodies who would 

disappear presently, decamping from the soil after a little money had been spent 

or by some other almost natural sequence. They would vanish like the mist 

before the sun of Zion. 

Those who thought like this wasted no time in discussing persons of such 

little import as the Arabs. As far as they themselves were concerned the Sultan 

of Turkey was the temporary population of Palestine. Of him they did talk, and 

with him they dealt, if unsuccessfully. 

But most of the principal figures of Zionism must lie under the imputation 

of not having desired to perceive the Arabs. Their attention had been called to 

them by one man at least who belonged to their own number, Achad Haôam.1 

Achad Haôam was the pen-name of Asher Ginsberg, whose essays and treatises 

became the literary focus of all Jews who opposed the establishment of a 

Jewish State. His patent disinterestedness and his altruism marked him out 

amidst his contemporaries. He declared that the political Zionists, that is to say 

those who worked for a Jewish State, were ruining the cause. ñJudaism,ò wrote 

he in 1897, ñneeds at present but little. It needs, not an independent State, but 

only the creation in its native land of conditions favourable to its development; 

a good-sized settlement of Jews working without hindrance in every branch of 

culture, from agriculture and handicrafts to science and literature.ò 

Achad Haôam protested even some years before the Basle Conference 

against the Zionist wilful or casual exclusion of the Arabs. It was folly, he said, 

to treat them as wild men of the desert who could not see what was going on 

around them. At the Basle Conference he sat ñsolitary amid his friends, like a 

mourner at a wedding-feast,ò and wrote afterwards of ñthe complete absurdity 

of Herzlôs statesmanship, aimed inexorably at a Jewish State in Palestine.ò 

Twenty-three years later, in 1920, he wrote, ñFrom the very beginning we 

have always ignored the Arab people.ò 

That is the truth. The Zionist movement, as it took shape, aimed at 

superseding, or expected to supersede, the Arabs on their own soil. It is vain for 

the defenders of the system which has developed in Palestine from these 

beginnings to try and deny their real character now. If, as they assert, the 

Zionist goal was always friendship with the Arabs, then not alone would such 

warnings as Achad Haôamôs have been heeded. There would have been no 

necessity for their utterance. From the first moment the Arabs would have been 

                                                 
1 http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ahad_Ha'am. 

sought out quite automatically, and would have been canvassed by those who 

proposed to suggest themselves as their partners. 

This never was done. No contacts were made either with the mass of 

peasants in the countryside or with the professional men and the other dwellers 

in the towns. No public meetings were arranged to enlist the sympathies of the 

rising generation of nationalist Arab youth. No speeches were heard then, and 

no letters were written then to The Times, about Jews and Arabs hand in hand 

working out the future of Palestine. 

With these points in mind, the reader will understand better now why the 

Arabs make no response to the protestations of friendliness with which they are 

assailed at intervals. 

 

CHAPTER V  

The Powers and the Arab National MovementðThe Headship of the Movement 

shifts to Meccaðthe Shereef HusseinðThe Emir Abdullahôs visit to 

KitchenerðWar between Britain and TurkeyðBritish negotiations for Arab 

support begin. 

In the third chapter the progress of the Arabs towards emancipation from 

their Turkish rulers was traced to a period within sight of the Great War. The 

secret or semi-secret societies which worked for Arab independence, or, as a 

first step, for Arab autonomy, had grown very powerful. The names of several 

have been given. The more notable by now, each working to the common end 

in its own way, were ñAl Fatahò; ñAl Aha-ul-Arabi,ò the ñArab Brothersò; ñAl 

Muntada-Adibi,ò the ñLiterary Clubò ; the ñKhatanyehò Club; the ñHisb al 

Ahd,ò the ñSociety of the Oathò; ñAl Thevriyet-ul-Arabieh,ò the ñArab Revoltò; 

ñNahdat-ul-Lubanyeh,ò the ñAwakening of the Lebaneseò; the ñIslahyehò or 

ñReformistò group; and ñAl-Lamarkazieh,ò the (to give its full title) ñOttoman 

Decentralization League.ò Of these the Lebanese group was entirely Christian. 

The ñDecentralization Leagueò somewhat sardonically revised an old title, as it 

aimed at complete independence from Turkey, possibly though through local 

autonomy. 

The ñHisb al Ahd,ò composed of officers in the Turkish Army, was of its 

very nature more secret and did not entertain the half-way goal of home rule. It 

looked forward to mutiny on a great scale and secretly prepared it. Its members 

were men with the temperament of their calling, without much contact with the 

West, and they were suspicious of any prospective Western aid. It was strongest 

amidst Mesopotamians, born remote from the sea, and its adherents were 

scattered amidst many Turkish garrisons. 

On the other hand the civil societies were inspired by Western examples, 

were full of men who had had Western educations, and some of these societies 

had begun upon foreign soil. They were strongest in Syria which was in 
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perpetual contact with the West through its Mediterranean seaboard. It was 

inevitable that they should look for some sort of help from the West, and they 

did their best to establish contacts with the Powers chiefly concerned, Great 

Britain, France, and in a lesser degree, Russia. Nor did the Powers concerned, 

however circumspectly they behaved, evade these contacts. The break-up of 

Turkey had long been in prospect and it was but rational to keep in touch with 

those who at any time might succeed her. 

Britain and France at least displayed a watchful interest in the progress of 

the Syrian or Arab national movement. In fact they showed something more 

than interest. They extended, not perhaps both in the same degree and in the 

same manner, for each had its own fashions, an attitude towards the Syrians 

which is difficult to define but is a recognized diplomatic attitude. In its then 

stage, it might be called encouragement without encouragement. Those to 

whom it was extended felt themselves to be encouraged, while those who 

extended it felt that they had not encouraged them. 

The recipe for this attitude, as may be imagined, is a delicate one. Its very 

ingredients can hardly be listed. It goes without saying that they do not include 

official negotiations, for no respectable Powerôs ambassadors or ministers will 

engage in negotiations with conspirators plotting to overturn the rule of the 

government to which they themselves are accredited. But unofficial persons 

who have unofficial relations with official persons can always form a link. 

Consuls have to make reports about more than surface conditions in their 

districts, and they must gain knowledge in some discreet way. 

Unofficial persons, it is true, will negotiate perhaps with prospective rebels 

no more openly than do consuls and diplomatists. Their business is to gather 

information concerning conditions where they are stationed or sent. But 

information can only be gained by conversation and the closer this is with the 

persons about whose activities inquiry is being made the more reliable and the 

more worth sending it is. Such conversation means an understanding of the 

interlocutorôs point of view, and understanding of this easily shades into 

sympathetic consideration, and sympathetic consideration into amicable 

relations. Between friends there is no limit to the theoretic horizons which may 

be discussed and to the prospects which may be envisaged. 

They were being envisaged, with a gradually broadening outlook upon 

ñArab autonomy,ò in 1913, in Syria and even more out of Syria. The hazards of 

the war, which were to include unexpected fates for various documents, 

fortunately allow some of their general trend to be followed now. In the January 

of 1913 the French Ambassador in Constantinople, M. Bompard, sent an 

account to M. Poincaré, then Minister of Foreign Affairs, of a talk which he had 

had with Shefik Bey el Mouayid, an Arab notable and deputy. The latter with 

what must have been disconcerting openness asked the Ambassador, in the 

course of conversation, whether France, if Turkish forces were sent to Syria to 

keep it under Turkish rule, would send an army-corps to Aleppo to intervene. 

There had been a precedent for French military intervention in 1861, when 

French troops had been dispatched to Syria after a massacre of Christian 

Syrians. This intervention might have become French occupation, if the great 

Lord Dufferin, sent out from England, had not skilfully settled the matter with 

the Turks before the French forces arrived, so that there was no excuse for them 

to stay and they made a rather lame return to France. 

M. Bompard in 1913 could not listen of course to such proposals. He told 

his visitor that the best thing the Arabs could do was to be faithful to the Sultan, 

and by evident fidelity to win from Turkey the right to have their own Syrian 

officials in charge of the Syrian administration. Thus, he said, ñils auraient 

r®alis® toutes les reformes r®alisables aujourdôhui et desquelles pourraient par 

la suite sortir toutes les autres.ò 

The Ambassador, who had the experience of his rank, added for M. 

Poincar®ôs information that the Bey was leaving for Cairo, ñwhere doubtless he 

will make the same appeal to the British, and will compare their answers with 

mine.ò ñJe souhaite,ò added M. Bompard, ñquôelles soie aussi correctes.ò The 

Ambassador does not seem to have been quite so sure of British correctness as 

he might have been, for he used the word ñsouhaiterò which, in the special 

notation of diplomatists, is always employed to express a hope rather than to 

hope. 

It is extremely unlikely that Mouayid Bey got any change out of Cairo, our 

own people always being twenty times more correct and careful than their 

colleagues of any other country, though remaining obstinately well informed. 

Meanwhile however there had been an abortive rising in the Yemen, and the 

news of this, in which Syrians had had a hand, had been much exaggerated in 

Syria. The French Consul-General in Damascus, M. Ottavi, sent, in February, a 

minute to M. Bompard, telling him that the rumour was that a former deputy of 

Basra, Seyyid Taleb, had raised the standard of revolt and had declared that 

Mesopotamia and the Koweit district were henceforth an Arab State under 

British protection. M. Ottavi said he did not believe all this; there had been a lot 

of smoke but little fire. ñIn my opinion,ò he wrote, ñwe are merely confronted 

by an Anglo-Egyptian manîuvre designed to evoke before the Arabs the 

glittering mirage of the reconstitution of the Empire of Haroun al Rashid under 

the Þgis of Great Britain.ò In his original draft the good Consul-General had 

written first ñnous nous trouvons simplement en face dôune manîuvre des 

agents de Lord Kitchener,ò but on second thought had crossed out the phrase 

referring to Lord Kitchenerôs agents and had substituted cautiously ñune 

manîuvre anglo-égyptienne.ò The shadow of Fashoda still hung over Egypt 

then. 

A month before M. Ottaviôs note was dispatched there had been an 

important move in the Arab campaign for autonomy. A public meeting had 

been held in Beyrout with the agreement of the liberal Vali, or Governor, under 

the auspices of a newly formed Syrian ñCommittee to Examine Administrative 
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Reform.ò This was composed of twelve Moslems, twelve Christians and, it is 

interesting to observe, one Jew. But the friendly Kiamil Pasha fell from power 

in Turkey, and the ñUnion and Progressò Government at once dissolved the 

Beyrout Committee and warned the people of the town that a court-martial 

would deal with any more such illegal manifestations. 

This forced the administrative section of the Arab movement abroad once 

more. The Decentralization League held a meeting in Cairo in March, at which 

a Syrian, M. Tueni, ñauxiliary dragoman of the French Consulate-General in 

Beyroutò, was present ñin his private capacity as a member of the Syrian 

Committee of the League.ò The reader will perceive in M. Tueni a precious 

item in the construction of the diplomatic attitude just now described. The 

meeting passed a resolution, as M. Tueni informed his superiors, in favour of 

Syria being created an autonomous principality under the rule of a Moslem 

prince and the protection of France. M. Tueni was instructed to inform the 

French Minister in Cairo, M. Defrance, of this, for which the French Minister 

thanked him, and agreed ñat M. Tueniôs requestò to inform the Quai dôOrsay of 

what had occurred, ñmais a simple titre dôindication et en lui conseillant de 

maintenir lôaction du comit® dans la vole de la prudence et de la l®galit®.ò The 

rules of the game were being scrupulously observed. The message was thought 

important enough for M. Paleologue, then at the head of the Quai dôOrsay, to 

send it to the Consuls-General in Damascus and in Beyrout, though it cannot 

have conveyed much news to the latter. 

But about a week later M. Defrance was writing a disatch to M. Pichon, now 

Minister of Foreign Affairs, which ran, ñJudging by supplementary information 

which I have been able to gather since the event, it appears that the resolutions 

of the (Decentralization) Committee were neither as decisive nor as unanimous 

as they seemed to M. Tueni, who, only acting besides as a private individual, in 

his quality as a Syrian notable, and in nowise because of the official situation 

which he occupies at Beyrout, gives evidence of a certain excess of zeal on 

behalf of an immediate and radical solution of the Syrian question.ò The fact 

was, as M. Defrance communicated to M. Pichon, that M. Tueni had been too 

ñoptimistic about the Moslems,ò who wished for protection not by France but 

by England. 

A stiff if covert struggle for the contingent patronage of the movement 

undoubtedly set in then. The two Powers stood at proper diplomatic distance 

but knew that their respective adherents were battling for them. The Congress 

which should have been held in Beyrout was transferred to Paris, where it took 

on the likeness of a Syrian Parliament and drew the remonstrances of the 

Turkish Ambassador. Beside the delegates already mentioned some two 

hundred Syrians were present, from all parts of the globe. Resolutions were 

passed demanding autonomy and drawing up plans for it, with a central 

government at Damascus or Beyrout, but there was a good deal of dissension in 

the Congress. Many of those present wanted resolutions of entire independence 

to be passed. The autonomists aimed at independence but thought it wiser to put 

up with autonomy for the present. 

But the cleavage on the question of the Power to which the national 

movement should turn for help was perhaps a more evident cause of 

disagreement. The Moslem elements lobbied very successfully for Great 

Britain, so much so that M. Pichon sent a circular letter to the French consuls in 

Syria in which, without naming names, he said that the Reformist movement, 

which had been so favourable to France, now was veering away. The Consuls 

were recommended to be helpful to the Reformists, that is, the members of the 

various national societies, and to stem the Arab current straying from 

francophilism. 

A more definite move was made on behalf of the Foreign Minister by M. de 

Margerie, who sent from the Quai dôOrsay to M. Ottavi a singular note which 

had been received from the Resident-General in Tunis. 

There has been communicated [it ran] to the Tunisian Government a 

certain quantity of correspondence sent by Tunisians living in 

Constantinople, Beyrout and Medina, according to which representatives 

of the British Government have got into touch with certain personages 

and religious leaders of the Moslems (avec certains personnages et chefs 

religieux musulmans) both in Mecca and in Medina with the aim of 

forming bonds of sympathy and of common interests between the 

religious capitals of Islam and the British Government. 

According to some of this correspondence, addressed from Beyrout, 

British agents in Syria are vying with each other in the endeavour to 

bring about the triumph of British influence at Beyrout, Smyrna and 

Damascus. It would seem that certain members of Parliament have 

decided to visit Asia Minor during the coming summer and to study the 

country and its inhabitants at first hand. It is upon the advice of these 

politicians that the Moslem-Christian Association has apparently been 

established in Paris, the object of this body supposedly being to restore 

the Arab Caliphate instead of the Sultanôs in Constantinople.ò 

The note went on to say that ñBritish diplomacy and the British Pressò had 

decided to summon an Arab Congress to this end. The note had been written in 

Tunis on the 28th of May, before the Congress did come to being in Paris in 

June. The odd collaboration of British diplomacy and British Press 

ñsummoningò the Congress, though, was a characteristic piece of hyperbole by 

the French intelligence-agent who drafted the noteð for it was not the work of 

the Resident himself. It was the Syrians who had determined on the Congress, 

Paris was the consecrated place for it, and one of the most active conveners was 

M. Chukri Ganem, a Syrian who had spent most of his life in France, was far 

more French than Arab, and had the definite task of keeping the national 
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movement infeodated1 to France. That is not to say that there were no 

supporters of British influence facing him. But in our way, they had been given 

no definite task of opposition. The thing was implicit. They were Anglophile 

for this reason or the other and could be trusted to manifest their sentiments. 

The information from Constantinople, Beyrout and Medina came from 

native agents of the French Intelligence-Service. 

They exaggerated in describing the unnamed visitors to the three cities as 

ñrepresentatives of the British Government,ò but there was a basis of fact in 

their news. If Great Britain had stood entirely aloof from the rising Arab 

movement it would have been stupid. It was perfectly reasonable and proper 

that she should maintain sympathies, as a great Moslem Power, in all centres of 

Moslem influence. The course of events in Turkey pointed to the rapid 

downfall of the Sultan, whose religious influence as Caliph was a barrier to 

complete domination of Turkey by the modernist ñUnion and Progressò coterie. 

It would have been madness for Great Britain not to have prepared for such an 

eventuality. The Caliphate originally had been Arab and had been centred in the 

Red Sea. If it were to perish in Turkey, Mecca would be the natural place in 

which to restore it. For Great Britain to lend her help or her patronage to this, 

should the need for it arise, was but one of those exhibitions of divine common 

sense which had inspired her policies so often, though her rivals, as in the 

actual case, presented her action as artificially composed and labyrinthine. This 

policy of favouring Arab development, a development which was now 

inevitable, was one which had always particularly appealed to Lord Kitchener, 

then in full power at the Residency in Cairo. His own early days as a soldier 

had been passed a good deal in Syria, which he had helped to map, and there 

have always been two meanings to surveying the ground when it has been 

carried out by European officers in the Near East. 

It is likely enough that the ñrepresentatives of the British Governmentò 

whose acts disturbed the dreams of the Intelligence-bureau in Tunis were really 

some members of the ñDecentralization League,ò who did go down into Arabia, 

particularly to reach some kind of understanding with ñMoslem leaders.ò 

Sheikh Reshid Riza, who had a largish acquaintance in Cairo, visited the Emirs 

of Muscat and Mohammerah. Other delegates visited the Imam Yehia, and 

Seyyid Taleb the Emirs Ibn Saud and Idris. Sheikh Reshid Riza went on then to 

India, to perform the important work of canvassing Moslem opinion there upon 

the Caliphate question, and no doubt to inform Indian Moslems of the character 

and progress of the Arab National cause. 

Exactly what were the relations between Cairo and the delegates of the 

Decentralization League would not be easy to say. Most likely they were very 

far from being as defined as the French imagined, but none the less they served 
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their purpose, and were a preliminary stage in the prospective development of 

Anglo-Arab relations should Turkey dissolve or be helped to dissolve by her 

Arab subjects. 

There was then a good deal of difference between British attitude and 

French attitude towards Syria. France had long taken the closest interest in 

Syria, since the days of her kings, and had traditionally acted in Syria as the 

protector of the Latin Christians under the Turkish regime. This was not a legal 

situation: it was a custom which had grown up which conferred a special 

standing on French consuls rather than a status. No doubt the French would 

have liked to transfer this situation into something closer to a protectorate, but 

this was not possible of course while Turkey was there, though in 1861 the 

French, as we have seen, missed an opportunity of installing troops and 

building up a protectorate in the best nineteenth-century manner. 

France, however, maintained her hankerings for the country, and had much 

closer connections with it in general than Britain had. French missionaries and 

schools, as we have seen, were very important there. It was for this reason that 

the French followed the National movement in Syria so closely. 

British interest in Syria itself was less. While it remained in Turkish hands 

there was no particular problem concerning the approaches of the Suez Canal to 

consider. In 1912 the British Government had assured the French that in Syria 

ñit had no action in view, no aims, no political designs of any sort,ò and had by 

the mouth of Sir Edward Grey accepted that France had ñspecial interests in 

Syria.ò 

In 1913 the situation began to change with the manifest dissolving of the 

Ottoman regime and the manifest rise of the Syrian national system. The new 

factor was that the Syrian movement did not now appear as a Syrian movement 

alone, but as part of the national renaissance of all the Arabs, and in a general 

Arab movement, involving too the Caliphate question, Britain was vitally 

concerned as a Moslem-ruling Power and because of the strategic importance of 

the Arab territories on the road to India and at the gate of Egypt. 

So that Britain no longer could disinterest herself as much as she had done 

in Syrian affairs. They touched her vitally as Arab affairs, and she had now to 

consider the advantages of friendliness towards the Syrians as Arabs. The 

natural pendant to this was that a large section of the Syrians began to consider 

the greater advantage to their cause of closer friendship with Britain as a more 

powerful and probably less acquisitive Power, on this occasion, than France. 

They were headed by the capable Syrian colony in Cairo, always closely allied 

with British interests in Egypt, and very prominent in the National movement. 

Cairo too became more and more the centre of Syrian political activity in the 

whole Levant because of its geographical and social advantages, and this 

naturally increased the volume of Syro-British conversations of one kind or 

another. 
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As the summer of 1913 passed into autumn, the situation grew more tense in 

Syria and, because of their nervousness at the growth of the pro-British strain in 

the National movement, the French grew less diplomatic in their own relations 

with it, and passed to pure support of the Arab societies. In October the 

Ambassador in Constantinople had asked whether a newspaper in French 

interests could be produced in Damascus, and the answer he received from M. 

Ottavi makes the development of relations very plain. M. Ottavi wrote: 

The Arabic newspaper mentioned in your Excellencyôs telegram of 

the 21st, which I hope soon to be able to answer, can only exert a 

cautious influenceðwhich is more desirable in itselfðor else it will be 

at once suppressed. In my opinion, therefore, recourse will have to be 

had to pamphlets, secretly printed and distributed. This would mean an 

outlay of 150 to 200 francs a month, and I should be obliged if your 

Excellency would telegraph this sum to me, if your Excellency approves 

of my opinion. 

(Le journal arabe dont il est question dans le télégramme de Votre 

Excellence du 21 de ce mois, auquel jôesp¯re °tre en mesure de r®pondre 

incessamment, ne pourra exercer quôune action discreteðet cela est 

preferableðpour ne pas être aussitôt supprimé. Aussi faudrait-il, à mon 

avis, recourir aux pamphlets imprimés et distribueés secrètement, ce qui 

exigerait des frais sô®levant a une somme de 150 à 200 francs par mois, 

que je serais reconnaissant ¨ Votre Excellence de môaccorder par le 

telégraphe, si Votre Excellence approuve ma manière de voir.) 

It is clear that towards the end of 1913 the French were thoroughly involved 

with the Arabs in Syria. With the approach of the fateful year 1914 we may 

shift the scene to Mecca, the sacred city and heart of the Islamic world. It was 

there that British interests were more closely focused. Mecca was conspicuous 

not alone because of its character as a sanctuary and because of the purity of the 

Arab stock in the Hedjaz, as the district surrounding Mecca was called. It was 

the part of the Arab world where the Arabs had more power, and much more 

appearance of it. 

Since the days of Mohammed, Mecca had remained in some degree under 

the sway of his descendants. This sway extended, less definitely perhaps, to the 

other holy city of Medina, to the port of Jeddah, and to the rest of the Hedjaz, a 

coastal section of territory, some 500 miles long by 150 in breadth. 

The Arab ruler of this nucleus in 1914 was not so much an official ruler as 

the Controller of the Holy Places, and he held his position because he was or 

was assumed to be the senior of the Prophetôs descendants. The Hedjaz was not 

a State. In theory it was a province of the Turkish Empire and Turkey exercised 

suzerainty over it and its semi-ruler, who was termed the Shereef of Mecca. 

Shereef is a title given to descendants of the Prophet: the Shereef of Mecca was 

the Shereef of Shereefs, and sometimes was called the Grand Shereef. 

Lawrence records the situation of the Shereefs as Turkish power increased 

over the Hedjaz in the nineteenth century. ñAs the Sultan grew stronger there he 

ventured to assert himself more and more alongside the Shereef, even in Mecca 

itself, and upon occasion ventured to depose a Shereef too magnificent for his 

views, and to appoint a successor from a rival family of the clan [of the 

Prophetôs descendants] in hopes of winning the usual advantages from 

dissension.ò 

However, under one Shereef or another, the Hedjaz had kept a greater 

measure of independence than any Arab district of any size and importance, 

while the Shereef, as the custodian of the Holy Places, enjoyed the highest 

prestige amongst the Arabs. He became more and more the chief dignitary of 

their race, and when modern times set in the eyes of the leaders of the Arab 

movement turned to him. 

At that date the Shereef of Mecca was Hussein ibn Ali. He had always been 

impatient of Turkish suzerainty and, as a younger man but already important in 

Mecca by reason of his birth, he had been deported by order of the Sultan to 

Constantinople, where he was kept for sixteen years under polite supervision. 

The Turks always injured their own cause by exiling Arabs. Just as the Arabs 

driven to Egypt and to France sowed the seeds of the secret societies, so did the 

Arab Hussein profit by his exile. His sons received a modern education in semi-

European Constantinople. There were four of them, Ali, Zeid, Abdullah and 

Feisal. 

On the fall of Abdul Hamid, the Young Turks made the grave mistake of 

sending Hussein back to Mecca as Shereef. This was during their Panislamic 

period, before they turned to the policy of ñTurks only for Turkey,ò and 

probably they believed they had won the sympathies of the Hussein family 

during his long residence in the capital. His son Feisal was deputy for Jeddah in 

the last transient Turk Parliament and Feisalôs elder brother, Abdullah, even 

held a post equivalent to Deputy-Speaker of that assembly. 

Hussein, outwardly complaisant, from the day of his return began to restore 

and to extend his power as Shereef. And as it grew quietly, the connection 

between Mecca and the secret societies in Syria grew closer and closer. The 

project of a principality under a Francophile Egyptian prince hung fire. Those 

who were working for Arab independence began to look to the Arab Shereef, 

who had semi-independence already and the headship of the Holy Cities, as a 

prospective titular leader and mouthpiece of something wider than a local 

principality. In the spread of this idea British attitude certainly played a part. 

The Turkish authorities, as their interior policy began to change and, without 

doubt, as they got some inkling of what was going on, became more repressive. 

In Syria they closed some of the smaller ñsocial clubs,ò but the larger ones 

eluded them, and underground action went on unabated. Down in the Hedjaz, 

they appointed a new Vali of the province, who was known for his anti-Arab 

feeling. His first act was to order the surrender of a hundred rifles belonging to 
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the Shereefôs bodyguard. This was a stupid thing to do, since the rifles were old 

and of no great use, while the seizure of them was a piece of disrespect to the 

Custodian of the Holy Places, which much inflamed local opinion. It was 

believed to be a prelude to a campaign for the Turkification of Mecca and 

Medina. 

It showed Hussein that he had grown suspect to the Young Turks, or lay in 

the way upon their new road. He set himself all the more determinedly to 

consider how he might counteract their plans. Shortly after this, in February of 

1914, he dispatched his second son, the Emir Abdullah, to Egypt. This was a 

definite move towards the strengthening of the relations which so far had been 

loosely knit. The ostensible reason for the Emirôs journey was to pay a visit to 

the Khedive Abbas Hilmi. But the Turks, who had their suspicions of what was 

going on in the Hedjaz, were not satisfied with his story. When the Emir had an 

audience of Lord Kitchener they were still less satisfied, and from 

Constantinople they conveyed a message of this dissatisfaction. Lord Kitchener 

therefore did not see Abdullah again. Abdullah at the time had a mysterious 

plot of his own for involving Turkey with the chief Moslem Powers through 

some religious ñfrontier-incident,ò but whether he embarked on explanations of 

this when he saw Lord Kitchener cannot be said. K. of K.1 kept his own counsel 

on that point. 

But Abdullah must have made the general drift of his ideas evident, for 

when he asked, as he next did, to see in place of Lord Kitchener Mr. (now Sir) 

Ronald Storrs, who then was Oriental Secretary at the Cairo Residency, 

Kitchener instructed Storrs to avoid any encouragement of the Emirôs plans, 

personal or other. Kitchenerôs own account of the episode is given by Sir 

Ronald Storrs in his highly interesting book, Orientations. He quotes a note of 

Kitchenerôs to Sir William Tyrrell concerning his (Kitchenerôs) talk with 

Abdullah. 

The Emir sent for Storrs who, under my instructions told him the 

Arabs of the Hedjaz could expect no encouragement from us and that our 

only interest in Arabia was the safety and comfort of Indian pilgrims. . . . 

The Shereef (according to his son) seemed to be disappointed with the 

result of his visit to Constantinople and with the determination of the 

Turkish Government to push the railway on to Mecca, which he saw 

would mean the economic death of the camel-owning population of 

Arabia. . . . It will be interesting to see developments, as the Arabs seem 

to be much excited. 

Sir Ronald Storrs thus recounts his own interview: 

The Emir Abdullah showed a mind filled with Arabic poetry. 

Travelling by a series of delicately inclined planes, from a warrior past I 

found myself in the defenceless Arab present, being asked categorically 

                                                 
1 [ñKitchener of Khartoumò ð http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Earl_Kitchener] 

whether Great Britain would present the Grand Shereef with a dozen or 

even half a dozen machine-guns. When I inquired what possibly could be 

their purpose he replied (like all re-armers) ñfor defence,ò and, pressed 

futher, replied that the defence would be against attack from the Turks. I 

needed no special instructions to inform him that we could never 

entertain the idea of supplying arms to be used against a Friendly Power. 

Abdullah can have expected no other reply, and we parted on the best of 

terms. 

Sir Ronald Storrs in fact was as correct towards Ahdullah as M. Bompard 

had been fourteen months before towards Shefik Bey el Mouayid. As long as 

Turkey remained a friendly power, it was useless for the Arabs in the Hedjaz to 

expect help from Great Britain, nor was it to be expected that British standards 

of neutrality would become less definite in any way, whatever other nations 

were doing. 

But if there was a surer note in these British conversations, and if it must 

have been clear to Abdullah that what was said to him really was meant, it is 

equally certain that he went off with a conviction of an entente with Britain, if 

any sort of political convulsion were to disintegrate the established order of 

things in the Turkish dominions. Sir Ronald Storrs, it is true, seems to suggest 

that the Emir did not unbosom himself to Lord Kitchener, prior to his own 

interview with Abdullah, writing that ñHe appeared to have something to say, 

but somehow did not reach the point of saying it.ò But the very instructions 

given to the Oriental Secretary presuppose that Ahdullah had either talked of 

war with Turkey to Kitchener, or of something so akin to it that both knew how 

the land lay. Ahdullah had brought to the Residency the news of his fatherôs 

inquiries in Constantinople upon probable Turkish action in the Hedjaz. 

Hussein would have had exceptional opportunities for learning the ñinside 

story,ò as it is called, in Constantinople, and knew of the great part Germany 

had in the intention to press on with what, after all, was a branch of her 

Bagdadbahn. Kitchener had listened to talk about the railway, and the 

contingencies from the extension of it were pretty clear. 

Captain Liddell Hart in his life of T. E. Lawrence cannot be assumed to 

have been speaking without data when he writes of the KitchenerïAbdullah 

interview that ñAbdullah had found in Kitchener a sympathetic listener who 

himself had long cherished the idea of founding an independent Arab State in 

Arabia and Syria.ò There is too the further testimony of D. G. Hogarth, 

Lawrenceôs Oxford mentor, who was to play a prominent part himself in 

AngloïArab negotiations before very long, that ñLord Kitchener was already 

contemplating the possibility of an autonomous Arabia, between Teutonized 

Turkey on the one hand, and Egypt and India on the other, before war was ever 

so much as dreamed of.ò 

To imagine that Abdullah came to Kitchener without any previous 

connections at all between Cairo on the one hand and Mecca and Syria on the 
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other, however contingent and verbally correct these connections may have 

been, and however indirect, is not reasonable. Such connections had to be made 

as a mere form of insurance in the event of a break-up of Turkey, and they were 

made. 

However in February and April of 1914, there was no immediate prospect of 

a revolt, though the Arab menace was increasing fast. In Europe there was 

disquiet, but the Archduke Francis Ferdinand of Austria was still alive and well. 

In August the War, like a great engine out of the skies, crashed to earth and 

the countries of the West burst into flame. Kitchener left Egypt for London. But 

the bearings of the conflict on the lands which were so close to his heart were 

not eradicated from his mind. In Syria the Arab nationalists were deeply stirred. 

At first it was but by a general sentiment that out of such a universal situation 

as was developing their chance ought to come somehow. Then as German 

diplomacy began to capture the Young Turks, and the possibility of Turkey 

becoming a belligerent became greater, that chance looked more precise. 

There was a certain strangeness in the prospective situation which the entry 

of Turkey into the War would create. The Shereef and his people would 

become enemy subjects, should Britain fight Turkey. But how far the Arabs 

contemplated this status as likely to endure was shown by a reminder which, as 

Liddell Hart states, came to Lord Kitchener in London from the depths of 

Arabia. It was ña cryptic message sent by a circuitous routeò and it ran thusð

ñFollowing for Lord Kitchener. Remember our conversation. The day has 

come.ò It is not difficult to imagine who sent it, nor what it meant. 

But this message was sent in August, while Turkey was still neutral. A 

month passed. The attitude of Turkey became more and more suspect. 

Kitchener, however, in London, was involved now in the intense 

preoccupations of the War in France. The French Government had evacuated 

Paris: our Expeditionary Force was retiring from the Marne. In Cairo, even, the 

Arabs were rather forgotten. But Sir Ronald Storrs, who has never received 

sufficient credit for his important action in this juncture, remembered the Emir 

Abdullahôs visit, and thought of the difference to a hostile Turkish force the 

legion of camels of the Hedjaz would make, either to speed, to weaken by 

abstention, or to threaten on the flank a Turkish advance in the Sinai deserts. He 

submitted, as he records, ña short note suggesting that by timely conversation 

with Mecca we might secure not only the neutrality but the alliance of Arabia in 

the event of Ottoman aggression.ò 

While he was doing this, the most active arrangements were being made 

between the French and the Arabs of Syria for common action there against 

Turkey should she declare war. But they can be detailed later. 

Storrsô note did not elicit a response at the Agency in Cairo till he turned to 

Captain Clayton (afterwards Sir Gilbert Clayton), who was the representative in 

Cairo of the Soudan Government, in whose military sphere of influence 

Palestine and the Sinai lay, and also Director of Intelligence of the Egyptian 

Army. Clayton ñactively condoned my proposed irregularity of urging it 

(consultation with the Arabs) upon Lord Kitchener in a private letter.ò 

In a week, on the 24th September, the answer to this letter came in the form 

of a coded cable to ñHis Majestyôs Representative in Cairo,ò as follows: 

Following from Lord Kitchener. Tell Storrs to send secret and 

carefully chosen messenger from me to Shereef Abdullah to ascertain 

whether, should the present armed German influence in Constantinople 

coerce Sultan against his will and Sublime Porte to acts of aggression 

and war against Great Britain, he and his father and Arabs of Hedjaz 

would be with us or against us. 

Sir Ronald Storrs chose for this task an agent named Ruhi, a Persian, in 

whom he could place confidence. In Orientations the reader will find a 

fascinating account of Ruhiôs mission. He reached Mecca on the 9th of 

October. The Grand Shereef was not there however, but at a little village in the 

neighbourhood called Al Taif, where he often went in the summer. There was a 

special reason for his presence there now. As Ameen Rihani tells in his 

valuable Around the Coasts of Arabia, Hussein was now aware that the Turkish 

Government was likely to throw its lot in with the Central Powers in the War. 

He had warned Enver Pasha against this, but in vain, and Enver had made clear 

that he would demand the participation in the War of the Arabs of the Hedjaz. 

The Shereef had left Mecca in anger, declaring that he intended to retire from 

all dealings with politics. His presence in Taif was symbolic of his 

unwillingness to follow the Turks. 

But he came back to Mecca to meet the British agent. Hussein, after inviting 

the latter to a meal with him and his four sons, saw him alone, and spoke of the 

letter to Abdullah which Sir Ronald Storrs had written. 

ñMy son,ò he said, (Orientations, p. 174) ñthough I am as one uninvited in 

this matter I will yet speak.ò He walked up and down and said, ñThe Ottoman 

Empire has rights over us, and we have rights upon her. She has made war on 

our rights and I am not responsible before God if she has made war upon our 

rights; nor am I responsible before God if therefore I have made war upon 

hers.ò 

The meaning here was that as overlord of the Arabs the Turkish Sultan was 

within his rights to demand that the Shereef should not oppose Turkey in the 

coming war. Hussein first had agreed that he would maintain his relations with 

Turkey on condition that the Turkish Government granted instant autonomy to 

Syria and to Mesopotamia and released the Arab political prisoners whom it 

held. In short, he demanded that Turkey should recognize the Arabsô right to be 

free of Turkey and to be under the nominal suzerainty only of the Sultan. This 

had been refused, and the Turkish leaders even had declared they would force 

conscription on the Arabs of the Hedjaz, so Hussein now felt he was at leisure 

to oppose Turkey, passively or even actively. 
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ñDrawing back the long sleeve of his garment, he said (to Ruhi), óMy heart 

is open to Storrs even as this,ô and with a gesture, óstretch forth to us a helping 

hand and we shall never at all help these oppressors. On the contrary we shall 

help those who do good.ôò In addition to this message, a letter was delivered to 

the agent which he was to hand over to Sir Ronald Storrs. 

It is important to realize what lay in Husseinôs promise of helping those who 

did good. He was in a key situation. The great menace of Turkeyôs entry into 

war against the Allies was in the possible effect of this upon the Moslem 

subjects of Great Britain and of France if the Turks proclaimed a ñjehadò or 

ñHoly War.ò What result it might have was not at all clear. The Moslems of 

India indeed had been gallantly prompt in their reply to the Empireôs call to 

arms against Germany. But a war against Turkey was a different matter. It was 

generally hoped that it would not affect the allegiance of British Moslems nor 

make the Moslem world at large inimical to us, but there was no certainty of 

this. The issue was a critical one. 

Mecca was the saving point. If the probable Turkish proclamation stayed 

Turkish and did not become really Islamic, the danger might pass. It would be 

all very well for the Sultan or for the tame Sheik-ul-Islam to announce a jehad, 

but a summons to battle against infidel Britain and France did not ring very true 

from the allies of infidel Germany and Austria. The only peril lay in the jehad 

being countersigned by Mecca. If the Shereef accepted it and gave it forth, it 

would be a cry as from the tomb of the Prophet and would work who knew 

what havoc for France and for ourselves. 

Husseinôs letter arrived in Cairo on the day before Turkey entered the War. 

He had much to consider and very reasonably wanted proper assurances before 

he risked braving the suzerain who had garrisons in his very towns. ñHe did not 

forget,ò as Liddell Hart puts it, ñthat it was the policy of the Turks to keep 

alternative Shereefs in stockò at Constantinople. He himself had been taken out 

of stock to replace a cousin. So he answered that he would not take any 

measure in Turkish interests voluntarily, and left it to Kitchener or to other 

spokesmen of Great Britain to extract what this meant. 

That was not difficult, of course, and as Turkey became a belligerent next 

day, it became possible for us to speak to him more openly. 

On the 31st October Lord Kitchener cabled: 

Salaams to Shereef Abdullab. Germany has now bought the Turkish 

Government with gold, notwithstanding that England, France and Russia 

guaranteed the integrity of the Ottoman Empire if Turkey remained 

neutral in the war. Against the will of the Sultan the Turkish Government 

has committed acts of aggression by invading the frontiers of Egypt with 

bands of Turkish soldiers. If the Arab nation assist England in this war 

England will guarantee that no intervention takes place in Arabia, and 

will give the Arabs every assistance against external foreign aggression. 

It may be that an Arab of true race will assume the Caliphate at Mecca or 

Medina, and so good come by the help of God out of the evil that now is 

occurring. 

This held out a great prospect to the Shereef of Mecca, to whom alone the 

hypothesis of the Arab Caliphate could apply, and is also of the highest 

importance because of the use in it of the words ñthe Arab nation.ò It did not 

merely accept the Shereef as the spokesman of the Arabs, it implicitly placed 

him in that situation and began negotiations with him on the plane that they 

meant negotiations with all the Arabs. 

Years later, after the need of finding arguments to escape from our bond to 

King Hussein became stringent amidst Government and Zionist advocates, 

endeavours have been made to decry Husseinôs situation. It has been asserted 

for example that he ñdid not represent the Arabsò because the Emir Ibn Saud 

gave him no fealty and indeed was always at variance with him and preparing 

to overturn him. The other Arab princes too of the coastal fringe had in nowise 

accepted him as their representative and the Lebanese had not accepted him, 

and so on. 

These autumnal arguments only have the red vigour of Octoberôs leaves. In 

the first place, considering that we negotiated with King Hussein as spokesman 

of all the Arabs, we certainly cannot withdraw from him now the very situation 

which we ourselves extended to him. To accept him as representing the Arabs, 

and then, after having drawn all the advantage possible to us from this 

acceptance, to evade our part of the bargain with him on the plea that all the 

time he had not represented the Arabsðthat would be a piece of scandalous 

sharp practice. 

In the second place, these arguments conceal an outrageous assumption, that 

the future King Ibn Saud and the other Arab potentates stood apart from the 

restoration of the Arab race. Their differences with Hussein were personal, not 

national. King Ibn Saud, after ousting Hussein, took up exactly the same Arab 

attitude which Hussein had held, in so far as the restoration of the Arab race 

was concerned. To present jealousy and even conflict for the leadership 

between Arabs as disagreement with Arab independence is to misinterpret 

everything. 

It is to be noted that the agreement with King Hussein made by Great 

Britain was precise upon the point that there could be no question of his 

situation as negotiator being held in any way to affect the individual situations 

of the other Arab princes, in a letter which will be quoted shortly, which on the 

British side was the basis of the Anglo-Arab treaty, the High Commissioner 

said that he accepted King Husseinôs terms ñwithout prejudice to our existing 

treaties with Arab chiefs.ò King Hussein when replying said that he respected 

ñyour agreements with the Sheikhs of these districts.ò It was specially arranged 

therefore that the treaty-position of Hussein should have no bearing on the 

existing status of Arab princes, nor altering effect on their relations between 
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each other. By a necessary converse their interrelations and existing status at no 

time had any bearing nor altering effect on Husseinôs treaty-position. 

Still less can dissensions between the Arab princes be put forth as, by 

implication, support of Zionist pretensions. King Ibn Saud and his people are as 

desirous to overthrow political Zionism as they were to overthrow King 

Hussein, probably more so. No Arabs favour Zionism except a few unwittingly 

well-described ñthoughtful Arabs . . . whose economic interests are not in 

conflict with the economic interests of the Jewsò (Peel Report, p. 5). Such 

Arabs keep their thoughts in their pockets. 

I return to Lord Kitchenerôs dispatch. If it recognized that the Shereef of 

Mecca spoke on behalf of the Arab nation, it was not very explicit about the 

future condition of the Arabs. After all that was the Arabsô matter. The dispatch 

however was accompanied by an assurance of our support of the Shereefôs 

dynastic independence, and of our readiness to assist in the liberation of the 

Arabs, subject in his case and theirs to active participation in the War on our 

behalf. 

This assurance to the Shereef was by word of mouth. But written or spoken 

it was the first clear promise of independence in any form we made to an Arab 

leader, and deserves to be remembered as such. 

About this time, as Lawrence records, Lord Kitchener made overtures to 

another prominent Arab, a soldier, Aziz el Masri, who was in exile in Egypt, 

with the aim ñof winning to our side the Turkish Mesopotamian forces,ò largely 

composed of Arab conscripts under the influence of the ñHisb al Ahd.ò 

Lawrence goes on to recount how the opportunity was lost through India Office 

opposition, and it is a bitter little story. The interest of it here is that it confirms 

how Kitchener was appealing to the Arabs to come to our aid. 

Husseinôs reply to the British ñassuranceò and letter was sent to Cairo. It 

was ñan unequivocal promise that he would abstain from helping our enemies.ò 

(Hogarth.) He promised neutrality, and would endorse no jehad, therefore, if it 

were proclaimed. 

The jehad, though, was proclaimed, early in 1915, and Hussein was invited 

or rather ordered, says Lawrence, by the Turkish Government to echo its cry. 

He refused. His refusal was not altogether a manîuvre. He was not only 

Shereef of Mecca but a sincere Shereef of Mecca, true to his beliefs, and it did 

seem to him unlawful to proclaim the Holy War when Islam had not been 

attacked (for Turkey took the first steps in fighting) and when Germany was 

Turkeyôs ally. 

By his refusal he laid himself open to the Turksô anger and this was quick to 

follow. They dammed the flow of pilgrims, from whom Mecca drew most of its 

income, and the food-supplies which went there by rail. The Hedjaz was very 

dependent upon outside sources for its food, for the country shelved into the 

desert. We, on our part, now tried to balance this by allowing food-ships from 

India into Jeddah with a certain regularity. 

The Arabs of the Hedjaz therefore, in return for Husseinôs action, were not 

treated by us as enemy subjects. It would indeed have been singularly impolitic 

to have shown any form of hostility towards the enclave of the Moslem Holy 

Cities, whatever had been the attitude of the Shereef. The maintenance of the 

food-ships was, however, a tangible proof of our appreciation of his help to our 

cause. 

Without mistake, it was great help. ñThe Shereef rendered Britain a service 

greater than any that could be expected in the material realm,ò is the comment 

of Liddell Hart. ñHe drew the sting of the jehad. Outside Turkey now it would 

have little meaning, despite the assiduous efforts of Turkish and of German 

missionaries. Britain had a war with Turkey on her hands, but to all intents she 

was saved the back-breaking burden of a Holy War.ò 

I cite these comments to emphasize the great obligations under which we lie 

to the Arabs, obligations too easily and too conveniently forgotten nowadays. 

Nor did Hussein merely help us: he took supreme risks for himself. He might 

quite well have played an easier hand, knowing that had he endorsed the jehad 

we could do little beyond blockading his coasts. We might not even have been 

in a position to enforce a blockade, because of the odium which might have 

resulted for us throughout the East if we had tried to starve Mecca. 

Whereas by refusing to endorse the jehad he made the Turks furious. He 

settled his fate at their hands if they came out of the War as victors or reached a 

stage of it when they were sufficiently victorious elsewhere to be able to pay 

attention to him. They were otherwise occupied at the moment and had no 

troops to spare, but as soon as they had time and troops he might expect to be 

plucked from the divan upon which they had placed him. 

Hussein knew this, and in his mind was pretty well determined now to go to 

full lengths and to espouse the cause of the Allies in the open. If he were to join 

them he would have internal support and vastly enhanced prestige amidst his 

own race. He would join them not as the half-sovereign of the Hedjaz, but as 

the leader of all the Arabs. His position as such was becoming defined. Directly 

the War broke out the secret societies of Syria had got into touch with him. A 

secret Nationalist committee had been formed in Damascus, composed of 

Arabs from Syria, from Mesopotamia and from Arabia proper. This committee 

formulated a programme for the independence of the Arab regions and for co-

operation with the Allies. This was sent on to the Shereef, to whom it was left, 

if he acquiesced in the programme, to negotiate with Great Britain for help in 

its carrying-out, in return for Arab support in the field against the Turks. The 

leaders in Syria were aware of the negotiations which had preceded between the 

Emir Abdullah and Lord Kitchener. They now brought their adherence to them 

and suggested lines for developing the negotiations into a pact. 

In the first weeks of 1915 the Shereef received various appeals calling on 

him to take action in accordance with this Damascus programme. ñThe 
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Committees of the Ahad and the Fatah,ò says Lawrence, ñwere calling on him 

as the Father of the Arabs, the Moslem of Moslems, their oldest notable.ò 

But for a month or two Hussein bided his time, watching the situation in 

general. A new High Commissioner, in the place of the absent Kitchener had 

arrived in Egypt from India, Sir Henry McMahon. He had instructions from the 

Foreign Office to ñfoster the Shereefôs friendship.ò 

Egypt had its own preoccupation, for the Turks had attacked the Suez Canal 

in February. This attack had been ineffectual and had been beaten off without 

much difficulty, but the Turkish force had not been pursued, and its 

commander, Djemaal Pasha, was officially understood to be refitting for a 

second effort. This was considered in Egypt to be a piece of bluff only, but it 

had to be watched. In April too came the graver preoccupation of the beginning 

of the Gallipoli expedition. 

Husseinôs son, Feisal, in his capacity as a Turkish officer went to the 

Dardanelles, and sent secret messages home about the difficult advance of the 

attacking force but the considerable losses of the Turks. The latterôs measure of 

success in resistance however and these same losses combined to make the 

Turkish Command talk of instituting the threatened conscription in the Hedjaz. 

The Shereef evaded this by raising a contingent of volunteers for Djemaal 

Pashaôs ñresumed attack upon Egypt.ò Since it was Turkish policy to pretend 

this attack was in preparation, Husseinôs policy was to pretend he believed the 

pretence, and to furnish men for an army which he expected would never take 

form. Even if some of them had to join the Turkish colours, the greater evil of 

conscription for all his people would be escaped. 

Meanwhile the Turkish High Command had removed its Arab troops from 

Syria, and dispersed them amidst German and Austrian troops upon south-

eastern European fronts. The leaders of the ñAhadò had planned a mutiny of 

these troops, while there was but one Turkish division in Syria to their own 

five. The ñDecentralization Societyò was preparing plans for a rebellion of the 

populace at the same time, and circularized all its Syrian depots from Cairo to 

obtain an estimate of the numbers which might be recruited for this, and to 

inquire where certain leaders who would take charge might be hidden in 

security till the moment for rising had come. A promise of subsidies, of 20,000 

rifles and of the dispatch of three warships to cover Beyrout and the coasts 

during the insurrection, had been obtained from the French, French officers 

were to lead the insurrection, of which the centre was to be Zahle in the Bekaa, 

at the foot of the Lebanon slopes. 

Unfortunately these plans, which if effected promptly, might have altered 

the whole Eastern campaign, were never realized. The Ahad and the 

ñDecentralizationò societies worked independently, the French promises were 

given by officials in the Levant, not directly from France. The French military 

and naval chiefs had other things than Syria to occupy them at the time, and the 

promised help lingered. While everyone was waiting for everyone else the 

Turks moved the Arab divisions piecemeal under German supervision, and the 

opportunity was lost. 

Hussein had been asked at first to raise the Hedjaz when the insurrection 

would break out in Syria, but was not very satisfied with what he heard of the 

preparations, and demanded some sort of screen of Allies or of revolted 

regulars between himself and Constantinople. The dispersal of the Arab 

divisions ended this prospect. 

The emissaries of the Syrian Societies, though, who now were represented 

by a group of councillors in Mecca, still were for action, and the Shereef 

presently came to share this view. It is true that Feisal had advocated more 

prudence because of the growing insuccess of the Dardanelles expedition. But 

Hussein feared that this might be the very reason for an extension of Turkish 

activity into the Hedjaz. 

So he set all other considerations aside and made a bold and definite offer of 

revolt if his conditions based on the Damascus programme were met by Great 

Britain. This offer took the form of a letter which reached the High 

Commissioner in Egypt early in August. It is a letter memorable for the Arab 

race, because it was in its way their Magna Charta, the foundation of their 

independence. For the Arabs of Palestine it is one of the great salient events in 

the history of the question with which we are here concerned, and therefore it 

merits to be considered in a fresh chapter.  

 

CHAPTER VI  

The Treaty between Great Britain and the ArabsðArab independence to be 

recognized and supported within frontiers including Palestine. 

The Shereef of Meccaôs letter to the High Commissioner in Egypt was dated 

the 2nd of Ramadan in the year 1333 of the Moslem calendar, that is the 14th 

July, 1915, so it took well over a fortnight to arrive at its destination. Fifteen 

years ago I published the essential passages of this and of the succeeding letters 

or dispatches which passed between the Shereef and Sir Henry McMahon, in 

the series of articles I wrote in the Daily Mail, but I think it as well to give their 

entire text now. This text, there is no harm in saying to-day, I received chiefly 

through the goodwill of the late King Feisal, when I was in the Near East in 

1922. It was not proffered to me: I set about obtaining it myself, as it seemed so 

wrong thatðas was being done at the time and has been done sinceðthese 

papers should be kept unpublished while the pledges contained in them were 

being denied. The text is the official text, that is to say the English version of it, 

from the Shereefial archives. It is the accepted first translation from the Arabic, 

taken very literally from the original. The grammar, occasionally faulty, I have 

left unaltered. Phrases within brackets, unless italicized, are part of the text. 

The letter of the 15th July, then, ran: 
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To His Honour, 

Whereas the whole of the Arab nation without any exception have 

decided in these last years to live, and to accomplish their freedom and 

grasp the reins of their Administration both in theory and in practice: and 

whereas they have found and felt that it is to the interest of the 

Government of Great Britain to support them and aid them to the 

attainment of their firm and lawful intentions (which are based upon the 

honour and dignity of their life) without any ulterior motives whatsoever 

unconnected with this object: 

And whereas it is to their interest also to prefer the assistance of the 

Government of Great Britain in consideration of their geographical 

position and economic interests, and also of the attitude of the above-

mentioned Government, which is known to both nations and need not 

therefore be emphasized: 

For these reasons the Arab nation sees fit to limit themselves, as time 

is short, to asking the Government of Great Britain, if it should think fit, 

for the approval, through her deputy or representative, of the following 

fundamental propositions, leaving out all things considered secondary in 

comparison with these, so that it may prepare all means necessary for 

attaining this noble purpose, until such time as it finds occasion for 

making the actual negotiations: 

Firstly. England to acknowledge the independence of the Arab 

countries, bounded on the north by Mersina-Adana up to the 37° of 

latitude, on which degree falls Birijik, Urfa, Mardin, Midiat, Amadia 

Island, up to the border of Persia; on the east by the borders of Persia up 

to the Gulf of Basra; on the south by the Indian Ocean, with the 

exception of the position of Aden to remain as it is; on the west by the 

Red Sea, the Mediterranean Sea up to Mersina. England to approve of 

the proclamation of an Arab Khalifate of Islam. 

Secondly. The Arab Government of the Shereef to acknowledge that 

England shall have the preference in all economic enterprises in the Arab 

countries whenever conditions of enterprise are otherwise equal. 

Thirdly. For the security of this Arab independence and the certainty 

of such preference of economic enterprises, both high contracting parties 

to offer mutual assistance to the best ability of their military and naval 

forces, to face any foreign Power which may attack either party. Peace 

not to be decided without agreement of both parties. 

Fourthly. If one of the parties enters upon an aggressive conflict, the 

other party to assume a neutral attitude, and in the case of such party 

wishing the other to join forces, both to meet and discuss the conditions. 

Fifthly. England to acknowledge the abolition of foreign privileges in 

the Arab countries, and to assist the Government of the Shereef in an 

international convention for confirming such abolition. 

Sixthly. Articles 3 and 4 of this Treaty to remain in vigour for 15 

years, and if either wishes it to be renewed, one yearôs notice before 

lapse of Treaty to be given. 

Consequently, and as the whole of the Arab nation have (praise be to 

God) agreed and united for the attainment, at all costs and finally of this 

noble object, they beg the Government of Great Britain to answer them 

positively or negatively in a period of thirty days after receiving this 

intimation; and if this period should lapse before they receive an answer, 

they reserve to themselves complete freedom of action. Moreover, we 

[Shereefôs family] will consider ourselves free in word and deed from the 

bonds of our previous declaration which we made through Ali Effendi. 

For a number of reasons this was a remarkable document. To begin with, it 

was couched in the name of the Arab Nation, which thus was formally 

proclaimed in it as a political entity again in the world after centuries, never of 

eclipse, but of subordination. This proclamation cannot have come as a surprise 

to the recipients of the letter, for in his cable of the previous October Lord 

Kitchener himself had been the first to give back their old status to the ñArab 

Nation.ò His use of the title betokened that even then there was an 

understanding between him and Mecca that the nation was to be revived as 

such. But now it was definitely, not incidentally, declared. It was as the 

spokesman of the Arab nation that the Shereef penned his letter. His personal 

Government was not mentioned till the second clause, and again in the fifth, 

where it was given the role of negotiating on behalf of the ñArab countries.ò 

In respect of these countries the Shereef adopted the role of primus inter 

pares. But how far he sank his own identity and the fortunes of the Hedjaz in 

the general cause of the Arabs is evident from the final sentence, in which it is 

stated that failing a reply within a month the Shereefial family would consider 

itself freed from all previous declarations. The declarations in question were of 

course those made in answer to Lord Kitchener, Ali Effendi being the 

confidential messenger who brought in December the second of the previous 

communications from Mecca. 

In his message just after war had broken out with Turkey, Kitchener had 

assured Hussein that Great Britain would support his own ñdynastic 

independenceò and ñassist in the liberation of the Arabs.ò The first promise to 

Hussein himself was concrete, the second as concerned the Arabs at large was 

vague. The Shereef therefore sacrificed something by merging his claims in the 

claim on behalf of the Arab nation. In the light of later events it is desirable to 

underline this. 

No doubt the requirement that Britain should approve the proclamation of an 

Arab Caliphate may appear to be a sufficient recompense for anything Hussein 

might have lost in prospect, for he of course would be the new Arab Caliph. 

But the Caliphate demand was not a fresh demand: it had been canvassed 

before with Kitchener, who had agreed to support it. 
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There was a second very noteworthy point in the document which came to 

the High Commissioner. Not alone did the Arab nation reappear in it as a 

conscious and vocal unit again, but the boundaries proposed within which Arab 

independence was to be restored were based upon those which had been 

postulated twenty years before by the ñNational Committeeò in the 

proclamation which it had published in Paris. The preamble of Husseinôs 

declaration was an adaptation of the Paris preamble, the heavy Gallicized 

formula ñThe Arabs are awakened to their historical, national and 

ethnographical homogeneousnessò being turned into the simpler Arabian 

ñWhereas the whole of the Arab nation without any exception have decided in 

these last years to live.ò 

As for the boundaries, the Paris declaration did not mention the northern 

boundary, for the reason perhaps that it was not always so well defined where 

the Arab and Turkish races ran into each other along the edges of Asia Minor, 

from Alexandretta to the Persian border. Of the other three boundaries, 

Husseinôs declaration extended the Paris claim on the east from the great rivers 

to the Persian frontier. The southern and western boundaries, which latter 

concerns us particularly, were the same as in the 1895 proclamation. 

Husseinôs document particularized the more general terms of the Paris one, 

assured to Great Britain the retention of Aden, and found a real matlmatico-

geographical solution for the northern boundary. In both sets of boundaries the 

Mediterranean coast, the Syrian coast from the junction with Turkey to the 

junction with Egypt, inevitably was postulated, and Palestine thereby was 

included in the Arab dominions. It could not have been otherwise. Of all the 

boundaries of the Arab people the Mediterranean boundary is the most definite 

and most natural. 

These two things, the emergence of the Arab nation as a negotiating body 

and the continuity of its action from exile in west Europe in 1905 to Mecca in 

1915, deserve continuous emphasis. In the interests of the Zionist thesis the 

Shereefôs demands have been treated sometimes as the wanderings of an old 

Oriental potentate putting his imagination impulsively on to paper. They were 

nothing of the sort. They were the reiteration of a programme long conceived 

by all branches of Arabs and now adopted by the Shereef in conjunction with 

them. (Mr. Antonius records1 that the leaders of the Arab societies in Damascus 

drew up a document enshrining the conditions under which they would be 

prepared to cooperate with Britain against Turkey. It provided almost word for 

word the first of King Husseinôs ñfundamental propositionsò in his letter just 

quoted, and the others were developments of it. It was in fact sent to him so that 

he might make it the basis of his negotiations, and he did so. Feisal conveyed it 

to him, along with the tidings that the Arab leaders in Syria had sworn oaths of 

allegiance to him as spokesman of the Arab race should he accept it.) 

                                                 
1 In his recently published The Arab Awakening. 

His document, when it reached Cairo, caused some ñsearching of hearts.ò 

Commander Hogarth, who records this fact, explains that there were various 

reasons for it. The ill-success of our arms in the Dardanelles and ña new doubt 

for the safety of the Red Sea routeò were largely responsible for a relatively 

lukewarm reception. The prevalent attitude, except amid a few wiser men, was 

not so much to see in the promised Arab revolt a new help as a new 

commitment, in an area where we already had more than we had bargained for 

on our hands. Besides, the unequivocal character of the demand for general 

Arab independence had to be faced by various non-Kitcheners. Cairo was in an 

uncertain, worried mood, reflecting dilatoriness in London, and a reply was 

delayed till the last day but one of August. After saluting the Shereef with the 

customary compliments, the High Commissioner wrote: 

We have the honour to thank you for your frank expressions of the 

sincerity of your feeling towards England. We rejoice moreover that your 

Highness and your people are of one opinion, that Arab interests are 

English interests and English Arab. To this intent we confirm to you the 

terms of Lord Kitchenerôs message, which reached you by the hands of 

Ali Effendi, and in which was stated clearly our desire for the 

independence of Arabia and its inhabitants, together with our approval of 

the Arab Caliphate when it should be proclaimed. We declare once more 

that His Majestyôs Government would welcome the resumption of the 

Caliphate by an Arab of true race. With regard to the questions of limits, 

frontiers and boundaries, it would appear to be premature to consume our 

time in discussing such details in the heat of war, and while, in many 

portions of them, the Turk is up to now in effective occupation; 

especially as we have learnt, with surprise and regret, that some of the 

Arabs in these very parts, far from assisting us, are neglecting this, their 

supreme opportunity, and are lending their arms to the German and the 

Turk, to the new despoiler and the old oppressor. 

Nevertheless we are ready to send to Your Highness for the Holy 

Cities and the noble Arabs the charitable offerings of Egypt so soon as 

Your Highness shall inform us how and where they should be delivered. 

We are moreover arranging for this your messenger to be admitted and 

helped on any journey he may make to ourselves. 

Friendly assurances. Salutations.                A. H. MCMAHON. 

This was a thoroughly diplomatic response, and there is a certain humorous 

idiosyncrasy about diplomatic responses, which may be noted without losing 

sight of their serious import. A letter such as the Shereefôs may make some 

cardinal proposition, and you would imagine therefore that the reply to it must 

either accept or refuse this proposition or say that a verdict upon its 

acceptability will be given later. Not at all. The diplomatic response ignores the 

cardinal proposition. The diplomatic response is given to an imaginary 
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proposition, which not only is not cardinal, but is not even to be found in the 

letter which is being answered. The recipient of the letter in question blandly 

assures its sender that he will give every consideration to what the sender has 

nowhere put forward. In the case in point the Shereef had demanded 

independence for the whole group of Arab countries, but Sir Henry McMahon 

warmly confirms the independence of Arabia, which peninsula the Shereef had 

never mentioned. 

The Shereef did obtain the reaffirmation of British approval for his 

prospective Caliphate. But after that, in the Cairo response, came the artistic 

waiving of details. The pertinent question of boundaries was given an 

altogether different air by the introduction (from nowhere) of two additional, 

cognate words, ñlimitsò and ñfrontiers.ò By introducing the extra words and by 

stringing the three together the impression was conveyed that the Shereef 

wanted limits and boundaries and frontiers and Heaven knows what else. His 

one plain enumeration of boundaries was turned into a fantastic miscellany of 

requirements which the realist High Commissioner could but dismiss, nor waste 

further time upon in the ñheat of war.ò 

Next followed surprise and regret at the presence of Arab troops amidst the 

fighting forces of Turkey. Regret, yes; but only in a diplomatic letter from 

Cairo would it have been possible to feign surprise at their presence. 

However, the High Commissionerôs diplomatic recitative ended with this 

last show of surprise, and he went on to an appreciated item of news in 

conversational tone. The Shereef, who had inquired anxiously, by separate 

letter, about the subsidies for the Holy Places contributed by Moslems in Egypt, 

learnt that he was to receive the alms which helped to keep his barren little 

State alive. It was the crumb of comfort at the end of a letter which left his 

proposals unanswered. 

The matter, of course, did not stop there. Hussein and his counsellors took 

Sir Henry McMahonôs reply on the rebound. The Shereef sent an answer to it 

on the 9th of September (29th Shawal, 1333) by return of secret agent, so to 

speak. It is a longer document than his first. 

To His Excellency the Most Exalted, the Most Eminent, the British 

High Commissioner in Egyptðmay God grant him success! 

With great cheerfulness and delight I received your letter, dated the 

19th Shawal 1333 (30th August 1915) and have given it great 

consideration and regard, in spite of the impression I received from it of 

ambiguity and its tone of coldness and hesitation with regard to our 

essential point. 

It is necessary to make clear to Your Ecxellency our sincerity towards 

the illustrious British Empire, and our confession of preference for it in 

all cases and matters and under all forms and circumstances. The real 

interests of the followers of our religion necessitate this. 

Nevertheless Your Excellency will pardon me and permit me to say 

clearly that the coldness and the hesitation which you have displayed in 

the question of the limits and boundaries by saying that the discussion of 

these at present is of no use and is a loss of time, and that they are still in 

the hands of the Government which is ruling them, etc., might be taken 

to infer an estrangement or something of the sort. 

As these limits and boundaries demanded are not those of one person 

whom we could satisfy and with whom we should discuss them after the 

War is over, but our peoples have seen that the life of their new proposal 

is bound at least by these limits, and their word is united in this. 

And therefore they saw the discussion in it first the place of their 

confidence and trust the axis of final appeal now, and that is the 

illustrious British Empire: the feelings of its inhabitants to know how to 

base their future and life for not to meet her or one of its allies in front of 

their resolution when the thing comes to a contrary result, which God 

forbid. 

I break off the transcript of the text here because of the obscurity in the two 

foregoing paragraphs, particularly of the second. The first is only clumsily put 

together in the English translation, for the meaning is clear enough, viz., ñthis is 

not an individual matter, I am not discussing on behalf of any single Arab 

potentate with whom the rectification of a boundary-line could be discussed in 

confidence after the War, but on behalf of all the Arab peoples, who perceive 

that their existence is bound up in the frontiers they demand.ò You are not 

dealing with me only, nor am I acting for myself only, says Hussein in an 

Oriental way. 

The second paragraph, literally translated above, is more obscure, and the 

official Arab translator has appended to it an explanatory version which goes as 

follows: 

Therefore they have found it necessary to first discuss this point with 

the Power in whom they now have their confidence and trust as a final 

appeal, viz., the illustrious British Empire. Their reason for this union 

and confidence is mutual interest, the necessity of regulating territorial 

divisions and the feeling of their inhabitants, so that they may know how 

to base their future and life, so not to meet her [England?] or any of her 

allies in opposition to their resolution which would produce a contrary 

issue, which God forbid! 

The translator has not been entirely successful in his own explanatory 

version towards the end, which might be bettered as: ñTheir reason for 

confidence in and desire for union with Britain is mutual interest, coupled with 

the need felt by the Arab peoples for laying the basis of their future in a way 

which will not bring either Britain or any of her allies across the path of their 

intent. God forbid any such antagonism!ò 
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This paragraph, in any case, is not of importance save as an explanation of 

motive. I continue the text: 

For the object is, honourable Minister, the truth which is established 

on a basis which guarantees the essential sources of life in future. 

Yet within these limits they [the Arabs] have not included places 

inhabited by a foreign race. It is a vain show of words and titles [i.e., to 

include such places would be a vain show of nominal claims]. May God 

have mercy on the Caliphate and comfort Moslems within it. 

I am confident that Your Excellency will not doubt that it is not I 

personally who am demanding of [sic] these limits which include only 

our race, but that they are all proposals of the people who, in short, 

believe that they are necessary for economic life. 

Is this not right, Your Excellency the Minister? 

In a word, Your High Excellency, we are firm in our sincerity and 

declaring our preference for loyalty towards you, whether you are 

satisfied with us as has been said, or angry. 

With reference to your remark in your letter above-mentioned, that 

some of our people are still doing their utmost in promoting the interests 

of Turkey, your Perfectness would not permit you to make this an excuse 

for the tone of coldness and hesitation with regard to our demands, 

demands which I cannot admit that you, as a man of sound opinion, will 

deny to be necessary for our existence. Nay, they are the essential 

essence of our life, material and moral. 

Up to the present moment I am myself with all my might carrying out 

in my country all things in conformity with the Islamic law, all things 

which tend to benefit the rest of the kingdom, and I shall continue to do 

so till it pleases God to order otherwise. 

In order to reassure Your Excellency, I can declare that the whole 

country, together with those who you say are submitting themselves to 

Turco-German orders, are all waiting the result of these negotiations, 

which are dependent only on your refusal or acceptance of the question 

of the limits [i.e., boundaries], and on your declaration of safeguarding 

their religion first and then the rest of rights from any harm or danger. 

Whatever the illustrious Government of Great Britain finds 

conformable to its policy in this subject, communicate it to us and 

specify the course we should follow. 

In all cases it is only Godôs will which shall be executed and it is God 

who is the real factor in everything. 

The Shereefôs letter concluded with some technical details about how the 

Egyptian alms for the Holy Places and grain for the Hedjaz population were to 

be sent. But in the Shereefôs own words, ñThe said grain has nothing to do with 

politics,ò and there is no cause to lengthen Husseinôs already sufficiently long 

letter by adding this finale. 

It is a long-winded letter, but for all that very much to the point and carrying 

some sly hits in it. In his own phraseology the Shereef told Sir Henry 

McMahon that the latterôs message was seen to be a piece of temporization. 

The High Commissionerôs air of not observing the Shereefôs demands in 

nowise deceived that dignitary. 

He reiterated his situation: he was not speaking for himself: that must be 

understood once and for all. He was speaking now and henceforth for all Arabs, 

who knew of his demands, and had entrusted him with the making of them. 

This was as true of the Arabs serving at present under the Turkish colours as for 

anybody, and the part that Arabs took now in the War would depend upon the 

High Commissionerôs acceptance or rejection of the terms formulated in the 

Shereefôs first letter. Hussein stood by these terms, i.e., the independence of all 

the Arab peoples within their natural boundaries. The boundaries he had 

postulated contained no foreign inhabitants, but were truly Arab. It was to 

Britain the Arabs now made their final appeal, as they believed that Britain 

could serve them best and they best serve Britain. God forbid that Britain 

should refuse this appeal, and that they should have to turn to the foe for help in 

securing their aims. 

The hint that the Arabs might be driven to come to an arrangement with the 

Turks was a timely one. Though a good bargaining move, it was no mere 

bargaining move. The Dardanelles expedition was now evidently no longer 

likely to succeed, and with the Turks victorious at the Dardanelles, the position 

of Hussein would become perilous. His only resource might be to patch up 

relations with the Turks. He did not care for this, because his heart was set on 

the British alliance, and all that would be obtained from Turkey would be a 

promise of autonomy for the Arab countries as provinces of Turkey. Whether 

this promise too in the event of Turkish victory would ever be fulfilled and he 

himself be left in Mecca was very doubtful. But he might be forced to 

compound upon those lines, if the present opportunity of acting along with the 

Allies was lost, and he and his people became isolated. 

It is to be noted that the Arabs, whom he represented, sought to join forces 

with the Allies at a juncture when things were not looking at all favourable for 

the latter. There was no question of the Arabs flying to the help of the 

conqueror: Hussein himself was fully informed of the setback at Gallipoli. Not 

long after his second document reached Cairo, indeed, the possibility of an 

evacuation from the Straits began to be considered. On the 11th of October 

Lord Kitchener cabled from London to Sir Ian Hamilton to ask what losses he 

foresaw if this operation were undertaken. 

Our authorities in Egypt, as may be imagined, were, careworn now. In 

addition to the great Gallipoli peril, other dangers had manifested themselves 

which, if small in comparison, were disturbing and might extend. To this day 
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some of these lesser troubles remain unknown by the general public, though 

they have been chronicled. ñOn every hand,ò says the Official History of the 

War, ñGerman and Turkish agents were at work to make trouble, seeking out 

weak spots, blowing the smouldering coals of religious hatred.ò On the western 

frontier of Egypt the Senussi tribe was in communication with Constantinople. 

Enverôs half-brother, Nuri Bey, and a stiffening of German and Turkish officers 

was with the chief of the tribe, Sayed Ahmed, who had been urged (as Cairo 

learned from intercepted letters) by the Sultan to proclaim the jehad against the 

Allies. 

ñThis threat in the western desert continued to grow till it culminated in the 

autumn in war. . . . In the Soudan also there were sporadic disturbances. These 

were due in part to the uneasiness which Great Britainôs war with the Caliphate 

(i.e. with Mohammed V, the existing Turkish Caliph) aroused among the 

Moslem population, but still more to the propaganda of Turkish emissaries.ò 

(Official History.) 

On the west of the Soudan too, the Sultan of Darfur was rousing anxiety 

which was to be justified. He was planning in fact an attack on the Soudan 

which it was his role to deliver at the same time that the Senussi struck at 

Egypt. He did not keep this appointment, but was crushed six months later in 

the most ignored, the smallest and one of the most enterprising actions of the 

War. 

At one time, however, the military and civil chiefs in Cairo, between him 

and his compeers, had about eighteen hundred miles of complications to deal 

with on the flank of Egypt and of the Soudan, in addition to the major operation 

at Gallipoli. At the gates of the Red Sea, too, at Perim and at Aden, attacks had 

been launched by the enemy. Therefore the Shereefôs renewed offer to Sir 

Henry McMahon of an Arab alliance was something that could no longer 

receive a temporizing answer. The High Commissioner, who had been anxious 

himself from the first for Anglo-Arab co-operation and had not put Hussein off 

very voluntarily, pressed upon the Home Government the necessity of a definite 

step to win over the Arabs. 

Aubrey Herbert, who was engaged on politico-military missions then in the 

Near East, after being wounded when serving with the Irish Guards in France, 

arrived in Egypt that October. His record of the situation there shows how 

things stood, and his record can be trusted. Few men had had such intimate 

contact with the Moslem world as he, and few have enjoyed such qualities of 

head and of heart. He was that greatest of all rarities, a chivalrous expert. When 

he arrived in Cairo, he says, ñthe Arab question had reached a crisis. I saw the 

General (Sir John Maxwell, G.O.C. in Egypt), Clayton (the Chief of 

Intelligence), Cheatham (Sir Milne Cheatham, the Foreign Office 

representative), and the High Commissioner (Sir Henry McMahon). They all 

agreed that it was of almost supreme importanceò (the italics are mine) ñto get 

the Arabs in with us, that the opportunity would be lost if this was not done 

soon.ò 

Herbert, who knew the Turks so well, thought that they would before long 

come round to that offer of autonomy to the Arabs which they had before 

refused to make. ñThree years ago Talaat Bey,ò he said, ñtold me that the 

Committee of [Union and Progress; the Young Turk ruling group] had learnt its 

lesson in Albania and were ready to offer the Arabs practically any form of 

autonomy that they might choose to demand. He thought that these 

concessions, accompanied by flattery and the petting at Constantinople of the 

Sheikhs would dispose of the Arab question. The Germans have even more 

dazzling gifts to offer, and fiercer penalties to threaten, and the Arabs feel that 

the moment for making their decision is at hand.ò 

The Arab attitude and Arab hopes were explained to Herbert by Aziz Bey el 

Masri. Aziz Bcy, whom Lawrence calls an ñidol of the Arab officers,ò was 

unofficial Arab legate in Cairo at the time. Through him, as has been stated, 

Lord Kitchener had inquired, more than a year before, whether the Arab 

battalions in Mesopotamia might not desert to the British flag. 

Aziz was well qualified to expound his countrymen therefore and he told 

Herbert what the reader has already learned, that the strength of the Arab 

movement lay in its young men. The Committees of the Arab youth, the men of 

the secret societies, wherever they were placed, however, were wise enough to 

work through the Shereef of Mecca. They did not make the mistake of the 

Young Turks in despising reverence and tradition. Under the Ottoman regime 

many of them had aimed at winning autonomy, but the Young Turks so far had 

made that impossible. If England would help the Arabs they would accept from 

her a portion of what they were promised by the Germans. The Germans had 

made sweeping offers in British Africa. But if England remained cold they 

would have to make the best terms they could and that, in all probability, very 

soon. The way in which the War was going for us in the East made the Arabs 

fear for their freedom. 

Aziz, in fact, corroborated that what Hussein had said was indeed the 

genuine demand of all the Arabs, and he confirmed the need of speedy action. 

After communicating with the Government in England, Sir Henry 

McMahon was empowered to take this action. This he did despite certain 

complications which now beset him. They arose from the French aspirations in 

Syria. A French diplomatist, M. Picot (not too well chosen, for reasons which 

will transpire) was then engaged in what was described as ña mission of inquiry 

and consultationò in the Near East, which looked like the prelude to some 

official move or other by France. The nature of this had been forecast in Egypt 

to Sir Mark Sykes, a British knight-errant, under direct orders from Kitchener 

to make a report on conditions in the same area as Picot, though his 

commission antedated Picotôs. In July a French official had told him that 

ñFrance must have Damascus.ò 
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The truth was that the French at that moment were anxious to part the lionôs 

skin as soon as war with the Turkish lion began. They had a tentative 

arrangement, concluded in the spring of 1915, with Britain and Russia by which 

the spheres of influence of the three countries in the Turkish dominions were 

generally indicated, Russia to be granted the Straits and Constantinople. The 

spheres of influence of course were intended to become spheres of annexation, 

in the minds of two of the parties concerned, France and Russia, though nothing 

was defined and as far as France was concerned her aims in Syria might have 

been reached through a vassal principality. It was arranged that the agreement 

should take definite form later. 

It is important to understand that this agreement had nothing to do with 

rights. None of the parties concerned had any rights in the Turkish dominions. 

The ornamental religious protection given to Latin Christians in Syria by 

France, Russiaôs similar protection of Greek Christians, gave them no territorial 

claims whatever on Turkish soil. The tripartite agreement was simply one for 

convenience in view of the division of possible future spoils, so that quarrelling 

and disputes about them might not set in at once, following success of Allied 

arms at the Dardanelles or elsewhere. 

That this was soðthat there was no question of any ñrightsò belonging to 

any of the Allies preventing Sir Henry McMahonôs actionðcan be established 

from diplomatic documents of the period. They will be quoted in due course, in 

a later (the twenty-fifth) chapter of this book. It would complicate the subject-

matter of the present chapter to introduce them textually here. It will do to say 

that in March the British Government had not accepted a declaration of the 

French Government that France would annex Syria in the event of Turkish 

defeat, and had declared formally that it was precipitate to divide the Turkish 

dominions at the present stage. The British memorandum which conveyed His 

Majestyôs Governmentôs views had gone on to declare that what had to be kept 

in mind was not division of this kind but the creation of an independent 

Moslem Power, into which Arabia would probably enter, to replace the 

(assumed) disappearance of the Turks from Constantinople. 

This Moslem State, the British Government said, it considered absolutely 

necessary. The French had to put up with this, but insisted on maintaining their 

contingent ñsphere of influence.ò The ñsphere of influenceò provided therefore 

a complication, but not an impediment in the negotiations with the Shereef. For 

these reasons McMahon, when he resumed correspondence, made allowance 

for it. It does not appear that he knew of the exchange of notes in Europe 

between France and Britain and Russia, but he had received general directives 

from London upon the subject of the French sphere. 

It was on the 25th of October that the High Commissioner, then, replied to 

the Shereef of Mecca. The document which he sent to him was an acceptance of 

the Arab terms, with a modification in the interests of France, as follows: 

To the Shereef of Mecca [with titles]. 

I have received your letter of the 29th of Shawal [9th of September] 

with much pleasure, and your expression of friendliness and sincerity 

have given me the greatest satisfaction. 

I regret that you should have received from my last letter the 

impression that I regarded the question of the limits and boundaries with 

coldness and hesitation. Such was not the case, but it appeared to me that 

the moment had not yet arrived when they could be most profitably 

discussed. 

I have realized however from your last letter that you regard this 

question as one of vital and urgent importance. I have therefore lost no 

time in informing the Government of Great Britain of the contents of 

your letter, and it is with great pleasure that I communicate to you on 

their behalf the following statement, which I am confident you will 

receive with satisfaction. 

The districts of Mersina and Alexandretta and portions of Syria lying 

to the west of the districts of Damascus, Hama, Homs and Aleppo cannot 

be said to be purely Arab, and should be excluded from the proposed 

limits and boundaries. With the above modification, and without 

prejudice to our existing treaties with Arab chiefs, we accept these limits 

and boundaries, and in regard to those portions of the territories therein 

in which Great Britain is free to act without detriment to the interests of 

her ally, France, 1 am empowered in the name of the Government of 

Great Britain to give the following assurances and to make the following 

reply to your letter: 

Subject to the above modifications, Great Britain is prepared to 

recognize and support the independence of the Arabs within the 

territories included in the limits and boundaries proposed by the Shereef 

of Mecca. 

Great Britain will guarantee the Holy Places against all external 

aggression and will recognize their individuality. 

When the situation admits, Great Britain will give to the Arabs her 

advice, and will assist them to establish what may appear to be the most 

suitable forms of government in these various territories. 

On the other hand it is understood that the Arabs have decided to seek 

the advice and guidance of Great Britain only, and that such European 

advisers and officials as maybe required for a sound form of 

administration will be British. 

With regard to the vilayets of Baghdad and Basra, the Arabs will 

recognize that the established position and interests of Great Britain 

necessitate special measures of administrative control, in order to secure 

these territories from foreign aggression, to promote the welfare of the 

local population, and to safeguard our mutual economic interests. 
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I am convinced that this declaration will assure you beyond all 

possible doubt of the sympathy of Great Britain towards the aspirations 

of her traditional friends, the Arabs, and will result in a firm and lasting 

alliance, the immediate result of which will be the expulsion of the Turks 

from the Arab countries and the freeing of the Arab peoples from the 

Turkish yoke, which for so many years has pressed heavily upon them. 

I have confined myself in this letter to the more vital and important 

questions, and if there are any other matters dealt with in your letters 

which I have omitted to mention, we may discuss them at some 

convenient date in the future. 

It was with very great relief and satisfaction that I heard of the safe 

arrival of the Holy Carpet and the accompanying offerings, which thanks 

to the clearness of your directions and the excellence of your 

arrangements, were landed without trouble or mishap, in spite of the 

dangers and difficulties occasioned by the present sad war. May God 

soon bring a lasting peace and freedom to all peoples. 

I am sending this letter by the hand of your trusted and excellent 

messenger, Sheikh Mohammed Ibn Arif Arayfan, and he will inform you 

of various matters of interest, but of less vital importance, which I have 

not mentioned in this letter. [Here follow the usual compliments.] 

A. HENRY MCMAHON. 

That was the crucial document. The Shereef had presented his terms and in 

it they were accepted formally, under the hand of the High Commissioner for 

Egypt, the appointed representative of His Majestyôs Government, who 

declared himself empowered to act upon that Governmentôs behalf. The whole 

is as solemn and binding an engagement as any into which Great Britain has 

entered. It accepts the Shereef of Mecca as the accredited spokesman of the 

Arab peoples and accepts them as a negotiating body, inasmuch as it stipulates 

in several paragraphs of what nature the relations between them and Great 

Britain are to be. 

Its terms are as plain as its character. It undertakes to recognize and to 

support the independence of the Arabs within the frontiers designated by the 

Shereef. But it makes a couple of provisos to this undertaking. It rejects the 

Arab claim to Mersina and to Alexandretta, in the northern boundary; and in the 

western boundary, which in the Shereefôs draft was to be constituted by the 

coasts of the Red Sea and of the Mediterranean in succession, it makes a 

proviso concerning the extreme northern portion of this. ñPortions of Syria 

lying to the west of the districts of Damascus, Hama, Homs and Aleppo cannot 

be said to be purely Arab and should be excluded from the proposed limits and 

boundaries.ò 

The Arabic word here translated as ñdistrictò is equivalent to a town and its 

adjacencies, what we call nowadays ñurban district.ò The four towns or cities 

specified lie, as a glance at the map shows, pretty much in a straight line, one 

below the other, in the order from the north of Aleppo, Hama, Homs and 

Damascus. The country lying to the west of them roughly corresponds to the 

coastal territory of the present French Mandatory sphere. At the time the 

document was indited it corresponded to the sphere of influence which she 

claimed. 

But if there was this reservation placed upon the northern coastal district of 

Syria, there was no reservation whatsoever mentioned of the southern sphere of 

the Arab territories, Palestine. For this reason, to-day, more than twenty years 

after this Anglo-Arab treaty was concluded, the treaty remains of momentous 

importance to Palestine. It is not indeed the basis of the primal claim which the 

Arabs make to Palestine, for that is based on their primordial right to their own 

country, and upon the illegitimacy of any Powers or of the League of Nations 

or of any governments or institutions disposing of territory that does not belong 

to them. 

But after that claim, this one comes next, that in this document of the 25th of 

October, 1915, Great Britain pledged herself to grant an independent Arab 

Government to Palestine. That this is a just claim cannot be denied. The 

reservation made by Sir Henry McMahon that the territory to the west of the 

four cities of Damascus, Horns, Hama and Aleppo must be excluded does not 

affect Palestine which lies, not west of these cities, but well south of them. In 

Syria, as it happens, the coastline is so straight that ñwestò is all but an absolute 

term there. There are no jutting peninsulas nor capes to be called ñsouth-west.ò 

Palestine is no more west of the French section of Syria than the lower half of 

this page which the reader has under his eyes is west of its upper half. 

Apart too from the inclusion of Palestine being self-evident upon the map, 

the very phrases of the treaty, as it were, asseverate its inclusion. Where we 

were free to act without detriment to French interests, that is where we accepted 

the Arab boundaries without question. In the Persian Gulf hinterland there are 

stipulations about administrative control, and about the acceptance of British 

advisers or helpers in the new Arab States, but about fundamental Arab 

independence being reserved anywhere in the section left to Britain, about the 

Arab flag not flying anywhere in the British section or about any part of the 

British section not being purely Arab, there is no sentence, no word, no comma. 

Palestine, in fact, is as firmly committed to self-government, under our 

tutelage, in so far as it might be required, as was the Hedjaz itself. I do not 

propose, therefore, to enlarge much further upon this point, important as it is, at 

this stage. We shall return to it, and to full examination of it, when we come 

unhappily to the endeavour of British statesmen to escape from the Anglo-Arab 

Treaty, in the interests of Zionism. 

All that need be emphasized for the moment is that in October, 1915, there 

was no thought in responsible quarters of anything in Palestine but of an Arab 

State under British guidance. There was no question of Palestine being 

considered a Jewish or part-Jewish country which required a special regime. 
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Palestine was not yet invested with political singularity nor was there any show 

of inability to treat it, because of a supposed historic Jewish lien upon it, 

exactly as the other parts of the Arab territories were treated. In October, 1915, 

the official doctrine of dual ownership of Palestine had not yet been concocted. 

All the phrases and descriptions and formulas indeed which appertain to this 

doctrine, to which we have grown accustomed since upon the lips of our pro-

Zionist Cabinet-ministers and other adherents of the Zionist doctrine, are all 

catchwords of yesterday, nothing but figments and pretences imagined in order 

to screen a theory which cannot bear the light and to give a long-descended air 

to a policy without antecedents. 

That required to be stated plainly. We can now pass on again to the 

documents exchanged by the Shereef of Mecca and the High Commissioner. 

Hussein had been urged, in the last quoted of these, to take up arms against the 

Turks without delay. In its text the hope was expressed that the immediate 

results of the new alliance would be the expulsion of the Turks from the Arab 

countries. 

The Shereef however had some stipulations yet to make. He could not leave 

the Arab attitude towards the modifications and amendments of Sir Henry 

McMahon unstated. 

He replied quickly enough, on the Moslem date of the 27th Zul Hijj, 1333 

(5th November, 1915): 

In the Name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate. 

To His Excellency the Most Exalted and Eminent Minister who is 

endowed with the highest authority and soundness of opinion. May God 

guide him to do His will! 

I received with great pleasure your honoured letter, dated 15th Zul 

Hijj [24th October], to which I beg to answer as follows: 

1. In order to facilitate an agreement and to render a service to Islam, 

and at the same time to avoid all that may cause Islam troubles and 

hardshipsðseeing moreover that we have great consideration for the 

distinguished qualities and dispositions of the Government of Great 

Britainðwe renounce our insistence on the inclusion of the Vilayets of 

Mersina and Adana in the Arab kingdom. But the provinces of Aleppo 

and Beyrout and their sea-coasts are purely Arab provinces, and there is 

no difference between a Moslem and a Christian Arab: they are both 

descendants of one forefather. 

We Moslems will follow the footsteps of the Commander of the 

Faithful, Omar Ibn Khattab, and other Caliphs succeeding him, who 

ordained in the laws of the Moslem faith that Moslems should treat the 

Christians as they treat themselves. ñNo,ò Omar declared with reference 

to Christians, ñthey will have the same privileges and submit to the same 

duties as ourselves.ò They will thus enjoy their civic rights in as much as 

it accords with the general interest of the whole nation. 

2. As the provinces of the Irak are parts of the pure Arab kingdom and 

were, in fact, the seat of its Governments in the time of Ali Ibn Abu 

Talib, and in the time of all Caliphs who succeeded him; and as in them 

began the civilization of the Arabs, and as their towns in those provinces 

are the first towns built in Islam where the Arab power became so great: 

therefore, these provinces are greatly valued by all Arabs far and near 

and their traditions cannot be forgotten by them. Consequently, we 

cannot satisfy the Arab nations or make them submit to give up such a 

title to nobility. But in order to render an accord easy, and to take into 

consideration the assurances mentioned in the fifth article of your letter, 

to keep and guard our mutual interests in that country, as they are one 

and the same, for all these reasons we might agree to leave under the 

British administration for a short time those districts now occupied by 

the British troops, without the rights of either party being prejudiced 

thereby (especially those of the Arab nation, which interests are to it 

economic and vital), and against a suitable sum paid as compensation to 

the other kingdom for the period of occupation, in order to meet 

expenses which every new kingdom is bound to support, at the same 

time respecting your Agreements with the Sheikhs of those districts, and 

especially those which are essential. 

3. In your desire to hasten the movement, we see not only advantages 

but grounds of apprehension. The first of these grounds is the fear of the 

blame of the Moslems of the opposite party, as has already happened in 

the past, who would declare that we have revolted against Islam and 

ruined its forces. The second is that, standing in the face of Turkey, 

which is supported by all the forces of Germany, we do not know what 

Great Britain and her allies would do if one of the Entente Powers were 

weakened and obliged to make peace. We fear that the Arab nation will 

then be left alone in the face of Turkey, together with her allies, but we 

would not at all mind if we were to face the Turks alone. Therefore, it is 

necessary to take these points into consideration, in order to avoid a 

peace being concluded in which the parties concerned may decide the 

fate of our people as if we had taken part in the War without making 

good our claims to official consideration. 

4. The Arab nation has a strong belief that after this war is over the 

Turks, under German influence, will direct their efforts to provoke the 

Arabs and violate their rights, both material and moral, to wipe out their 

nobility and honour, and reduce them to utter submission, as they are 

determined to ruin them entirely. The reasons for the slowness shown in 

our action have already been stated. 

5. When the Arabs know that the Government of Great Britain is their 

ally, who will not leave them to themselves at the conclusion of peace in 

the face of Turkey and Germany, and that she will support and 
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effectively defend them, then to enter the War at once will, no doubt, be 

in conformity with the general interests of the Arabs. 

6. Our letter dated the 29th Shawal, 1333 [9th of September 1915] 

saves us the trouble of repeating our opinions as to Articles 3 and 4 of 

your honoured last letter regarding administration, Government advisers 

and officials, especially as you have declared, O exalted Minister, that 

you will not interfere with internal affairs. 

7. The arrival of a clear and definite answer as soon as possible to the 

above proposals is expected. We have done our utmost in making 

concessions in order to come to an agreement satisfying both parties. We 

know that our lot in this war will be either a success which will guarantee 

to the Arabs a life becoming their past history, or destruction in the 

attempt to attain their objects. Had it not been for the determination 

which I see in the Arabs for the attainment of their objects, I would have 

preferred to seclude myself on one of the heights of a mountain, but they, 

the Arabs, have insisted that I should guide the movement to this end. 

May God keep you safe and victorious, as we devoutly hope and 

desire. 

In this communication the Shereef Hussein takes the very proper precaution 

of demanding a guarantee that peace shall not be concluded by his future Allies 

without their giving official support to the Arab claims. He accepts, in some 

ways more definitely than had been asked, British control in Irakðfor a time 

and against a suitable consideration. 

But what concerns us most here is his first article. Renouncing Mersina and 

Adana, he still lays claim to the provinces of Aleppo and of Beyrout and their 

coasts rather than to the urban districts only of Horns, Hama, Aleppo and 

Damascus. He had been told of the French contention founded upon Franceôs 

protection of the Christian Arabs in Syria, but gave no heed to it. 

Sir Henry McMahon did not reply till mid-December. Much had happened 

in the interval. Lord Kitchener himself had come out to survey the situation in 

Gallipoli and in all the Levant. Plans for evacuation of Gallipoli were now in 

preparation, and a proposal for a landing at Alexandretta by the Allies in force 

(an army of 100,000 men was suggested) had been debated. Lord Kitchener 

examined into it on the day of his arrival at Mudros, the 10th of November. The 

Arabs could no longer take part in this scheme as they could have done earlier 

in the year, for the Turks, we know, had sent away from Syria the Arab 

divisions, sent them, says Lawrence, ñanywhere, so long as they were put 

quickly into the firing-line, or withdrawn far from the sight and help of their 

compatriots.ò There could be no mutiny now to accompany the landing at 

Alexandretta. 

The Alexandretta plan was disapproved, as it happened, on strategic 

grounds, independently of this consideration, by both the Admiralty and the 

General Staff of the Army. But the chance in early November that it might be 

adopted led to an important occurrence. The French Military Attaché in London 

presented to the Chief of the Imperial General Staff a short note of which these 

are the first two paragraphs: 

Should the British Government be considering a disembarkation of 

troops in the gulf of Alexandretta in order to cut the railway to Palestine, 

they will have to take into consideration not only the economic interests 

but also the moral and political interests of France in these countries. 

French public opinion could not be indifferent to any operations 

attempted in a country which it considers as destined to form part of the 

future Syrian state; and it would require of the French Government not 

only that no military operations should be undertaken in this particular 

country without previous agreement between the Allies, but also that, 

should such action be taken, the greater part of the task should be 

entrusted to French troops and to the French generals commanding them. 

This was an odd announcement, for the French at the time could not have 

produced the troops to whom they demanded that the greater part of the task 

should be entrusted. The note in reality was a veto upon an Alexandretta 

expedition, and after a day of conference the Prime Minister cabled to 

Kitchener that our Government had decided against it. 

The chief consequence of the note, however, was to bring to a head the 

business of the French sphere in Syriaðthe preposition ñinò under the 

circumstances having an unwontedly expansive sense. It was evident that Great 

Britain must know where she stood in this matter by getting the French to 

define their demands. Lord Kitchener had returned to England at the end of 

November, and in December his emissary Sir Mark Sykes, who had gone 

meanwhile to India to talk to the Viceroy upon the future of Mesopotamia, 

returned home too. 

Almost at once Sir Mark Sykes was commissioned by the Foreign Office to 

meet M. Picot, the French diplomatist who had been on mission in Egypt, and 

with him to put on paper a scheme for the definition and delimitation of French 

and British interests in the Turkish Near East. These were not their very terms 

of reference, but to this they amounted. The agreement when reached was to 

remain confidential, as the negotiations between the two men were to be. The 

reason adduced for this was that since it was a division of the lionôs skin, it had 

better not be published while the lion lived. It would of course be submitted to 

Russia, as whatever delimitations Sykes and Picot drew up would be the 

expected definite form of the earlier ñspheres of influenceò agreement. 

The French Government, through M. Picot, who in preparation for his 

mission had gone to confer with the Foreign Office in London, had been 

informed of the Anglo-Arab Treaty after Sir Henry McMahon had sent the 

crucial letter of agreement to the Shereef of Mecca. M. Picot, told on the 23rd 

of November, had returned on the 21st of December to signify French 



PALESTINE: THE REALITY  48 

agreement to the situation on the lines of the McMahon reservations. The 

French would administer the coastal area, while Arab government of the four 

towns of Homs, Hama, Damascus and Aleppo would be ñunder French 

influence.ò 

On the other hand Sir Henry McMahon was never informed of the Sykes-

Picot negotiations. The Shereef Hussein consequently was kept in the dark 

about them also. The Arab bureau in Cairo, founded by Gilbert Clayton, to 

which Lawrence had gone, and Hogarth, and Newcombeðthe gunner who 

disguised as a Bedouin had mapped the Sinai peninsulaðand others who were 

to make considerable names, that too was kept in the dark. So that its business 

of controlling relations with the Arabs was vitiated unknown to it. 

It was in this ignorance, therefore, that the High Commissioner now sent his 

third reply to the Shereef. Things were as bad as they could be at the time in 

respect of the War in the Near East. The evacuation of Gallipoli was at hand: it 

started just after his missive was sent. Sollum had been evacuated too, and 

hostilities against the Senussi had become necessary. German submarine 

warfare was beginning to impede Mediterranean communications. In 

Mesopotamia the British force under General Townshend was besieged in Kut-

el-Amara, with no prospect of relief. It was more than ever imperative for us to 

gain the help of the Arabs. 

Sir Henry McMahon wrote, on the 14th of December: 

To Shereef Hussein. 

[After customary greetings and acknowledgment of previous letter] 

I am gratified to observe that you agree to the exclusion of the 

vilayets [provinces] of Mersina and Adana from the boundaries of the 

Arabsô territories. 

1 also note with great pleasure and satisfaction your assurances that 

the Arabs are determined to act in conformity with the precepts laid 

down by Omar Ibn Khattab and the early Caliphs, which secure the 

rights and privileges of all religions alike. 

In stating that the Arabs are ready to recognize and respect all our 

treaties with Arab chiefs, it is of course understood that this will apply to 

all territories included in the Arab kingdom, as the Government of Great 

Britain cannot repudiate engagements which already exist. 

With regard to the vilayets of Aleppo and Beyrout, the Government 

of Great Britain had taken careful note of your observations, but, as the 

interests of our ally, France, are involved, the question will require 

careful consideration, and a further communication on the subject will be 

addressed to you in due course. 

The Government of Great Britain, as I have already informed you, are 

ready to give all guarantees of assistance and support within their power 

to the Arab kingdom, but their interests demand, as you yourself have 

recognized, a friendly and stable administration in the vilayet of 

Baghdad, and the adequate safeguarding of these interests calls for a 

much fuller and more detailed consideration than the present situation 

and the urgency of these negotiations permits. 

We fully appreciate your desire for caution, and we have no wish to 

urge you to hasty action, which might jeopardize the eventual success of 

your projects, but in the meantime it is most essential that you should 

spare no efforts to attach all the Arab people to our united cause and urge 

them to afford no assistance to our enemies. 

It is on the success of these efforts and on the more active measures 

which the Arabs may take hereafter in support of our cause, when the 

time for action comes, that the permanence and strength of our 

agreement must depend. 

Under these circumstances I am further directed by the Government 

of Great Britain to inform you that you may rest assured that Great 

Britain has no intention of concluding any peace on terms of which the 

freedom of the Arab peoples from German and Turkish domination does 

not form an essential condition. 

As an earnest of our intentions, and in order to aid you in your efforts 

in our joint cause, I am sending by your trustworthy messenger a sum of 

£20,000. 

[Customary greetings.] 

A. H. MCMAHON. 

By this document the Shereef received the guarantee he had asked that no 

separate peace would be concluded by the British Government, and that the 

liberation of the Arabs would be an essential part of any peace-treaty. The 

Arabs in fact were made members of the comity of the Allies by it, and with 

Great Britain in particular it might be called a wedding. The prosecution of the 

War was now ñour joint causeò: Britain and the Arabs were one. Even the gold 

wedding-ring was clasped on, in the final paragraph. 

The High Commissioner was not in a position to give Hussein a definite 

answer upon the territory between the coast and Aleppo and Beyrout. He 

supposed no doubt that the Home Government would come to a decision upon 

French claims some day, and that whenever this occurred he himself would be 

informed and would have to tell the Shereef. But he dated this announcement at 

the Whitehall Kalends, ñin due course,ò unaware that the Sykes-Picot 

negotiations had begun. 

He sent a private letter to the Shereef along with the official one, in which 

there is reason to suppose he warned him that it was no good holding 

everything up by insistence upon the North Syrian territory, as in this matter the 

British Governmentôs hands were bound, and the War must be over before they 

were unbound. Also any idea of monetary compensation in Irak had best be left 

for future discussion. 
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His advice, by letter or word of mouth, was taken, and on New Yearôs Day 

of 1916, the Shereef sent his final reply: 

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate. 

To His Excellency the eminent, energetic, and magnanimous 

Minister. 

We received from the bearer your two letters, dated 9th Safar 1334. 

[16th December, 1915. Note. There is some confusion of dates here. The 

date of Sir Henry McMahonôs letter is given as the 14th. His private 

letter may have been dated the 16th and the two were dispatched 

together. Or the translator may have made a slip. It is of no 

consequence, as the last communication from Cairo, whether of the 14th 

or 16th is the subject of reply. I now repeat the first phrase for clarityôs 

sake.] 

We received from the bearer your two letters, dated 9th Safar 1334, 

with great respect and honour, and I have understood their contents, 

which caused me the greatest pleasure and satisfaction, as they removed 

that which had made me uneasy. 

Your Honour will have realized, after the arrival of Mohammed 

(Faroki) Shereef and his interview with you, that all our procedure up to 

the present was of no personal inclination or the like, which would have 

been wholly unintelligible, but that everything was the result of the 

conditions and desires of our peoples, and that we are but transmitters 

and executants of such decisions and desires in the position they (our 

people) have pressed upon us. 

These truths are in my opinion very important, and deserve your 

Honourôs special attention and consideration. 

With regard to what has been stated in your honoured communication 

concerning El Irak, as to the matter of compensation for the period of 

occupation, we, in order to strengthen the confidence of Great Britain in 

our attitude and in our words and actions, really and veritably, and in 

order to give her evidence of our certainty and assurance in trusting her 

glorious Government, leave the determination of the amount to the 

perception of her wisdom and justice. 

As regards the northern parts and their coasts, we have already stated 

in our previous letter what were the utmost possible modifications. And 

all this was only done so as to fulfil those aspirations whose attainment is 

designed by the will of the Blessed and Supreme God. It is this same 

feeling and desire which impelled us to avoid what may possibly injure 

the alliance of Great Britain and France and the agreement made between 

them during the present war and calamities; yet we find it our duty that 

the eminent Minister should be sure that, at the first opportunity after this 

war is finished, we shall ask you (what we avert our eyes from to-day) 

for what we now leave to France in Beyrout and its coasts. 

I do not find it necessary to draw your attention to the fact that our 

plan is of greater security to the interests and presumption of the rights of 

Great Britain than it is to us; and will necessarily be so, whatever may 

happen, so that Great Britain may finally see all her own peoples in that 

contentment and advancement which she is endeavouring to establish for 

them now, especially as her allies being neighbours to us will be the 

germ of difficulties and discussions with which there will be no peace of 

mind. In addition to which the people of Beyrout decidedly will never 

accept such isolations, and they may oblige us to undertake new 

measures which may exercise Great Britain, certainly not less than her 

present troubles, because of our belief and certainty in the reciprocity of 

our interests, which is the only cause that caused us never to care to 

negotiate with any Power but you. Consequently, it is impossible to 

allow any derogation that gives France, or any other Power, a span of 

land in those regions. 

On receipt of this Sir Henry McMahon cabled home for final instructions. 

The Shereef had shown himself accommodating by his willingness to adjourn a 

settlement in North Syria with the French till the close of the War. He did not 

accept an iota of the French claims, though. To obtain an adjournment and to 

leave the issue open, however, fitted in temporarily, if it did nothing else, with 

the Foreign Officeôs plans for the coming Sykes-Picot arrangement with 

France. All really would depend in the upshot upon how far this arrangement 

conformed to the Treaty with Hussein. What would happen if the Shereef and 

the Arabs were confronted eventually with an arrangement which did not so 

conform, no one apparently stopped to consider. 

So the High Commissioner was told to close with the terms as now finally 

adjusted. There was some satisfaction indeed that the Shereef had not stuck out 

for more. We needed the Arabs very, very badly, and the High Commissioner 

actually had in his desk a permit to abandon all claim to British control in the 

provinces of Basra and Baghdad if something more were needful to bring the 

Arabs in. 

Sir Henry wrote to the Shereef a short final letter on the 30th January 

announcing 

I have received orders from my Government to inform you that all 

your demands are accepted, and that all that you ask for will be sent. 

What had been requested was munitions and funds, and the rest of the letter 

dealt with technical details. The Shereef acknowledged it from Mecca on the 

14th Rabi el Ahar (Rabi II) 1334 (16th of February, 1916) in a short final letter, 

saying 

I have received with joy and happiness your last letter, dated 24th 

Rabi 1, 1334 [30th January, 1916] and I have taken thorough 
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understanding of what it contained. I shallðGod willingðwork to write 

the word of the Arabs and to begin with Godôs permission the activities 

soon [i.e., shall strive to put on record how the Arabs keep their word 

and shall with Godôs will start our hostilities soon]. 

The rest of the text of this final letter was lost in Mecca at the fall of the 

Hashimite dynasty. But it was not of consequence. The McMahon-Hussein 

Correspondence, as it is generally called, closed as a political instrument with 

Great Britainôs acceptance of the Shereef of Meccaôs final terms. It is a 

correspondence only in so far as the papers which compose it, owing to the 

distance between the negotiators, had to be exchanged in the form of letters. 

But in fact it was as much of a correspondence in the ordinary sense of that 

word as were the notes which the negotiators of Versailles occasionally pushed 

across the table to each other. 

It constitutes the negotiations of a treaty and the conclusion of a treaty. The 

pertinent portions of its text enunciate and then ratify the terms. It is a treaty. 

The Shereef of Mecca described it in his first document as a treaty, and the 

terms thus enunciated were accepted. Mr. Lloyd George himself as Prime 

Minister acknowledged, and indeed insisted to the French Government, that it 

had treaty-force. 

It forms a lengthy set of documents, particularly if read with the 

explanations made necessary to describe its course as negotiations went along, 

and on some counts I should have preferred to quote its salient passages only. 

But I have decided to give it in full because it has never been published in 

Britain,1 nor, as far as I know, been published at all anywhere, save in Arabic 

works. 

Reading the full text the reader too is made aware better of the attitude of 

the persons concerned in the negotiations. 

Some things stand out. Under all the occasionally involved phraseology of 

the Shereef he is seen to be a shrewd, yet straightforward negotiator. He is seen 

to be anxious for alliance with us, and to repose full trust in our promise. 

On our part, the essential pledges we made were clearly and definitely 

phrased. ñGreat Britain is prepared to recognize and support the independence 

                                                 
1 Since this book has been completed Mr. George Antonius has included the McMahon-

Hussein Correspondence in his The Arab Awakening. Equally a scholar in English and 

in Arabic, he has made his own translation of the text, and the reader will find interest 

in comparing it with literal version given to me in 1922. Mr. Antonius writes a full 

account of the rise of the Arab societies, which should be read to supplement my brief 

summary. The same may be said of his account of the Arab revolt. I have had the 

benefit of Mr. Antoniusôs wide knowledge and erudition when preparing Chapter XV 

of the present work, and the reader will find elucidation and confirmation of various 

details in that and in adjoining chapters in Mr. Antoniusôs admirable book. 

of the Arabs within the territories included in the limits and boundaries 

proposed by the Shereef of Mecca.ò 

These boundaries enclosed Palestine. There was no mention of its exclusion. 

We gave our word that on its soil the Arabs should be free of all foreign control 

save such as they chose of their own will. 

Furthermore, we gave our word to the Shereef Hussein, not as Shereef of 

Mecca, but as the representative of the Arab peoples, amongst whom are the 

Arabs of Palestine, so that we are directly indentured to them. 

The terms which he stipulated were drawn up by him in concert with 

members of national societies which had their roots in Palestine. They 

reproduced boundaries which had long been the fundamental programme of 

these societies, comprising all the land facing the Mediterranean from Asia 

Minor to the Egyptian borders. 

 

CHAPTER VII  

The Progress of ZionismðWeizmann, Balfour, Sir Herbert Samuel appearð

Zionist approaches to Asquith, Lloyd George and GreyðAnother Manchester 

SchoolðThe first false stepðThe Grey Memorandum. 

While the Arabs had moved onto recognition of their independence and to 

alliance with Britain, what had happened amidst the Zionists? 

At the outbreak of the War there were fifty-nine Jewish colonies in 

Palestine, nurturing a population of some twelve thousand inhabitants. Some 

seventy thousand more were congregated in the towns, mostly in Jerusalem. Of 

the eighty thousand odd in Palestine the great majority, between fifty-five 

thousand and sixty thousand, had come into the country during the last thirty 

years. 

Most of the colonies were subsidized by wealthy Jews, especially by the 

philanthropic Baron Edmond de Rothschild, of the French branch of the great 

family. In Jerusalem the Jews maintained themselves in great part by the help 

of pious offerings from co-religionists of all classes throughout the world. 

Latter-day Zionists have not much good to say for the pre-War Zionists 

because they were so largely maintained by others. Their establishments have 

been called almshouses. But they practised a Zionism which did not seek to 

oust the Arabs. They came back to the country in the one guise which, 

intolerable to their recent successors, yet consorts with the aim of seeking 

Zionðin the guise of pilgrims. Moved by their faith, they entered the country 

without making demands of any sort, and having learnt, it would seem, from 

what numbers of them had endured in Russia not to act arbitrarily towards 

another race in false reaction from their own sufferings. 

In 1914 a scheme of intenser colonization was being studied as a result of 

the resolutions of the Eleventh Zionist Congress of the previous year. There 
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was a plan being mooted already for a Jewish university in Jerusalem and 

Baron Edmond de Rothschild was about to make big purchases of land to 

establish fresh colonies. 

August saw all this activity suddenly brought to a stop. Zionism, an 

international cult, was split by the War. It was strongest in Russia, but it had an 

organization of importance in Germany. Its central offices were in Berlin, but 

its funds were mainly concentrated in British banks, though in England, 

according to Zionist testimony, ñthe least significant group of Zionistsò was to 

be found. As for Palestine itself, German Zionist organizations were prominent 

there. 

At first the leaders of Zionism opened a centre in Copenhagen, hoping to 

keep the international organization together upon neutral soil. This proved 

impracticable, and presently they changed their attitude. The entry of Turkey 

into the War was responsible for this. Now that she had become a belligerent 

she ran the risks of defeat, and if she were defeated the Allies ought to be in a 

position to dictate the future lot of much, perhaps of all Turkish territory. This 

might include Palestine, and therefore if Zionism were to attach itself to the 

Allied cause, the way to a Jewish Palestine might lie open at last. 

The Zionist leaders lost no time in making their attempt, and they chose 

England as the country in which to make it. ñHopes from the outset,ò says Mr. 

Stein, ñwere centred mainly on Britain. . . . Great Britainôs genius for colonial 

administration, her reputation as a liberal power, the generous instincts with 

which the Jews in particular had every reason to credit her,ò her successive 

offers of land for Jewish settlement in East Africa and in the Sinai Peninsulað

all these had marked her out as the Power first to approach. 

Mr. Stein says nothing of the influence which could be exerted in Britain by 

the Jewish body, and some might think this an omission on his part. But it is not 

so. What is generally meant by ñJewish influenceò had little to do with the 

launching of the political Zionist campaign in this country. For some reason 

ñJewish influenceò is always taken to mean financial influence behind the 

scenes. I shall not delay to speak of this particular form of influence except to 

say that as a rule it is not very reasonably treated, Jewish writers denying its 

existence and anti-Jewish writers declaring that it is omnipotent. 

In 1914, at any rate, political Zionism had made no headway in the Jewish 

circles which are called influential. Such personalities in Anglo-Jewry as were 

enshrined in the Directory of Directors were altogether uninterested in it and 

generally ignorant of its very existence. But there is another kind of Jewish 

influence at work in England, and it was to this that political Zionism now 

trusted itself. 

The men who were to spread its doctrines were not far to seek. Two of the 

chiefs of Zionism in the Russian dominions, M. Tschlenow of Moscow and M. 

Nahum Sokolov of Warsaw, journeyed to London. They were joined in their 

work by a man whose name was to become best known among the names of all 

political Zionists, Dr. Chaim Weizmann. 

Dr. Weizmann had been born in Grodno in Poland just about forty years 

before. He had emigrated to England, after some time passed in Switzerland, 

(where he had known Trotski and had often publicly combated his opinions), 

and had become a lecturer in Chemistry at Manchester University. He had been 

naturalized as a British subject. As a chemist he was extremely able, and to his 

professional parts he added eloquence and marked individuality. Mr. Horace 

Samuel speaks of Dr. Weizmannôs ñMephistophelian face and subtle, sinister 

charm.ò He gives a picture of him addressing a Jewish battalion of the Royal 

Fusiliers in Cairo during the War. ñI well remember how he addressed them. 

Lolling at a table with his hands deep in his trouser-pockets, he just spoke to 

them easily and racily and familiarly, in their own and his own native Yiddish, 

getting his points well away with that idiomatic shrug and gesture which 

constitute one of the most intimate parts of the language. 

ñThe audience responded to a man. They were all his, body and soul, ready 

to leap into his pocket at the first word of command. As he walked across the 

camp the men just followed him like rats after the Pied Piper.ò But Dr. 

Weizmann has always been able to pipe his Pan-like summons to the 

intellectual as to the private soldier, and men have fallen in behind him in 

drawing-rooms as they have in camps. One who was present has told me of the 

irresistible potency with which he saw him once draw Lord Balfour aside after 

a dinner in Lady Astorôs house, as he remembers, and how the two sat together 

on a sofa for an hour or more, oblivious of all present. It was in the course of 

hours like this that the foundations of political Zionism in England were laid. 

The foundation-stone itself may be said to have been laid ten or eleven years 

before the date of the conversation just mentioned. Appropriately enough this 

event was enshrouded by the mists of Manchester. Balfour was electioneering 

(he was still A. J. Balfour then) in that city, which has always been an 

important focus of Jewry. His chairman was a Jew, a Mr. Dreyfus, and he took 

occasion of this to inquire through him why the Zionist Organization had 

rejected the offer of territory in East Africa which had been made to that body 

in 1903 under his own Premiership. 

The rejection of this offer had roused in Balfour, says his niece and 

biographer Mrs. Dugdale, ña curiosity which he found no means to satisfy.ò He 

told Mr. Dreyfus that he wanted to ñfathom the reasons for it.ò It was a matter 

which had lain in his mind, for he was interested in the Jews. The future of 

Jewry as a subject was one of his favourite distractions. Of Zionism he had 

been aware for a considerable while in that sidelong way of his, when his mind 

seemed to enter and to retreat from a subject at once. 

That he needed really to ñfathomò the reasons of Zionist refusal of the East 

African offer is unlikely. The reasons, if only out of common politeness, must 

have been given to him as Prime Minister, when the offer was not accepted. 
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They also had been fully discussed at the sittings of the Sixth Zionist Congress. 

But Balfour characteristically had recoiled from overt knowledge of a matter in 

which he had played a prime part, and his artificial ignorance now had to be 

enlightened. 

For this purpose Mr. Dreyfus sent Dr. Weizmann, whom he knew as an 

ardent Zionist, to Balfourôs hotel, and the young lecturer in chemistry and the 

statesman met thus for the first time. Mrs. Dugdale recounts the interview 

which followed. Sympathy was engendered immediately between the two men 

so differently circumstanced. Dr. Weizmann, however, was not quite fluent in 

the English tongue then, and found some difficulty in making his points. 

Finally, though, he found a way. ñI began to sweat blood to make my meaning 

clear through my English. At the end I made an effort: I had an idea. I said, 

óMr. Balfour, if you were offered Paris instead of London, would you take it? 

Would you take Paris instead of London?ô He looked surprised and said, óBut 

London is our own.ô I said, óJerusalem was our own when London was a 

marsh.ô óThatôs true,ô was his reply.ò 

Balfour seems to have been dumbfounded by Dr. Weizmannôs remark. The 

interview ended under the impact of it. ñIt was from this talk with Weizmann,ò 

he said in later years to Mrs. Dugdale, ñthat I saw that the Jewish form of 

patriotism was unique.ò Balfour, she continues, ñpursued the train of reflection 

then started for the next few years, intermittently no doubt, but with the ardour 

reserved for his speculative moments.ò 

One accepts, of course, the accuracy of the biographerôs record of this 

interview, which was to have such important bearings. But there is no 

obligation to accept Mr. Balfourôs attitude as real. Was this very erudite person 

to be struck all-of-a-heap, like a charwoman told a commonplace, when he was 

informed that Jerusalem had been Jewish long ago? Was this ardent student of 

the Jewish situation to be amazed at claims which had been current for a 

decade? It is not to be credited. 

This rhetorical ingenuousness gave a clue the manner in which Mr. Balfour 

might lead himself or be led to envisage the future of Palestine. When he and 

Weizmann next met, eight years had passed and the War had been in progress 

for four months. In the interval Dr. Weizmannôs status had altered no little. His 

professional attainments soon brought him to notice in Manchester. He made 

the acquaintance of a number of its prominent citizens, and amongst these was 

Mr. C. P. Scott, the widely known editor of the Manchester Guardian. Scott, 

under his influence, became an adherent of Zionism, which cause thereby 

gained an invaluable entry to the columns of a great English newspaper. But 

that the Guardian should espouse Zionism was indeed almost a natural event. It 

was the protagonist of a school of thought which always found many of the 

Jewish intelligentsia in its ranks, and the newspaper itself had several of them 

amongst its staff abroad. So when Weizmann indoctrinated Scott and the 

Guardian, it was like the sowing of grass-seed upon a lawn. 

Dr. Weizmannôs reunion with Lord Balfour took place in mid-December. 

He ñfound the conversation of eight years back fresh in Balfourôs mind.ò They 

continued this conversation ñon abstract lines.ò But before they parted Lord 

Balfour asked if he could help Dr. Weizmann in any way. ñNot while the guns 

are roaring,ò said Weizmann; ñwhen the military situation becomes clearer I 

shall come again.ò ñMind you come again,ò said Balfour; ñit is a great cause 

you are working for. I should like you to come again and again.ò (Dugdale.) 

As soon as Turkey entered the War, Weizmann started to elaborate his 

political ideas and produced ñdefinite proposals for the establishment in 

Palestine of a national home for the Jews under a British Protectorate.ò (Stein.) 

The next step was to bring these to the notice of men in power in London. The 

centre seems to have shifted away for a little while from Balfour: he was not a 

Cabinet Minister at the time, though on the War Council. Scott gave Weizmann 

and his two Russian colleagues letters of introduction to a pair of Cabinet 

Ministers, Mr. Lloyd George and Sir Herbert Samuel. 

What happened thereon Sir Herbert Samuel himself has explained, with 

characteristic carefulness and conscientiousness, in the course of a lecture he 

delivered to a private auditory in 1935. Speaking before the Jewish Historical 

Society, he explained that he was much impressed by Dr. Weizmann. 

Furthermore, as the first member of the Jewish community ever to sit in a 

British CabinetðDisraeli having left that communityðhe felt it was incumbent 

upon him to examine into the Zionist movement. Up till then he had had no 

connection with it. Now, besides conferring with Dr. Weizmann, he held 

conversations with M. Sokolov and with other exponents of the Zionist gospel. 

ñI soon arrived,ò says he, ñat the definite conclusion that if, as we all 

anticipated, the War ended in the victory of the Allies, Palestine ought 

undoubtedly to be separated from the Turkish Empire; that the opportunity 

should be taken to facilitate the establishment of a great autonomous Jewish 

community there; and that this ought to be done under some form of British 

protectorate.ò He spoke in November of 1914 (which shows that Dr. Weizmann 

had approached him even before the former took up his post at the Admiralty) 

to Sir Edward Grey. To Grey he said, ñPerhaps there might be an opportunity 

for the fulfilment of the ancient aspiration of the Jewish people and the 

restoration there [in Palestine] of a Jewish State.ò ñThat was at the time,ò adds 

Sir Herbert Samuel, ñthe Zionist proposal.ò 

It is well to have this fact, clear though it has been from the outset, thus 

categorically and authoritatively stated. Sir Herbert went on to speak to the 

Foreign Secretary upon how a Jewish State in Palestine might become the 

centre of a new culture, how the sight of men of their own blood achieving 

great things in Palestine would raise the character and influence the outlook of 

the millions of Jews scattered in other parts of the world, how the proximity to 

Egypt of his Jewish State ñwould render its goodwill to England a matter of 

importance to the British Empire.ò The final words merit italicizing. 
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The next sentenceðthe speaker had transcribed from his original notes of 

his interview with Sir Edward Greyðis very interesting. It shows that Sir 

Herbert Samuel at least was aware of the existence of the Arabs. ñThe building-

up of the new State from the foundations,ò he acknowledged, ñwas, of course, 

an undertaking of the most formidable character, especially in view of the 

elements which were to be found in the present population of Palestine.ò A 

remarkable twisting of realities, which treated the Arabs, 91 per cent of the 

population, as an ñelementò in it, but it was an advance upon contemporary 

Zionist thought and long to remain an advance upon all Zionist thought. 

Sir Herbert Samuel went on to suggest that the economic resources of 

Palestine could be developed if the right population were admitted and a 

ñcommunity of petty tradersò avoided. As things have turned out, a community 

of petty traders is exactly what has been established since then in the town of 

Tel Aviv, with its 150,000 population out of 400,000 Jews in Palestine, but let 

that pass now. Sir Herbert Samuel ended by suggesting that the Russian 

Government might be sounded before long about the project, if military 

conditions seemed favourable. This, no doubt, was because of the concentration 

of potential Jewish immigrants in Russia. 

Sir Edward Grey said in reply that ñthe idea had always had a strong 

sentimental attraction for him. The historical appeal was very strong. He was 

quite favourable to the proposal and would be ready to work for it if the 

opportunity arose. If any proposals were put forward by France or any other 

Power with regard to Syria, it would be important not to acquiesce in any plan 

which would be inconsistent with the creation of a Jewish State in Palestine. He 

asked whether I thought that Syria must necessarily go with Palestine.ò (ñSyriaò 

here is being used in the false restricted sense.) ñI said, óNo, but on the contrary 

it would be inadvisable to include such places as Beyrout and Damascus, since 

they contained a large non-Jewish population which could not be assimilatedô.ò 

Here is a lesson upon the deficiencies of statesmen. Lord Grey, reckoned as 

one of the most altruistic, listened to Sir Herbert Samuel yet never observed to 

him that what was true of the north of Syria was true of the south also. The 

population of Palestine was not merely non-Jewish in the main: it was and had 

been for centuries overwhelmingly non-Jewish. As it was before the War, the 

Jews, half of them foreign subjects, were but 83,000 out of a total population of 

some 757,000. But Sir Herbert Samuel, while shrinking from the assimilation 

of a ñlarge populationò in the north, proposed by inference the ñassimilationò of 

91 per cent of the population in the south. The Foreign Secretary, whose 

particular business it was to have at least a general knowledge of the Turkish 

Empireôs constituent factors, let this proposal pass. 

Worse than that, he himself ushered in the said proposal by asking Sir 

Herbert Samuel whether he thought that ñSyria must necessarily go with 

Palestine.ò That is to say the Foreign Secretary did not for one moment 

remember that Syria was a country inhabited by the Arab people, or by any sort 

of people at all. He spoke as though it were inhabited by draughts-men or 

halma-pieces, a land which could be cut in half or in quarters or could have the 

pieces upon it shifted about to suit his designs. But it was never his business to 

ask Sir Herbert Samuel whether Syria must necessarily go with Palestine, a 

matter with which Sir Herbert had no concern whatsoever. Greyôs real duty was 

to ask himself what justified his cutting the land in half in order that he might 

work out some scheme of his and his friends in the lower half. 

Sir Herbert Samuel went on to tell the Foreign Secretary that it was essential 

that the Jewish Palestine State should be neutralized, since it would not be large 

enough to defend itself. Christian pilgrims to the Holy Land should be 

guaranteed free access. If the remainder of Syria could be annexed by France it 

would be a great advantage, as it would be far better for the Jewish State to 

have European neighbours than Turkish. Sir Herbert Samuel, in after years 

more mindful, in this early recommendation took no more account of the Arabs 

than if they were the furniture of Palestine. 

That closed his interview with Sir Edward Grey, but he added that he saw 

Mr. Lloyd George the same day. His record of this visit ran, ñI had an 

opportunity to-day of a brief talk with Lloyd George on the subject. He had 

referred in the Cabinet to the ultimate destiny of Palestine, and said to me that 

he was very keen to see a Jewish State established there.ò 

To be keen on anything was a cant phrase of the date, and its employment 

was more a daily exercise of vocabulary than a guarantee of feelings. A couple 

of months later, on the 17th of January, 1915, which was Mr. Lloyd Georgeôs 

birthday, Lord Riddell dined with him. He wrote in his diary afterwards, ñLl. G. 

says there is a movement on foot to take the Jews back to Palestineðsome new 

schemeðand that much to his surprise Herbert Samuel is very keen on it.ò 

I think that this extract gives the measure of the respective keennesses then 

of the two Cabinet Ministers. Mr. Lloyd George so far had but played 

transiently with some halcyon Cambro-Hebraical vision of Judah re-enthroned 

in Palestine. Sir Herbert Samuel was considering the matter seriously. He was 

considering it so seriously that, even if a little late in reaching it, he did come to 

the conclusion presently that ñan autonomous Jewish State was impracticable. 

In the conditions that prevailed, five-sixths of the population of Palestine being 

Arabsò (nine-tenths would have been nearer their proportion), ñsuch a solution 

could not be adopted.ò 

Note that Sir Herbert Samuel, though, did not find a Jewish State 

illegitimate: he only found it impracticable. The solution to which now he 

turned was ñthe establishment of British control, together with the fostering of 

Jewish immigration, and the conferment upon the new Jewish community in 

Palestine of the broadest autonomy that the practical conditions would allow.ò 

This amounted to establishing a state of things in Palestine out of which the 

Jewish State gradually would come to life. The conferring of autonomy, also, 

would take the Jewish immigrants out of control of the people of the country. 
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So while Sir Herbert Samuel did not propose a Jewish State immediately, what 

he proposed made an Arab State not possible at any time. 

He prepared a memorandum on these lines which was circulated in the 

Cabinet. He says that he prepared the memorandum in January but did not 

circulate it till March. It would seem, however, that he must have sent a draft of 

it at least to some of his colleagues, for on the 28th of that month of January, 

1915, Mr. Asquith wrote in his diary: 

I have just received from Herbert Samuel a memorandum headed 

ñThe Future of Palestine.ò He goes on to argue at considerable length 

and with some vehemence, in favour of the British annexation of 

Palestine, a country the size of Wales, much of it barren mountains and 

part of it waterless. He thinks we might plant in this not very promising 

territory about three or four million European Jews, and that this would 

have a good effect upon those who are left behind. It reads almost like a 

new edition of Tancred1 brought up to date. I confess I am not attracted 

by this proposed addition to our responsibilities. But it is a curious 

illustration of Dizzyôs favourite maxim that ñrace is everythingò to find 

this almost lyrical outburst proceeding from the well-ordered and 

methodical brain of H.S. 

Mr. Asquith judged the memorandum in his characteristic level-headed way, 

and his remark ñhe thinks this would have a good effect upon those who are left 

behindò shows that he did not believe much in the regenerative effect upon an 

individual of a tonic administered to his cousin. The most important thing in his 

comment, though, is the evidence that the Samuel project aimed at settling (no 

doubt eventually) three or four million Jews in Palestine. Such numbers, of 

course, would make a Jewish State practicable. 

There is no evidence that any of the Zionist leaders proper dropped the idea 

of an immediate Jewish State at the time for Sir Herbert Samuelôs deferred 

Jewish State. Indeed there is evidence to the contrary. Dr. Weizmann had gone 

to Paris in January, to sound opinion in French Governmental circles. Lord 

Bertie, the British Ambassador, recorded his visit on the 25th. In his diary he 

wrote: 

Edmond de Rothschild came this morning, and afterwards sent a 

Russian co-religionist established in Manchester to ñtalkò about what I 

think is an absurd scheme, though they say that it has the approval of 

Grey, Lloyd George, Samuel and Crewe. They did not mention Lord 

Reading. 

It contemplates the formation of Palestine into an Israelite State under 

the protectorate of England, France, or Russia, preferably of England. 

They did not think that Russia or France would raise objections. The 

                                                 
1 [A novel by Disraeli. ð http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tancred_(novel)] 

scheme-maker would be ready to leave the custody of the Holy Places 

and even of old Jerusalem to an international body. They would build a 

new one near by. . . . My Russian visitor says that such a solution must 

come within the next hundred years, perhaps in forty years. He hopes 

that I donôt think him a dreamer! The Jews are the only people capable of 

reclaiming Palestine by intensive culture! 

Lord Bertie, an ambassador, whose whole business in life had been to speak 

of political affairs in accurate terms, would not have written that an Israelite 

State was in contemplation unless his ñRussian visitorò had spoken 

unambiguously of such a State. The succeeding phrases confirm this too. A new 

Jerusalem is to be built as the Jewish capital. The ancient Holy City is to be 

ñleft,ò conceded that is, by the Zionists out of their territory, for international 

administration. 

There is a curious sequel to this intention of building a new Jerusalem as the 

Jewish capital which is worth interpolating here. In later years, when the 

Zionists were active in building their ñgarden-suburb,ò as it was rather 

insufficiently termed, on the Bethlehem side of Jerusalem, round a prominent 

hill or swell of the ground, the general plans had to be sent in to the Palestine 

Government. Mr. C. R. Ashbee, the distinguished architect and man-of-letters, 

was in charge of the town-planning scheme. When he examined these plans he 

found a disproportionately large building prospected for the crowning site on 

the summit of the hill. He asked the designer, Mr. Richard Kauffmann, for what 

purpose this was intended. Mr. Kauffmann was the architect of the Zionist 

Organization, and his plans were drawn up to its requirements, of course. His 

answer to Mr. Ashbee, very seriously given, was, ñDas ist unser 

Parliamentsgebäudeò (ñThatôs our House of Parliamentò). The High 

Commissioner, to whom this was reported, found the attribution provocative, or 

possibly found it premature. He gave orders in consequence and the ñHouse of 

Parliamentò became the ñGallery of Fine Arts.ò There was a certain subtlety 

about the new title. 

I return to the memorandums and projects of early 1915. Sir Herbert 

Samuel, having distributed his memorandum, left it to take effect in the minds 

of its recipients. ñIt attracted,ò he says, ña considerable body of support among 

Ministers.ò The campaign was now so well launched in England that the 

Zionist leaders could give more attention to other countries for a while. 

Undeterred by the frigidity of Lord Bertie, Dr. Weizmann with his colleagues 

MM. Sokolov and Tschlenow went back to Paris. Presently, ñfull of great 

hopes,ò M. Tschlenow returned to Russia to act as liaison-agent there. 

Back in England, Weizmann and Sokolov spent most of 1915 in quiet but 

effective spade-work. With charming naiveté Mrs. Dugdale records that ñthe 

Zionists had not as yet access even to the corridors of the Government Offices.ò 

But in compensation ñoccasionally they met various Ministers in their homes.ò 
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Mrs. Dugdale adds something to our knowledge of Sir Edward Greyôs mind 

at the time. ñHe was in full sympathy with the Zionist ideal, but was afraid lest 

mention of a British Protectorate over Palestine might offend the French, and 

offend also some English Liberal opinion. The Liberal Cabinet would not be 

likely to commit themselves to any responsibility for Palestine. At the same 

time they did not want to see it in the hands of any other Great Power. They 

might favour the organization of a Jewish Commonwealth there as an 

independent political unit. These views were not officially expressed, but the 

Zionists sensed them.ò The Zionists were not without means of ñsensing,ò 

during home-chat with Ministers around their hearths. 

Mrs. Dugdale goes on to say that whenever a chance occurred the Zionists 

pressed the arguments for a British Protectorate. It must have been when one of 

these chances did occur, though she does not specify when or how it came 

about, that Dr. Weizmann put his argument upon paper. 

If Great Britain [he wrote] does not wish anybody else to have 

Palestine, this means that she will have to watch it and stop any 

penetration of another Power. Such a course involved as much 

responsibility as would be involved by a British Protectorate over 

Palestine, with the sole difference that watching is a much less efficient 

preventative than an actual Protectorate. I therefore thought that the 

middle course could be adopted: viz., the Jews take over the country. The 

whole burden of organization falls on them, but for the next ten or fifteen 

years they work under a temporary British Protectorate. 

This was a pretty accurate forecast for 1915 of what has happened since in 

Palestine. But of course Dr. Weizmann has always been in the position of a 

Jupiter forecasting the weather he was about to manufacture himself. 

His excursions abroad or to London could not be many, however, because of 

his work in Manchester. So most of the chances of which Mrs. Dugdale speaks 

must have occurred in that city. Indeed, between Weizmann and Scott, and the 

recruits who soon joined them, Manchester now was turned into a regular 

Zionist base. ñA large group of Zionist writers joined the leaders, conspicuous 

among whom was Major Norman Bentwich,ò later to be Attorney-General for 

Palestine. Not all these recruits worked in Manchester but they were mentally 

provisioned from there. As for the Manchester Guardian itself, several 

members of its staff became active propagandists of the cause. Notable amongst 

them were Mr. Harry Sacher and Mr. Herbert Sidebotham. Mr. Sacher, a 

barrister, was to be notary for the Rutenberg contracts in Palestine and also 

became known, at least to a certain circle, as ñFor-Ever Sacher.ò Giving 

evidence before one of the Commissions which have so often visited Palestine, 

and being asked how long he thought the British Mandate should last, his 

answer was, ñFor ever.ò 

Mr. Sidebotham organized the establishment of a ñBritish Palestine 

Committeeò to spread the Zionist theories in the United Kingdom, and founded 

a publication ad hoc (already mentioned) entitled Palestine, which still exists, 

though I fancy that for a year or two there was a break in its continuity. He has 

proved the most prolific defender of political Zionism, and in many pamphlets 

has shown himself the leader of the idealist-realist school. This professes the 

idealism of the return to Zion and of the Mandate side by side with the realism 

of the possession of the approaches to the Suez Canal. 

While Zionism was thus consolidating itself in Manchester, major political 

events took place which were to affect its future considerably. Mr. Asquith 

formed a Coalition Cabinet and in May Lord Balfour, who though attending the 

War Council had been in Opposition, became First Civil Lord of the Admiralty. 

Dr. Weizmann had been experimenting very successfully meanwhile in the 

manufacture of explosives. ñHe brought before Scott,ò says Mr. J. L. Hammond 

in his biography of the great editor, ñhis plan for manufacturing chemicals 

needed for munitions. Scott paid several visits to London to urge on Mr. Lloyd 

George, Mr. McKenna, Lord Balfour and others, the importance of 

Weizmannôs experiments. Mr. Lloyd George promised in the summer to 

consider the question as soon as the issue of conscription had been settled.ò 

The probability of Dr. Weizmann (the Dr. is Doctor of Science) being called 

to London, where he would have more regular opportunities of contact with 

members of the Government, was thus postponed a while. But M. Sokolov and 

others were busy in the fostering ante-chambers of the English political world. 

They made converts, and the converts made their converts, and Zionism by 

degrees became a topic amidst the persons and the groups that count in that 

world, and in its social centre. The thesis which Asquith had found extravagant 

as a novel of Disraeliôs became through repetition not so extravagant to other 

statesmen, and then became an idea present in the air, and soon was a possible 

line of conduct. 

In December Scott took Weizmann to breakfast with Lloyd George to 

discuss the formerôs experiments, which dealt with the provision of acetone for 

cordite. Subject to the success of some final trials, Dr. Weizmannôs transfer to 

London to work in a Government munitions laboratory was decided. He went 

back awhile to Manchester, just about when McMahon in Egypt was inditing 

the conclusion of the compact of Arab independence for which Kitchener had 

led the way. 

Dr. Weizmannôs trials were altogether successful. In February 1916 he was 

appointed to the Admiralty. Lord Balfour became his chief. To do Dr. 

Weizmann justice he does not seem to have intruded the Zionist side of his life 

into his office. But Lord Balfour took the initiative. One day Weizmann ñcame 

to his room on official business. As the interview ended Balfour introduced the 

other subject. óYou know, Dr. Weizmann, if the Allies win the war you may get 
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your Jerusalem.ô He bade him call again, he wanted to discuss the Russian and 

the English Jews.ò (Dugdale.) 

Mrs. Dugdale says that in the course of 1916 Balfour and Weizmann only 

met ñonce or twice.ò Whether with him or with others, though, the spade-work 

of the Zionist leaders continued unabated through the first half of the year. M. 

Sokolov and Dr. Weizmann turned their attention a good deal to spreading the 

doctrine amidst English Jews. The two knew nothing about the Arab alliance 

which had ushered in the year. Besides, what were Arabs in their schemes at 

any time? 

However, for the statesmen who had dealings with the Zionist pleaders the 

new-made alliance should have marked a great difference. To date they had 

been able to toy with the Zionist project with some show of legitimacy, but now 

to consider a Zionist State, which was what they were asked to consider, 

whether it were created immediately or by degrees, upon territory where we 

were engaged to support Arab independence, ceased to be legitimate. In 

diplomatic language what they began to do was undesirable; in plain language 

it was dishonest. 

But a subterfuge can generally be found by those who wish to find one, and 

the method now adopted to evade our obligations was this. The actual character 

of Zionist aspirations was left in a haze, and the Governmentðfor by February 

some portions or persons of the Governmental body were engaged in the 

businessðcould therefore begin to patronize the movement on the plea that a 

resettlement of Jews in Palestine was a worthy object in itself, and need not be 

envisaged as leading to this or to that particular conclusion. They were rather 

helped in this evasion by the existence of a group of British Jews who were 

interesting themselves by then in the opening opportunities for Zionism. Their 

plans, as far as they were formulated, did not bespeak a Jewish State at any 

time, and were wholly free of political taint. These moderate men were 

consulted and canvassed alongside with Messrs. Weizmann and Sokolov. 

Though their propositions were only read to be dropped, the mere fact that 

parallel communications were made with them gave the requisite air of open-

mindedness to the tentative negotiations, or whatever they were to be called, in 

which the section of the Government responsible for them was engaged. 

Obviously the straightforward action would have been to inform the 

political Zionist leaders of our engagements to the Arabs, bidding them curb 

their plans in accordance with these engagements. Or if it were impossible to 

acquaint them of the engagements, as most likely in fact it was till the Arab 

revolt should have started, then no steps at all should have been taken to 

encourage the Zionists. 

No one however seems to have been stopped by any such considerations in 

Whitehall. The real question is how far anybody in Whitehall knew what 

everybody else was doing. At that period of the War, Ministries, and even 

individuals in Ministries, seem to have conducted policies without 

communicating them to each other, or without communicating them in any 

adequate degree. The argument used for justifying this seems to have been that 

while negotiations were only feelers they were a departmental business. Time 

enough to tell ministers all about them, and time enough for ministers to tell the 

Cabinet all about them, when the moment arrived for turning them into national 

policy itself. 

No other explanation for what occurred is possible. That all the members of 

the Cabinet, including the Prime Minister, were aware fully how far we were 

engaged to the Arabs is highly improbable. There were plenty of indications in 

the dispatches which had reached Egypt before the conclusion of the Alliance 

that the matter was being treated confusedly and being studied insufficiently at 

home. Captain Liddell Hart, drawing his information from Lawrence, who was 

in the thick of things, says that the High Commissioner himself cabled from 

Cairo to warn the Foreign Office upon ñthe danger of underrating the possible 

development of the Arab movement.ò He urged (how significant, this) ñthe 

need for unity of control over all negotiations.ò 

It made no difference, in any case. The various policies were continued 

recklessly by their authors. The situation in February, so far as it can be 

disentangled, was that we had a genuine treaty with the Arabs, an 

ñarrangementò pending with the French, and an ñaffairò developing with the 

Zionists. Some people knew of some of these and a few may have known of all 

of them, though nobody with much clarity. The French ñarrangementò was 

being kept secret from the Arabs and the Zionists, the Arab treaty was being 

kept secret from the Zionists, and the French only had general notions of it, 

which into the bargain a few officials of the Quai dôOrsay seem to have kept to 

themselves. There was no reason of course why a line of anything confidential 

should have been communicated to the Zionists, as they had no standing, but 

since they are involved in the business it is worth noting that the secrecy 

extended to them. 

Needless to say, there must be secrecy in war-time: no one is going to be so 

foolish as to question that. But there is all the difference in the world between 

keeping engagements secret from the enemy and from neutrals, and keeping 

engagements secret from those whose intimate affairs are covered by these very 

engagements. 

In due secrecy Sir Mark Sykes and M. Picot now completed their 

ñArrangementò on behalf of their respective countries. Sykes left for Russia 

before the end of the month, to submit it to the Russian Government, which was 

to be associated as third party to the pact. 

In March, the memorandums and conversations of Sir Herbert Samuel, of 

Messrs. Weizmann and Sokolov and of the other friends of the Zionist cause, 

bore their first fruit. This was a document owing its origin supposedly to Sir 

Edward Grey. For a piece of evidence of its importance it is still not very well 

known. As far as I am aware it has only been quoted in this country by Mr. 
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Leonard Stein in his Zionism. In the United States Mrs. Andrews, the author of 

a very considerable, much documented, standard work, Palestine under the 

Mandate,1 has published a version which differs somewhat from Mr. Steinôs. 

The document is one sent to our Ambassador in Petrograd, bidding him 

sound the Russian Government upon its attitude towards ñJewish Colonization 

in Palestine.ò It would never have seen the light but for the Russian revolution. 

After this had taken place, the new Soviet Government published a number of 

secret dispatches from the files of the Imperial Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and 

the dispatch in question was included in a volume entitled (in Russian) The 

Partition of Asiatic Turkey, which appeared in 1924. 

It is dated the 13th of that month of March, and was presented apparently in 

English to M. Sazonoff, then Russian Foreign Minister. The dispatch in the 

Petrograd archives at least is in the English tongue, though it was translated into 

Russian for the work which the Soviet authorities edited. 

For convenience I give Mr. Steinôs version of the text, his convenient book 

in which it is reproduced being more accessible to average readers than Mrs. 

Andrewsôs pair of tomes. It runs as follows: 

Aide-Mémoire presented by the British Embassy in Petrograd to the 

Foreign Minister, M. Sazonoff. 

A telegram has been received from Sir Edward Grey stating that the 

attention of His Majestyôs Government had recently been drawn to the 

question of Jewish colonization in Palestine, 

Although, as is known, many Jews are indifferent to the idea of 

Zionism, a numerous and most influential section of them in all countries 

would highly appreciate the proposal of an agreement concerning 

Palestine, which would fully satisfy Jewish aspirations. 

If the point of view set forth above is correct, it will be clear that by 

means of utilizing the Zionist idea, important political results might be 

achieved. One of these would be the conversion to the side of the Allies 

of Jewish elements in the East, in the U.S.A., and other places, whose 

present attitude towards the cause of the Allies is, to a considerable 

extent, hostile. 

Mr. Lucien Wolf has defined Jewish aspirations in Palestine in the 

following manner: ñIf as a result of the war, Palestine should fall within 

the sphere of French and British interests, the French and British 

Governments will not fail to take into consideration the historic interests 

of Jewry in this country. Both Governments would assure to the Jewish 

population equal political rights with other inhabitants, religious and civil 

freedom, such municipal privileges in colonies and towns as would 

appear necessary, as well as reasonable facilities for colonization and 

immigration.ò 

                                                 
1 Produced later in Great Britain by Messrs. George Allen and Unwin. 

Sir Edward Grey has no objection to the formula quoted above, but in 

reply he simply informed Mr. Wolf that he must discuss this question 

with the Allied Governments, and that this matter will be sympathetically 

considered by His Majestyôs Government. 

The only object of His Majestyôs Government is to devise some 

agreement which will be sufficiently attractive to the majority of Jews to 

facilitate the conclusion of a transaction securing Jewish support. Having 

this consideration in view, it appears to His Majestyôs Government that if 

the scheme provided for enabling the Jews, when their colonies in 

Palestine are sufficiently strong to be able to compete with the Arab 

population, to take in hand the administration of the internal affairs of 

this region (excluding Jerusalem and the Holy Places), then the 

agreement would be much more attractive for the majority of Jews. His 

Majestyôs Government would not wish to express a preference for this or 

another solution of the question. However, it is informed that an 

international protectorate would meet with opposition on behalf of 

influential Jewish circles. 

Communicating all this telegraphically, Sir Edward Grey instructs Sir 

George Buchanan to solicit from the Russian Government a serious 

consideration of this question and to favour him at the earliest possible 

date with the communication of the Russian point of view. 

What a document! It is scarcely credible that within ten weeks of pledging 

Arab independence ñin every sense of the word independenceò to the Shereef of 

Mecca, the Foreign Minister was thus preparing coldly to hand over the 

administration of Palestine to the Zionists. The only sort of palliative for it, and 

practically the only explanation of it is to be found in the perilous situation of 

the country then and in the consequent disorder of the Cabinet. One hundred 

and fifty thousand tons of merchant-shipping were being sunk every month by 

enemy submarines; the Turks were triumphant at Gallipoli; the War was 

costing a sum which now approached six million pounds a day, and there 

seemed no issue from it, let alone any sign of a victorious exit. The Cabinet 

itself was distracted, discredited and moribund: the disunion of the whole 

Governmental machine began within the body of men who should have held it 

together. 

Lord Curzon, referring a couple of years later to the conduct of the countryôs 

business at the period under discussion testified that the old Cabinet system was 

ñquite impossible in times of war.ò ñThe meetings of the Cabinet were most 

irregular. There were no agenda, there was no order of business. No record 

whatever was kept of the proceedings, except the private letter written to the 

King by the Prime Minister, the contents of which were never seen by anybody 

else. The Cabinet often had the very haziest notion as to what its decisions 

were. . . . It was always congested with business.ò There were two dozen 
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Cabinet Ministers, a situation which led Mr. Lloyd George to declare, ñYou 

cannot run a war with a Sanhedrim.ò 

No doubt it was out of such peril, such disorder and such absence of 

supervision that the memorandum sent to Petrograd sprang. It slipped through 

in the confusion. Even so, with every allowance for the circumstances which 

attended its appearance, it is inexcusable. The question at once rises to the 

mind: who wrote it; who was responsible for it? Who were aware of its contents 

before it was dispatched to Russia? 

Was Lord Kitchener, who had been the prime mover in approaching the 

Arabs? On that presumption alone, it is hardly likely. Apart from this his 

relations at the time were growing steadily more and more restricted with the 

other members of the Cabinet. He did not give them much of his confidence. 

That close-placed observer, F. S. Oliver, wrote of the Government that it was in 

a kind of dusk with regard to military operations. If it was in a dusk about 

Flanders, in what sort of night will it not have been about operations and 

commitments to the Hedjaz? While, on the other hand, by a natural reaction the 

members of the Cabinet who suffered from Kitchenerôs taciturnity did not treat 

him to their own plans. Was the Petrograd memorandum ever communicated to 

him? Was it ever even treated in extenso at any Cabinet meeting or any 

governmental gathering at which he was present? Every presumption is that it 

was not, nor ever treated in extenso at any such meeting at all. 

Had the very Prime Minister seen it? When the Zionist proposals in Sir 

Herbert Samuelôs memorandum were first sent to Mr. Asquith he had spoken of 

them pretty contemptuously, and he never changed his mind about them. In the 

House of Commons, six years after, he was calling them still ña staircase of 

fragile, precarious, stumbling hypotheses,ò adding that it was a very large 

hypothesis to assume that ñby judicious administration and by pacific 

penetration and in other ways the Jews and the Arabs were going to live side by 

side.ò 

In 1924, on the soil of Palestine itself, as the guest of Sir Herbert Samuel, 

now High Commissioner, when, if ever, he was going to be converted, he wrote 

instead ñthe talk of making Palestine into a Jewish National Home seems to me 

as fantastic as it always has done.ò Was a man of his temper one to induce the 

Russians to take any share in what he found fantastic? Was Asquith the man to 

propose to anybody a policy in which he himself altogether disbelieved? 

No, the only conclusion is that the memorandum had not been submitted to 

him, or that no sufficient version of it had been submitted to him, before it was 

dispatched, and he was not cognizant of what was going on. 

As for our engagements to the Arabs, I do not believe that these had been 

communicated to the Prime Minister sufficiently, if at all. In 1923, on returning 

from Palestine, I went myself to see him, in the House of Commons, upon this 

subject. Carmelite House had just brought out in pamphlet form my Daily Mail 

articles, wherein I had given the crucial portions of the Hussein-McMahon 

treaty. It was the first time they had been disclosed to the public. I visited Mr. 

Asquith, now out of office, specially to beg him to examine them, so that he 

might judge of the strength of the pledges which bound us to support Arab 

independence in Palestine. 

His whole attitude was of one being informed. Indeed the interview between 

us had been mooted by a common friend and accepted by Mr. Asquith on the 

principle of engaging his interest in these newly produced documents. If 

Asquith had known of them, there would have been no meaning in our 

interview. When I said to him, ñI want particularly to show you the extracts 

from these papers, sir, I am convinced that they will impress you,ò he did not 

say to me that he knew them. He did not say that he had examined them when 

he was in power but had forgotten them, or that he had only seen them 

cursorily. He acted absolutely as though he had had no kind of acquaintance 

with them before. What he said was, ñCertainly. Let me see them.ò Afterwards 

he said, ñLeave this with me. Iôll go through it. Iôll look into it allò I was not 

ñinterviewingò him in the technical sense. During such interviews statesmen are 

often on the defensive and make show at times of false ignorance. This was a 

personal meeting, of which none but the three people involved ever knew till 

to-day, and in the course of it he was perfectly blunt and unambiguous, though 

he said little, the whole thing having been arranged so that I might appeal to 

him rather than he say anything to me. 

The mystery does not stop with him, however, nor with Lord Kitchener. 

This Petrograd memorandum, violating our engagements to the Arabs, does not 

fit in with the character even of the man in whose name it was dispatched. Was 

Lord Grey another victim of departmental secrecy? Before he set his hand to 

the Petrograd memorandum, had he ever studied thoroughly the text of the 

Anglo-Arab pact? He was under a crushing burden of work at the time, when 

the tendency would have been for him to demand only outlines of all but major 

documents. The decision upon what were major documents would rest with 

permanent officials, especially as regards documents dealing with outlying 

sections of the vast field of foreign affairs in war-time. In the din of the conflict 

on the Western Front the Foreign Secretary perhaps heard only abstractedly 

some general account of an understanding with the Hedjaz. 

It may seem at first sight extravagant to suggest indeed that a Foreign 

Secretary remained unacquainted or was insufficiently acquainted with a matter 

which engaged the full responsibility of the Government. Yet his own words, 

when this question first came up for discussion in the House of Lords towards 

the end of the succeeding month of March, confirm such a suggestion. This 

1923 debate was initiated and led by Lord Islington, the most gallant, 

unceasing, and intelligent fighter for justice to the Arabs since the question first 

arose. He quoted my extracts from the McMahon-Hussein documents and made 

evident how we were committed by them. Lord Greyôs speech was awaited 

with the interest that may be imagined. He had been the responsible Minister at 
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the time the commitments were made. Whatever he had to say, the House 

expected that his contribution to the debate would be authoritative. 

Yet that was the one quality it lacked. He said that he did not propose to go 

into any detail over the points which had been traversed by Lord Islington and 

by Lord Sydenham (who had spoken on kindred lines to Lord Islingtonôs). 

Detail was the very point the House expected from him of course, but it was 

soon clear that he could not give it. He spoke in his characteristic, sincere, 

gentlemanly way, but he seemed to have no knowledge. He was roundabout 

and vague about facts. He said that secret engagements were inevitable during a 

war. If all our war-time engagements were considered as a whole there might 

well be what he called ñinconsistenciesò between them. ñI think it exceedingly 

probable that there are inconsistencies,ò he said. He did not think that there 

were any referable to his period of office. But he did not know. He confessed he 

had not ñrefreshed his memoryò upon what secret engagements had been made 

during that period. (It is a very noteworthy fact that having refreshed his 

memory later, he never afterwards sought an occasion to deny our obligations 

in Palestine to the Arabs.) 

He actually, in this Lords speech, asked for information, asked that the 

Government should publish all papers, so that our honour might be cleared. 

Texts were becoming public ñthrough other sources,ò he said. He agreed that 

the situation was, as he put it, a difficult one. ñAn exceedingly difficult one,ò he 

said, ñwhen it (the Balfour Declaration) is compared with the pledges which 

undoubtedly were given to the Arabs.ò 

In making this admission, Lord Grey spoke as though he were a high-

minded stranger to whom the pledges were a revelation. Under these 

circumstances how is it possible to assume that he compiled the Petrograd 

memorandum in full knowledge of the Anglo-Arab treaty? Did he compile it 

himself, indeed? 

This lends a greater interest and a greater importance to the analysis of this 

memorandum, the first official step along the path which led to the 

dishonouring of Great Britainôs obligations. I ask the reader to reconsider its 

text therefore. 

There is one paragraph in it to which no exception can be taken, Mr. Lucien 

Wolfôs excellent formula. There is nothing else in the memorandum which is 

recommendable. Two phrases call for attention particularly. The first is ñan 

agreement concerning Palestine which would fully satisfy Jewish aspirations.ò 

The second is the awkwardly phrased statement that ñif the scheme provided 

for enabling the Jews, when their colonies in Palestine are sufficiently strong to 

be able to compete with the Arab population, to take in hand the administration 

of the internal affairs of this region, then the agreement would be much more 

attractive for the majority of Jews.ò The English of this is very cumbersome 

and unreal. The word ñforò should be read with ñenablingò and ñprovidedò is 

not a past participle but the past tense. It means ñIf the scheme made it possible 

for the Jews, when their colonies, etc.ò 

I do not believe that this formula, ostensibly phrased by the Foreign 

Secretary, was his work at all. To every appearance it was taken, and inserted as 

it stood, from some unacknowledged text of the political Zionistsô own, and 

was not first written in English. The reference which follows the formula goes 

to show that this was what happened. This runs ñHis Majestyôs Government 

would not wish to express a preference for this or another solution.ò Evidently 

the final compiler or compilers of the dispatch are foreign to the formula itself. 

The same may be said of the earlier formula ñan agreement concerning 

Palestine which would satisfy Jewish aspirations.ò Of this the compiler or 

compilers observe, ñif the above point of view is correct.ò He or they are 

transcribing. 

In the memorandum too there are subterfuges which one would hardly wish 

to attribute to the Foreign Secretary. The words ña numerous and most 

influential sectionò of the Jews, which I judge to be Whitehallôs own, disappear 

after utterance. In their place, at the close of the dispatch, is palmed the very 

different expression ñthe majority of Jews.ò It is very hard to make nationhood 

claims on behalf of a section of people, however numerous and influential they 

may be. But on behalf of the majority of Jews the claim (for what it is worth) 

can be made without offending mathematics. Hence in the course of the 

dispatch, the delicate replacement of the words ñnumerous and influential 

sectionò of the Jews by the words ñmajority of Jewsò is allowed to occur. 

Possibly the worst thing in the memorandum is the way in which it sets 

aside Mr. Lucien Wolfôs ideals for Zionist colonization in Palestine in favour of 

the plans of the political Zionists. Mr. Lucien Wolf was an extremely well-

known and very able publicist of the period, much versed in foreign affairs. He 

was the spokesman of some of the chief institutions in British Jewry such as the 

Anglo-Jewish Association and Board of Delegates of British Jews, whom 

indeed he was to represent four years later at the Peace Conference. Therefore 

the definition of Jewish aspirations in Palestine which he offered to the Foreign 

Officeðat its requestðwas one which commended itself to the representative 

bodies of Jews in this country. It would I believe have commended itself to the 

Arabs of Palestine too, if they had known of it. There are no assumptions of 

ownership in it, no demands for unexampled privileges. Mr. Wolf and the other 

Jews for whom he spoke only asked that their colonists should have ñequal 

political rights with other inhabitants,ò ñreligious and civil freedom,ò 

ñreasonable facilities for colonization.ò In fine, the Jewish colonists would 

qualify for and would receive the normal rights of men. 

We know, therefore, through this citation of Mr. Wolfôs formula or plan, 

that in the spring of 1916 the British Government had its chance. A programme 

was set before it which had authoritative Jewish backing, which was the 

product of Jewish brains, which would have consorted with the obligations to 
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the Arabs that it had just undertaken. Such were the merits of the programme 

that it could not be left unmentioned. But to mention it, to say indifferently that 

he ñhad no objection to it,ò and thenceforward to drop it for ever was all the 

Foreign Secretary did, or all the man or men did who were responsible for this 

memorandum sent in the Foreign Secretaryôs name. 

The opportunity for following a policy which would have meant no 

ñPalestine Question,ò no enmity with the Moslems, no jettisoning of the 

Christians, which would have meant an honourable programme for the Jews, 

was not merely missed but was consciously evaded. By now Whitehall was 

entangled with the arbitrary and ruinous schemes of the political Zionists. Some 

words of Mrs. Dugdale in this respect are worth quoting. ñIn the spring of the 

year 1916 the Zionistsò (that is to say the political Zionists, Messrs. Weizmann 

and Sokolov) ñbegan to make a little contact with the great Departments, whose 

goodwill would be at least as necessary as the sympathy of Ministers, when the 

moment really came for them to step into the arena of Allied politics. The 

spokesmen of certain bodies of non-Zionist Jewsò (that is to say real ñZionists,ò 

who aimed at a spiritual Zion) ñwere beforehand with them at the Foreign 

Office, throwing all their weight into other plans for helping the Jews in the 

Russian Empire and elsewhere. They pressed upon the Foreign Office a 

formula for a Palestine policy acknowledging nothing more than óthe historic 

interestô taken in that country by their ócommunity.ô The word óraceô was not 

used.ò 

She continues ñThe Zionists were in ignorance of the existence of this 

formula for some time after it had been submitted to the Foreign Office, and it 

is probable that the anti-Zionists were not fully aware of the interest in Zionism 

taken by some Ministers.ò This latter fact is very daintily phrased, but the 

reader will grasp what kind of a situation it was to which it refers. 

What this ñinterest in Zionismò meant is made clear by the next succeeding 

sentences of the Petrograd memorandum. After declaring that the Foreign 

Secretary had no objection to Mr. Wolfôs programme, the memorandum goes 

on to propound the very different programme to which, plainly, support was to 

be extended. Needless to say, this is not stated in so many words. Disclaimers 

accompany the paragraphs in which the Governmentôs preference is made clear. 

The memorandum is as loud with disclaimers as the charge-room of a police-

station. But the more the Government disclaims a preference for any particular 

solution, the more it indicates its preference for the special solution which will 

be ñattractive for the majority of Jews.ò 

It says, in what I may term the ñbetrayal-clauseò of the memorandum, that a 

scheme in which the Zionist immigrants shall be enabled to grow sufficient in 

numbers to rival the Arabs and then shall be granted powers of government 

would indeed be ñmuch more attractive for the majority of Jews.ò At the same 

time it says blandly that ñthe only object of His Majestyôs Government is to 

devise some agreement which will be sufficiently attractive for the majority of 

Jews.ò If this does not point out, with just a touch of essential periphrastic 

humbug, that the Government desires the said scheme, then no words or 

phrases have any meaning at all. 

Poor Mr. Wolf in his formula ingenuously had taken the inhabitants of 

Palestine into consideration. In the betrayal-clause of the Foreign Office 

memorandum the only reference to them lies in the arrangement for their 

supersession. They are not even to have the solace of an international 

protectorate because that would meet with opposition from ñinfluential Jewish 

circles.ò These circles will have been the group of Messrs. Weizmann, Sokolov 

and their friends. Though the Sykes-Picot agreement was not to be signed for 

another six weeks or so, and was not known to this group, the international 

protectorate idea was in the air and clearly had been canvassed with them, as a 

separate proposition. They opposed it from the start, fearing that the influence 

of the Latin and Orthodox Churches, expressed through the representatives of 

the countries professing their beliefs, would doom the plans for Zionist 

hegemony. 

A point to be mentioned is that the betrayal-clause varies in the two versions 

of the memorandum which have been published. As I have already said there 

are various differences between the version of Mr. Stein and the version of Mrs. 

Andrews. But there is nothing deserving of mention except in the text of this 

clause. Here, where Mr. Stein speaks of a scheme for ñenabling the Jews, when 

their colonies in Palestine are sufficiently strong to be able to compete with the 

Arab population, to take in hand the administration of the internal affairs of this 

region,ò Mrs. Andrewsôs text is ña project which would grant the Jews, when 

the colonists in Palestine have attained a position which will enable them to 

rival the Arabs in strength, the administration of their own internal affairs in 

that country.ò 

Mr. Steinôs version assumes Jewish government of internal affairs; a Zionist 

Minister of the Interior. Mrs. Andrewsôs version assumes Zionist self-

government in Zionist areas. In order to resolve this discrepancy I applied to the 

Soviet authorities for a copy of the original text of the memorandum, inquiring 

at the same time was it indeed in English. They were very courteous, affirmed 

that the original was in English, and at first even said they would try and 

procure me a photostat facsimile. Both the Stein and Andrews versions were 

translations back into English from foreign texts. 

There was a certain amount of delay, after which I received the text, not in 

English but in the official Russian version. A further appeal was met not by the 

English text but by a request that I should mention any particular passages of 

which I wished to know the original English. This was rather a disappointment, 

but I did as I was asked, since examination of the official Russian, itself a 

translation, was not satisfactory. In the reply which I received, the only 

quotation containing the original English of the passages I had mentioned 

which called for notice came at the end of the crucial clause. This was to the 
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effect that Great Britain wished to find some arrangement to enable the Jews, 

when in sufficient strength to compete with the Arabs, ñto take in hand the 

management of the internal affairs of that district.ò 

Palestine therefore, in the memorandum communicated to M. Sazonoff by 

Sir George Buchanan for Sir Edward Grey, was described as a district and the 

Jews were to have the management of all its internal affairs (as in Mr. Steinôs 

version) when their numbers were sufficiently large to compete with the Arabs. 

Palestine in fact, under this plan, was to be handed over to Zionist rule, without 

thought of its Arab people except of how soon they could be outnumbered, or 

could be reduced to parity. The Arabsô natural right to their country, and the 

bond into which we had just entered to give them their independence if they 

fought beside us, alike were disregarded. 

That is enough concerning this deplorable document, the first of a series in 

which British policy and the aims of political Zionism were welded together. 

The alliance is reflected in the evidently composite text, passing as the voice of 

the Foreign Secretary alone. 

There is but a single plea of any kind to be made on behalf of the 

memorandum. In one place it has a frankness of its own. At least the reasons 

for favouring political Zionism are stated without hypocrisy. 

Of course, this message was not intended to reach the general public and so 

hypocrisy could no doubt be left out. The Government refers in it to nothing but 

the main chance, and proposes acquiescence in the Zionist schemes as a 

halfpenny-for-you-penny-for-me politico-commercial transaction. Such 

bargains, it is true, are the common stuff of alliances. The alliance with the 

Arabs was a give-and-take affair also. But since nearly all those who have 

imposed the support of the arbitrary type of Zionism upon Great Britain have 

presented it regularly to the nation as radiant with a halo of selfless intentions, 

it is very satisfactory to have the reality disclosed in such business-like terms as 

ñutilizingò the Zionist idea and ñachieving important political results.ò 

The way in which these results were to be realized is very interesting. 

Russia was an unfortunate ally at the time, in the sense that her maltreatment of 

her Jewish subjects had set the minds of Jews against her all over the world. 

Various violences done to them during the early War years, undisclosed in 

Great Britain, but published in the United States, had deepened the antagonism 

of the Jews in that country. This made them lukewarm to the cause of Russiaôs 

companions-in-arms. Indeed, as the Petrograd memorandum acknowledges, 

their attitude towards the cause of the Allies to a considerable extent was 

hostile. An espousal of political Zionism by the British Government might 

remedy this Jewish hostility. The Zionist leaders in England then, and later, 

guaranteed that it would. They gave a special guarantee for the United States. 

They knew what they were about. About a fortnight after the Grey 

memorandum was presented to M. Sazonoff, a meeting of Jewish organizations 

from all over the country was held in Philadelphia. Mr. Justice Brandeis, of the 

Supreme Court, a close friend and counsellor of President Wilson, was one of 

those who addressed the gathering. It was resolved to take advantage of the 

conditions caused by the War to secure full rights for Jewish citizens 

everywhere. Any discriminatory laws or regulations under which they suffered 

were to be abrogated. This programme, excellent of course as it stood, 

ñreceived the endorsement and approval of many officials of the Government, 

notably of the Secretary for War.ò (Kallen.) 

It was a beginning. Before long the support of Zionist plans for a Jewish 

Palestine was to be grafted to the Philadelphia programme. Now, however, I 

shall leave the Zionists to these plans and return to the Arabs. The reader must 

not imagine that any chopping and changing in this narrative is done without a 

reason. Nothing is more essential than to underline the contrast between the 

way in which Zionism adopted and was adopted by our politicians, and the way 

in which the Arabs pursued their alliance on the field of battle and the scaffold. 

 

CHAPTER VIII  

Preparations for the Arab Revolt. How the Arabs died in SyriaðFeisal and 

DjemaalðThc Revolt startsðThe Sykcs-Picot treatyðThe Zionist ñOctober 

ProgrammeòðPolitical Zionism made ña complex problemòðPolitical Zionism 

made ña small nation.ò 

The Arabs did not break into revolt instantly upon conclusion of the alliance 

with Britain. There were good military reasons for this, especially the need of a 

larger stock of weapons and war material. Cairo itself counselled delay for a 

while. It may be said too that the Arabs had begun to fight for us long before 

one of them took rifle in hands. The Shereef, as we have seen, ñhad drawn the 

sting of the jehad.ò (Liddell Hart.) ñHe had already,ò says Temperleyôs 

standard History of the Peace Conference, referring to the period before the 

revolt began, ñrendered service incalculably great to the Allies.ò This work 

does not use a term such as ñincalculably greatò unless it means incalculably 

great. Let us keep that estimation in mind. 

When Hussein concluded the alliance the evacuation of Gallipoli had much 

improved the situation of the Turks. Freed of the Gallipoli menace, Djemaal 

Pasha, the commander of the Turkish forces in Syria, no longer needed to 

behave circumspectly towards the Arabs there. He was given presently too a 

further reason for the violent action he now began, through the incredible 

remissnessðto say no moreðof the staff of the French Consulate-General at 

Beyrout. 

In the previous chapter it was said that M. Georges Picot, who had 

conducted an inquiry for the French Government in the Near East and then was 

given the task of negotiating the Anglo-French Arrangement with Sir Mark 

Sykes, was not a very happy choice for this work. He had been Consul-General 
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at Beyrout till the War broke out, and as we have seen the French 

representatives in Syria had become heavily involved with the Arab 

preparations for a rising there against Turkey. The local negotiations had been 

very much concentrated in Beyrout. When Turkey joined the enemy, the 

Consul-General of course had to take his departure. In what followed he does 

not seem to have been personally to blame, but his general responsibility as 

chief of mission was engaged, and certainly it was tactless to choose him 

afterwards as an envoy in the Arab sphere. In the Consulate were many papers 

covering the transactions between the members of the Arab secret societies and 

the French or Allied authorities. A large number were destroyed by the staff of 

the Consulate before evacuation of the premises, but a considerable bundle 

which had been stored in an attic was forgotten. 

The Consulate-General was placed under the care of the United States, but 

Djemaal, who cared nothing for the United States, had the seals on the doors 

broken, and a search made which revealed the forgotten papers. He already had 

got on to the track of the planned insurrection, in the July of 1915, and a 

number of leaders of the Reformist Society, the ñIslahiyeh,ò had been arrested, 

in Baalbek, Damascus, Jaffa and other Syrian towns. Not long after, twenty-six 

arrests were made in the Acre and Tyre districts. A permanent court-martial 

was established at Aley, in the Lebanon, to try these and other Arabs arrested, 

for conspiracy with the enemy and for plotting insurrection. Five of the 

arrested, a former deputy and the Mufti of Sidon amongst them, were 

condemned to death. 

But Djemaalôs tribunal was still without absolute evidence against many 

Arabs who were deeply suspect to him. In the French Consulate he obtained the 

necessary evidence, in the spring of 1916, and after giving the Syrians involved 

some time to commit themselves further, he established upon this justification a 

reign of terror in Syria. Those whose names were found registered in the seized 

documents were brought to trial, as soon as captured, and were hanged in 

public. Nor were they the sole victims. Djemaal, whose nickname was ñThe 

Butcher,ò chose others as he pleased, or allowed his vindictive subordinates to 

choose them, on mere suspicion or upon general principles. 

He began a policy, as near as he could, of destroying the whole population. 

Youths under age were rounded up and thrust into the army. Their fathers were 

sent into banishment, having first surrendered any little holdings of land which 

they held. These lands (or houses) were then sold over their heads by the 

military officials, who pocketed most of the proceeds. The evicted Arab 

householders or husbandmen were told they would receive compensatory 

allotments in Turkey in Asia. This was but a pretext for transporting them to 

Sivas or Angora or some worse spot still, where they were left to their fate. In 

some of the vilayets or provinces of Syria there were scarcely any Arab 

Christians left, for the Christians especially bore the brunt of Djemaalôs fury. 

The population shrank by something like a third. In Damascus and in 

Jerusalem there was terrible misery. Men fell down fainting with starvation in 

the streets of Beyrout. 

The condition of Syria, even amidst the manifold horrors of the War, drew 

attention in all parts of the world. The neutral states tried to persuade the Turks 

to stop the general persecution of the population. They did not meet with much 

success at first, but Constantinople presently grew nervous of the universal 

feeling that was mounting up against its rule. So the Apostolic Delegate in the 

Turkish capital was permitted to organize the distribution of large sums which 

the Pope sent him on behalf of the sufferers. Other bodies followed suit. The 

worldôs almoners, the United States, dispatched three warships, the Tennessee, 

the Des Moines and the Chester, to the Egyptian ports, whence they crossed, to 

Jaffa mostly, and thence distributed relief. 

The Jews in Palestine suffered along with the Arabs. A number of their 

colonies, especially those nearer the Egyptian border and the seat of war, were 

ravaged; the stock stolen, the trees cut down. Djemaal (later in the War) issued 

a proclamation against Zionism, for which there was no real cause since very 

few of the Jews then in Palestine professed political Zionism and most had 

come only there as to the sanctuary of their religious faith. He followed this up 

later by an order bidding them to quit the country ñon military grounds.ò This 

was not enforced in Jerusalem, but altogether some 12,000 Jews were expelled 

in a penniless and miserable state. The United States warships transported them 

to Alexandria. I was in Egypt at the time and remember well the long lines of 

waggons filing through Alexandria, piled with refugees and their poor 

belongings, on their way to camps which had been established for them on the 

outskirts. 

A very large number of the Jews in Palestine, being Russian subjects, 

became technical enemies of Turkey. Forty thousand or so acquired Turkish 

citizenship; some eight thousand who refused were imprisoned and expelled. 

Theirs was a preposterous situation: they had been driven from Russia by 

Russiaôs own ill-treatment of them. Now they suffered this fresh ill-treatment 

because they were Russians. As may be imagined, they had never taken the 

least interest in the Russian cause, and out of their tens of thousands only a 

handful had in any degree undermined Turkish rule. These latter suffered much 

as did the Arabs. There was the case of the Aaronson family, which had worked 

for Allied Intelligence. This was discovered, and a daughter of the house 

committed suicide to escape familiar forms of Turkish vengeance. 

Several of the chief personages amidst the Jewish bodies then in Palestine 

were tried during 1915 and 1916 on trumped-up charges and after periods of 

detention were forced to leave the country. But the Jewish population had a 

certain safeguard in the presence of Zionist groups in Berlin and 

Constantinople, and in New York and the chief neutral capitals. Through these 

the Jewish colonies could always mobilize influence to prevent the Turks from 
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practising against them the extreme excesses they used against the Arabs. ñIn 

this way,ò the Zionist official Report on conditions in Palestine during the War 

states, ñopportunity was given for help from abroad on every occasion of 

serious political or economic danger. Only through the protection thus afforded 

by the Zionist Organization can the fact be explained that the war period left the 

Yishub (the totality of Jewish colonies) in Palestine practically intact.ò 

The German Consul-General in Jerusalem, Herr Brode, the head of the 

German military mission, General Kress von Kressenstein (the brains of the 

attack on the Suez Canal), and the Spanish and United States Consuls also, 

were other protective agencies. ñThe German officials in general received 

during the War instructions from the (Berlin) Foreign Office and from the 

Embassy and Military Mission in Constantinople to promote Zionist interests. 

These instructions on the whole were punctually obeyed by all officials, no 

matter whether as individuals they sympathized or not with Jewish aspirations.ò 

These were the conditions from 1914 to 1916, and into 1917 till the menace 

of the British approach brought a general kicking over the traces by Djemaal 

and others, and the expulsions en masse to Egypt began. 

But the Arabs of course were differently placed. Their adhesion to the 

enemies of the Turks gave another character to their sufferings. The repression 

which they underwent was horrible in method, and upon a scale which even 

from a Turkish point of view was unwise. But in principle most of it was 

logical. They constituted, which the Jewish colonies did not, a present or 

potential peril to the Turks. 

Conversely, what they suffered entitled them to the sympathy and the 

gratitude of the Allied Powers. If it was primarily for their own independence 

that they died on the scaffold or in exile, it was also in the cause of Britain and 

of France, who by every creed of honour were called upon to requite them in 

the hour of victory, let alone to keep the undertakings made to their race. 

I have just said that their repression was horrible in method. Djemaal used to 

give execution-parties, inviting his friends to be present at the hanging of those 

found guilty of desertion, of connivance with the Allies, and of other such acts. 

A number of the victims came from Palestine. Twelve young men were hanged 

together one day in Jerusalem. The Mufti of Gaza, Ahnwd Aref al Husseini, 

and his son were both hanged. They belonged to the same family as does Jemal 

Bey al Husseini, so often an Arab delegate to London, and now proscribed from 

Palestine amidst other leaders of the people. The Grand Mufti of Jerusalem, 

now in flight in French Syria, also belongs to it. 

A scion of the other great Arab family of Palestine, the Nashashibi, the 

Orsini to the Husseini Colonnas, also was hanged. So was Selim el Ahmed el 

Abdel Hadi, the uncle of Auni Bey Abdel Hadi, signatory of the Versailles 

Treaty and secretary of King Feisal, recently an internee of Surafend 

concentration-camp and since proscribed from re-entering Palestine. Before 

Selim Abdel Hadi was arrested by the Turks, warning had reached him, but he 

refused to fly, saying ñIf I go, they will take revenge on my uncle Hafiz 

(Pasha), and I donôt want him to be molested at his age. I shall stay here.ò He 

made a careful calculation of anything he owed, and signed a document for 

payments half an hour before he went to the scaffold, saying, ñMy hand does 

not tremble. Why should it? I die for my country.ò 

Others condemned to death by the Turkish courts-martial at various periods 

were Abdul Hamid Zahrani (who escaped); Shefik Bey el Mouayid (M. 

Bompardôs visitor; condemned for his relations with the Allies); Shukri Bey el 

Assali (for correspondence with M. Ottavi); Abdul Gani el Arisi; Seifuddin el 

Habib (for having signed a secret proclamation of Arab independence); 

Mahmoud el Makhmessani; Salih Bey Haidar; Refik Rizk Solloum; Abdul 

Wahib el Inglisi (ñthe Englishmanò; a Crusaderôs descendant); Enmu Hamid; 

Arif el Shebab (for raising revolt amongst desert-tribes); Abdul Kerim el 

Habib; Sheikh Ahmed Tabbarak; Ali Effendi el Armenazi; Hafiz Bey el Said 

(of Jaffa); Mahmoud el Adjern; Nayf Effendi Tello; Mehmed Muslim ben 

Ahbedin; Said Effendi el Kermi; Salim Bey Djezairi (of the ñFatahò); Emin 

Lutfi Bey (for endeavouring to promote rebellion amongst his fellow-officers); 

Abdul Kader el Kharsa; Rushdy Shaman; Mehmed el Shamli; George Haddad 

(of the Christian Lebanon Society); Said Aki; Petro Pauli. These were executed, 

and other names could be added to the list. 

Hakki Bey el Assi, Sheikh Reshid Riza and Fans Nimr (Dr. Nimr, the owner 

of the Mokattam newspaper in Cairo, to which Great Britain owed much during 

many difficult years before and after the War) and fifty-one others were 

condemned to death in their absence, according to Turkish procedure. The 

judgment of the court-martial said of them: 

These persons plotted to remove the Arab territories from Ottoman 

rule and to obtain their military occupation by England, which would 

create then an Arab Caliphate attached to Egypt. They also took an active 

part in all the transactions preparatory for rebellion. They prepared and 

took part in the organization of rebellion. All are at large. 

Three hundred Palestine notables were exiled to Asia Minor and ultimate 

famine. 

The Emir Feisal had arrived back in Damascus in the midst of this reign of 

terror. He had come ostensibly to resume his role as a Turkish officer, in reality 

to join relations with the secret societies and to coordinate action in Syria with 

the revolt now due in the Hedjaz. But he found all the Arab troops had been 

transferred and that the country was in Djemaalôs grip. He sent messages home 

counselling delay till perhaps something could be arranged in the north to 

combine with his fatherôs plans. 

He was to have much to endure now, though. Djemaal made a special point 

of inviting him to be present at the executions. These were shockingly 

contrived. An eye witness said of the victims, ñThey are not exactly hanged, but 
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suspended from a frame with their toes on a stool.ò In their spasms they would 

kick the stool from under them and slowly strangle. Feisal had to look on and to 

feign indifference. Djemaal would glance every now and then at him and make 

jocular remarks about the spectacle. He suspected, though he could not prove, 

that Feisal was involved with the societies to which the men belonged who 

were dying in his presence. 

On one of these gruesome occasions, though I do not think Feisal was 

present at this, twelve victims suffered together. The most notable of them was 

a young lawyerðhe had been called to the Bar in Parisða kinsman of the 

Abdel Hadi family, named Mahmoud el Makhmessani. The scaffold had been 

raised in a square of Beyrout, which the Young Turk regime with ironic chance 

had renamed ñLiberty Square.ò Outside a ring of soldiers a silent crowd stood 

watching. At the last moment the hangman turned to Mekhmessani and 

demanded whether he had any final wishes to express. He asked to be allowed 

to speak to the people, and cried out to them that he was guilty. ñI am guilty,ò 

he said, ñif there is any guilt in loving liberty and in wishing to set my country 

free. I have desired to free it, and far from repenting anything which I have 

done to win freedom, I am proud to be the first victim for its cause. It is 

intolerable for us Arabs, sprung of one of the most splendid civilizations which 

the world has known, to think of the humiliated condition to which we have 

been brought by the barbarous hordes of Anatolia. We have had enough of the 

base yoke of the Turk.ò 

The hangman struck the young Arab in the mouth with such force that he 

bled, but he continued shouting, ñWe have done with your slavery. You 

assassinate us in vain. The cause we serve will outlive us, and deliverance is 

coming. Down with the Turks! Long live the Arabs! Long live France, the 

Arabsô friend!ò He went on shouting and struggling till the executioner had 

overturned the stool and thrown himself with his full weight round his victimôs 

neck. One by one, the remaining eleven met their fate, either calmly or crying 

out and invoking the independence of their race and the names of the Powers 

coming to its aid, as Mekhmessani had done. 

What would these men have thought, immolating themselves for their 

country, and for the kindred cause of the Allies whom they saluted at the last, if 

they had known how in the end their allies were to treat them. It is not a topic 

upon which to dwell. 

Amongst those who died in Feisalôs presence there can scarcely have been 

one who did not know of his connection with the insurrectionary movement to 

which they belonged. But none of them ever betrayed him. At least a third of 

the Syrian population, it is computed, was affiliated to the secret societies, and 

yet there was not a man found amongst them to buy either his own life or 

liberty or the life or liberty of father, son or brother by a denunciation of the 

Emir. Not one man: though scores were hanged barbarously and many 

thousands died of famine and ill-treatment. 

Feisalôs feelings as he watched these ghastly exhibitions can be imagined. 

Yet his demeanour was unshaken. Lawrence records that but once did he break 

down and ñburst out that these executions would cost Djemaal all that he was 

trying to avoid. It took the intercession of his Constantinople friends, chief men 

in Turkey, to save him from the price of these rash words.ò Djemaal in high 

temper had threatened him with execution or banishment. 

As far as the Turk commander was concerned Feisal from now on became a 

hostage. But Feisal must have played his game with extraordinary skill. He 

retained somehow these Constantinople friendships which saved him, and 

Djemaal himself was not quite sure of his real attitude. He cannot have had any 

illusions of Feisalôs faithfulness to Turkey, but he thought that perhaps it suited 

Hedjaz policy for the moment to maintain the Turkish connection as a matter of 

expediency. And for the moment too, and for the same reasons, it suited 

Turkish policy to keep the Hedjaz connection. It was on this slender support 

that Feisalôs safety rested. 

But he never faltered through all that spring. He continued to keep contact 

with the remnant of the Arab underground organizations, though indeed by now 

the brain of the societies was rather in the Hedjaz than in Syria. Several leaders 

had escaped thither, and in Mecca or from Jeddah they conferred with the 

Shereef. Feisal also continued his treasonable correspondence with his father, 

through ñold retainers of the family, men above suspicion, who went up and 

down the Hedjaz railway, carrying letters in sword-hilts, sewn between the 

soles of sandals, or in invisible writing on harmless packages.ò (Lawrence.) 

Then in May Hussein boldly telegraphed to Djemaal, ñYou must drop the 

persecution of the Arabs. You must proclaim a general amnesty in Syria and in 

Mesopotamia.ò He dared telegraph in such terms because at the same time he 

had formed another military unit, a camel-corps, to support (supposedly) the 

Turkish army when Egypt was next to be invaded. His telegram had the air of 

being advice from a genuine ally. But the camel-corps got no further than 

Medina. It was intended by him really to be the nucleus of the force he would 

launch against the Turks. In any event, Hussein had always been contemptuous 

of the new rulers of Turkey. He had told Enver to his face that he was ñan 

ignorant youth.ò 

Feisal from Damascus counselled further patience, and from Egypt similar 

advice came. Arms and munitions were being sent to Hussein by Sir Reginald 

Wingate, the Governor of the Soudan, but it was a somewhat slow business, 

and ñSir Henry McMahon was urging the Shereef to delay his operations until 

it was possible to equip him more fully for his task.ò (Official History.) 

Husseinôs mind was made up, though. He summoned Feisal home under the 

pretext of completing the final arrangements for the dispatch of the camel-corps 

and of inspecting it before it took the field. Feisal asked leave of Djemaal for 

the purpose. But the ñButcherò was not quite duped or not quite satisfied. There 

must have been a leer on his broad face when he answered Feisal, ñI shall 
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accompany you myself, and the generalissimo Enver will be with us, and he 

will inspect your corps.ò 

Whatever doubts Feisal may have had up till then, he knew now that the 

moment for the revolt had come. It was not that the opportunity was so 

favourable, but that after Enver and Djemaal had seen things with their own 

eyes in the Hedjaz it was certain that they would take such measures that no 

opportunity of any kind would ever occur there. 

The two pashas and Feisal, then, went into the Hedjaz together, and the 

promised inspection took place. One of the most vivid passages in Lawrenceôs 

great Seven Pillars of Wisdom describes what ensued. 

ñIn the end matters passed off well, though the irony of the review was 

terrible.ò Enver, Djemaal and Feisal together watched ñthe troops wheeling and 

turning in the dusty plain outside the city gate, rushing up and down in mimic 

camel-battle, or spurring their horses in the javelin game in the immemorial 

Arab fashion. óAnd are all these volunteers for the Holy War?ô asked Enver at 

last, turning to Feisal. óYes,ô said Feisal. óWilling to fight to death against the 

enemies of the faithful?ô óYes,ô said Feisal again; and then the Arab chiefs 

came up to be presented, and Shereef Ali ibn Hussein, of Modhig, drew him 

aside, whispering, óMy lord, shall we kill them now?ô and Feisal said, óNo. 

They are our guests.ôò 

Rarely has even the East seen such refinement of plot and of counterplot as 

we read here. Every word on the lips of Enver or of Feisal had both its open and 

its secret meaning, and as they spoke each of the two played with the otherôs 

uncertainties of mind. 

ñThe Sheikhs protested further; for they believed that so they could finish 

off the war in two blows. They were determined to force Feisalôs hand; and he 

had to go among them, just out of earshot but in full view, and plead for the 

lives of the Turkish dictators who had murdered his best friends on the scaffold. 

In the end he had to make excuses, take his party back quickly to Medina, 

picket the banqueting-hall with his own slaves, and escort Enver and Djemaal 

back to Damascus to save them from death on the way. He explained this 

laboured courtesy by the plea that it was the Arab manner to devote everything 

to guests; but Enver and Djemaal, being deeply suspicious of what they had 

seen, imposed a strict blockade of the Hedjaz and ordered large Turkish 

reinforcements thither.ò 

The tenseness of this scene is so great you would think Feisalôs spirit must 

have grown brittle and have broken. But all the way to Damascus he continued 

smiling and courteous to the friends he hated, to the enemies he cherished, gave 

all his mind to the protection of the rulers whose rule he gave all his mind to 

destroy, till the city at last came in sight. Now he in his turn seemed trapped. 

But his father played his part well. Hussein demanded Feisalôs return. He must 

have him, he wrote, to control tribes which seemed not so certain in their 

allegiance, which were restless and were assembling in an ominous way. 

Djemaal reluctantly let Feisal go. More plot and counter-plot: he counted on 

Feisalôs restraining the tribes for prudenceô sake, on his biding for a little longer 

a time which Djemaal for his part would take care should never arrive at all. 

Feisal set forth therefore homeward, but on a pretext all his suite were kept 

behind by Djemaal in Damascus. They were to be hostages. 

Feisal reached Mecca on the 1st of June. ñFour days later his suite took 

horse and rode out east from Damascus into the desert to a Bedouin chief.ò 

Theirs was a pre-arranged and timed flight. That 5th of June, Feisal displayed 

the Arab flag, and one more nation joined the Allies. ñThe German hope of the 

co-operation of Islam in the world-plans of the Kaiser passed into the realm of 

dreams,ò says Lawrence. 

In Egypt those who were dealing with the Arabs were taken by surprise. 

Half because of the counsels of patience sent from there and half because of the 

delays which Feisalôs strange situation entailed, such speedy action had not 

been foreseen. The Arab Bureau in Cairo was electrified by a sudden message 

from a sloop patrolling in the Red Sea. The warship passed on the message in 

the Shereefôs own form that ñhis hour was at hand.ò He asked for some British 

representatives to be sent at once to meet his son the Emir Abdullah. The 

rendezvous he gave was ña desert shore south of Jeddah.ò It is a spot known as 

Sheikh Memijeh Bay. Commander Hogarth, who recounts this, was one of 

those who hastened thither in a cruiser. Instead of Abdullah they found his 

young brother Zeid, who told them that Abdullah could not be present because 

he had gone out already to raise the tribes, whom he had been preparing for 

months. He was responsible for the restlessness and for the ñominous gathering 

of the tribes,ò because of which Hussein had demanded the return of Feisal. 

The Shereef had imagined a fine piece of satire, and had played it with dry 

gusto upon Djemaal. Ali, the eldest of his Sons, and Feisal himself already were 

converging on Medina. The rebellion had begun three days before. The Shereef 

came out on to the balcony of his residence with a rifle in his hand and fired the 

inaugural shot himself. 

It began therefore haphazardly in some degree. But it was in the nick of 

time. Feisal, before leaving for home, had seen the preparations in 

Constantinople for the dispatch of the Turkish reinforcements. These were 

3,500 strong, under Khairi Bey, and were stiffened by the presence of German 

troops and specialists of various kinds. After detraining at Medina, where the 

staff and headquarters organization of an army-corps awaited them, they were 

to march on Mecca and to suppress all Arab power. This Feisal learned through 

agents of the secret societies in the Turkish army. 

Amongst the Germans there were political agents. The capture of the Hedjaz 

was but to be the preliminary for a great war-campaign of propaganda and 

bribery and of backdoors penetration of the British territories which gathered 

about the Persian Gulf and were the gate to India. The chief of the German 

politicals was a Major von Stotzingen, an able man who has gained an unkind 
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niche in history because of a letter of introduction which he bore. This was 

from a member of an influential German family, Countess von Schlieffen, and 

the salient passage in it ran, ñHe does not obtrude his personality and has not 

those characteristics which often make Germans disliked in foreign parts.ò 

As Captain Liddell Hart (on whose account of these events I draw 

gratefully) points out, if this Turco-German force had overrun the Hedjaz and 

penetrated south the reinforcements it brought might have meant quite easily 

the fall of Aden, where the garrison was small. Our local forces there had been 

driven into Aden proper out of the hinterland and were besieged by a Turkish 

division. An Indian contingent raised the siege next month, but we remained on 

the defensive at Aden thenceforth. If the place had been taken before the 

Indians arrived we should have had an expedition for its reconquest to add 

another to all our anxieties of the time. Meanwhile from Arabia von 

Stotzingenôs propaganda, moving like an army, would have outflanked us in 

Egypt. The interception of this danger, says Liddell Hart, ñwas not the least of 

the services to Britain achieved by the Arab revolt.ò 

The 5th of June in 1916 is a date therefore to be remembered as one on 

which a great blow was struck for the cause of Great Britain and her allies. The 

Arabs, too, struck it themselves and began on that day to carry out their part of 

the engagements into which they and Britain had entered. They began in a 

generous, daring way; they began indeed rashly, if equipment for war alone 

were concerned. Feisal and his brothers had about 50,000 men at their 

disposition, but between every five warriors there was but one rifle and an old 

rifle at that. They had no artillery, no machine-guns. 

The Turks had fewer men than the Arabs in the Hedjaz, 15,000, but they 

were disciplined and pretty well-found. They were supported by artillery, both 

field-guns and howitzers, and by a proportionate supply of machine-guns. 

Fortunately the Turks were divided into several garrisons, and the surprise 

attack of the Shereefôs sons took them off their guard. They were driven from 

Mecca city within a week. Our warships and our naval airmen came swiftly to 

the help of the Arabs and by bombardment from the sea and bombing from the 

air took a large part in the fall of Jeddah on the 16th. The Turkish garrison of 

1,400 men surrendered. Rabegh, and Yenbo, which is the port of Medina, were 

taken within the month. Sir Reginald Wingate shipped two mountain-batteries 

and half a dozen machine-guns at once to the Shereefôs aid. Egyptian troops 

under Moslem officers manned these batteries, and they brought three thousand 

rifles of one kind or another and much ammunition with them. 

In England, though the rising was acclaimed in the Press, no intimation was 

given that it was the result of an alliance. It was recorded that naval units had 

fired on the Turkish garrisons at Jeddah and other coastal places, but this much 

could be credited to normal hostilities with Turkey. The food-ship facilities we 

gave to the Holy Cities of Islam were noted as a token of friendship merely. 

The Times published the news of the rising seventeen days after it began, 

and devoted its first leader to it. It recognized that now ñthe Arab national 

movement had come to a head,ò wrote appreciatively of the Grand Shereef and 

of his sons. After ten days or so, details grew sparse. At the time of course 

communications with the Hedjaz were difficult, and censorship was easy. 

Even when the fame of Lawrence had grown and had spread the fame of the 

Arab revolt far and wide, officialdom kept its details strangely secret. The War 

was more than a year over before the dispatches concerning the Hedjaz 

operations were issued. Lawrenceôs personal exploits too were to give an 

atmosphere of derring-do to the Arab war, which has obscured what may be 

called the legal facts of it, especially the humdrum debit and credit between 

Britain and the Arabs. 

That is why I have detailed at some length how the revolt began, and later 

shall detail how it ended. It must be emphasized that from 1916 to 1918 this 

revolt was not at all a piece of wild music, a sort of military Ride of the 

Valkyries, heard ñoffò the stage of the War. On the contrary, it was a definitely 

contracted part of the operations, developed in a clear-cut way, and crowned 

with success in every fashion, except in proper full payment for it by those who 

had contracted for it. Where payment was evaded by the dominant partners was 

in Syria. In 1936, by the Franco-Syrian treaty of the 9th September, the French 

at last acknowledged their debt and when the treaty is ratified will have settled 

with their Arab creditors in their section of that country. We have settled too in 

Irak, but we continue to default in Palestine. 

While Feisal was slipping from Damascus to dare all in the field, we had 

made, so to speak, first preparations for that default in England. The 

negotiations between Sir Mark Sykes and M. Picot had ended, and the 

arrangement which they drew up was ratified by their respective Governments, 

in May 1916. Having the value of an international agreement, it has generally 

been termed the ñSykes-Picot Treaty.ò 

It was a neat plan with great stretches of Asia docketed with letters of the 

alphabet and tinted with several colours, and all the still unconquered Turkish 

territory parcelled off into five zones. France and Great Britain had each a zone 

of administration and also a zone of influence, and there was to be an 

international zone, corresponding roughly to Palestine. An independent Arab 

state in Syria was, whimsically, to be composed of the British zone of influence 

and the French zone of influence. That is to say, that over a triangular section of 

territory lying between the zones where Britain and France were to administer 

directly, there was to be established a native state under an Arab ruler with 

Damascus as its chief city. But the northern part of it was to be under French 

influence. Only the French were to supply advisers or foreign officials, and they 

were to have a priority right upon enterprises and loans. The south was to be 

under British influence and the character of influence was to be similar. 
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It is difficult to imagine anything more unworkable than this ñArabò State, 

of which the fantastic design might have come to its authors at the end of a 

dinner, from some dish of Neapolitan ice-cream, wherein vanilla and 

strawberry zones-of-influence were established over independent sweetmeat. 

Quite in this order of ideas the fifth zone was coloured chocolate. This was 

the international zone of Palestine where ñwas to be established an international 

administration whose form shall be decided after consultation with Russia, and 

subsequently in accord with the other Allies and the representatives of the 

Shereef of Mecca.ò The two administrative zones gave Cilicia, much of central 

Anatolia and coastal north Syria to France, while Great Britain was dowered 

with Mesopotamia and the ports of Haifa and Acre in Syria. 

This Sykes-Picot Treaty, later to be modified and remodified and to form the 

basis of the abortive Treaty of Sèvres, was of course altogether incompatible 

with our previous pledges to the Arabs. 

The new treat made a mockery of the Syrian Arab State, and Palestine was 

to be withdrawn from its territories. It took away from the Shereef what had 

been granted to him, and did so secretly, with no reference to him, at the very 

moment when his sons and his tribesmen were beginning battle to honour his 

word. On the face of it, therefore, the Sykes-Picot treaty is not a parchment 

with a place of pride amongst the national charters of England. 

At the same time, if it was inequitable in general concept, it did possess 

some saving points and was not entirely disingenuous and false in the style of 

the subsequent Balfour Declaration. It won from the French acceptance of the 

principle of Arab independence. Hitherto France had jibbed at this, however 

qualified by French or British tutelage in its early stages. Now France gave her 

support to the principle, and after some half-hearted dealings, did contribute her 

part to the success of the Arab revolt, through the aid in particular of the gallant 

Captain Pisani and his guns. The terms of French support were contained in an 

instrument signed, also in May, by Sir Edward Grey and M. Cambon, the 

French Ambassador in London, by which it was declared that their respective 

Governments were ñdisposed to recognize and protect an independent State or a 

Confederation of Arab States under the suzerainty of an Arab chief.ò The italics 

are mine. Four months before we had already recognized Arab independence 

over the whole area of Arab habitation. 

In the Sykes-Picot document itself this was ignored. That is to say, Article 2 

of this Treaty alluded to negotiations with the Arabs as having to be continued, 

at a time when they were at an end. Whether this strange statement was 

considered as justified by the Shereefôs proviso that he would leave the French 

claims over to be settled after the War does not appear. But as far as Britain was 

concerned the Arab negotiations were ended. and the recognition of ñan 

independent State or a Confederation of Arab Statesò had been conceded 

definitely by her. 

However, there was another saving point in the Sykes-Picot Treaty which 

seemed to show that despite the talk of continued negotiation, someone who 

had had a hand in the Treaty recognized the true situation between Mecca and 

Great Britain. The point is one which has received no attention, but deserves a 

good deal. The treaty contained the provision for consulting the representatives 

of the Grand Shereef when the mode of erecting an international administration 

in Palestine should be determined finally. 

It may be that this provision found its way into the treaty to satisfy the 

known good will of Sir Mark Sykes towards the Arabs. It was not his fault that 

the treaty curtailed their independence. 

Such latitude as he had was in the direction of compromise with the French 

claims only, under which he agreed to include Mosul in one of their zones. This 

is a sure indication that, if he had full cognizance of the HusseinïMcMahon 

Treaty, he had been instructed to overlook it, since in it the Mesopotamian area 

was reserved for British influence and it was not possible to replace this by 

French influence without obtainingðif Britain were to be faithful to her 

wordðthe consent of the Shereef, the other party to the transaction. 

Whether he knew the terms of the Anglo-Arab Treaty or was ordered to 

overlook them, it was an unhappy role for poor Sykes. His only reward was to 

be abused later by Mr. Lloyd George, who, during the Peace Conference, 

ejaculated that ñMark Sykes was responsible for the agreement which is 

causing us all the trouble with the French. He negotiated it for us with Picot, the 

Frenchman, who got the better of him.ò (Riddell.) In fact Sykes had been 

instructed to go a long way to satisfy the French. As far as he was concerned 

his Treaty was not much more than a jig-saw he put together, of which the 

British pieces had been sent to him in the red-leather dispatch-boxes of 

Downing Street. 

So while the clause for consulting the Shereef (or Sheikh, as the text had it) 

of Mecca may have been due to him, it is more likely that it was the work or 

drawn up under the orders of someone in Whitehall who had a conscience. 

Some person, perhaps more than one person, was disturbed by the violation of 

the covenant which guaranteed the Arabs, not an international, but a national 

regime in Palestine. To make up for such a violation, it was little enough that 

could be done. But it was something to obtain the inclusion of the Shereefôs 

representatives amongst those who were to draw up the conditions of 

international rule. It was done in the hope, maybe, that when the time came for 

discussions the Arab representatives might be in a position to enter a caveat to 

the whole proceedings. 

Apart from the prickings of conscience there was nothing to cause the 

inclusion of the Shereefôs name in the document. Till the pact with McMahon 

had been made by him he had been but the guardian of the Moslem Holy Places 

in Arabia and the potentate of the Hedjaz. His situation as the spokesman of the 

Arab race, in Palestine or elsewhere, had only come to him through the 
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negotiation of that pact. Whoever therefore, in what are called Government 

circles, extended to him this situation in the prospective negotiations upon 

Palestine under the Sykes-Picot Treaty was well acquainted with the Anglo-

Arab Treaty, and understood the obligations to the Arabs which we had 

contracted in it. 

There is no clue in this intricate and hidden situation to the identity of the 

man or men with a conscience who, even if the clause were Sykesôs own, must 

have given that clause approval when the terms were submitted. To whom it 

was submitted must again be a mystery. Nominally it would have been 

submitted to the ñGovernment,ò but which persons in which group of that 

strangely functioning body saw the Treaty through the Lord knows. The most 

likely honourably-minded individual in a position to insert the clause or to 

secure its retention was perhaps Sir Arthur Nicolson, the Under-Secretary at the 

Foreign Office, who previously had been the man to warn M. Picot of the 

existence of an Anglo-Arab pact. But that is surmise. 

One thing which is evident is that the inclusion of Husseinôs name in the 

Sykes-Picot Treaty puts the Petrograd memorandum of eight weeks before into 

an unenviable posture. In this memorandum the Arabs, so to speak, were only 

entered for purposes of erasure. The divergence between the two documents 

also serves only too well to show the incoherency of the policies of the period. 

Sir Mark Sykes actually was in Petrograd, by Sir Edward Greyôs orders, to 

obtain Russian agreement to the internationalization of Palestine, upon the very 

same day, the 13th of March, upon which the Russians were handed the 

memorandum from Sir Edward Grey deprecating the internationalization of 

Palestine! What real part can Grey have had in these doings? 

Whatever deserves to be said of them, we can observe to advantage the 

fashion in which the early foundations of Zionism were laid in 1916. Amidst all 

the incoherency and worse, one thing also can be isolated and be tacked down, 

the implicit acknowledgment in the Sykes-Picot terms of our existing 

obligations to the Arabs. Before many months passed a new Government 

reigned in London, and this lapse into integrity was corrected. But fortunately 

for the truth, it still stands to witness. 

During the summer of 1916 there was a halt in the activities in Britain of the 

Zionist representatives. The start of the Arab revolt may have counteracted 

these activities for a space. But more likely they were banished from the field 

by great events: the battle of Jutland; the Somme attacks; the entry into the War 

of Roumania. Lamentable events banished them too: Kitchener was drowned 

off the Orkneys on the 5th of June. With him, alas! departed from ruling circles 

any realization of the Arabs as a human entity. 

Mr. Lloyd George succeeded him as Secretary for War, and while the 

country and the campaign benefited by the new Secretaryôs zeal and his 

driving-power, yet to his unselective ear the whispers of Zionism presently 

came with the force of oracles. 

After a gallant start, the Arab revolt suffered a first set-back. The 

impetuosity of the Arabs and the surprise of the first days were countered by 

the equipment which the Turks now brought into play. The Arabs had no 

artillery save the Egyptian guns, and these were ineffective because they were 

outranged by the Turkish pieces. Without better artillery support the Turks in 

Medina were too tough a problem to tackle. An attempt to rush the place had 

failed, though Feisal and Ali had ridden about amidst bursting shells to 

accustom their men to these (to them) terrible novelties. The Turks massacred 

the Arabs in the Awali suburb. ñHundreds of the inhabitants were raped and 

butchered, the houses fired, and living and dead alike thrown back into the 

flames.ò (Lawrence.) 

We landed sailors at Rabegh, where Aziz el Masri set about training Syrian 

and Mesopotamian volunteers into regular troops. By the autumn he had two 

thousand in khaki, who were drafted to the force acting under the Emir Ali. 

Aeroplanes were sent to Rabegh, four good ones to balance ñtwenty-three guns, 

mostly obsolete, and of fourteen patterns.ò Lawrence, some time about the end 

of October, was detailed to the Arab Army. Feisal then was harrying Turkish 

communications. Abdullah ñwith three machine-gunsò was ñblockadingò 

Medina. 

After the news of the revolt reached Constantinople, the Turks had 

proclaimed the deposition of the Shereef Hussein, and had appointed one Ali 

Haidar in his place. Ali Haidar had been brought by them to Medina, where 

they were gathering an important force, which was to march on Mecca and to 

overthrow Hussein. As its probable route must lie through Rabegh, the Anglo-

Arab parry to this move was to strengthen Rabegh, which was done with naval 

and air-force co-operation. But in Egypt, where military responsibilities and 

policies were bewilderingly divided, the Arab war had not too many friends. 

ñStaff officers,ò says Lawrence, ñprophesied its near failure and the stretching 

of Shereef Husseinôs neck on a Turkish scaffold.ò 

Meanwhile, far from desert warfare and from the perils of the scaffold, 

another cause was making its progress. Bella gerant alii1 . . . Zionism wedded 

itself civilly first to this country and then to that. In the United States it was 

organizing itself with marked success, which meant a great deal, since of all the 

Jews in the world at least three million were in the United States. These were 

concentrated too in the large cities where their influence had greatest play. On 

the 2nd of October most of the chief Jewish organizations issued a joint 

manifesto in which the Philadelphia resolutions had swelled to some purpose. 

This manifesto demanded for the Jews full rights wherever they lived in the 

world, as well of course as the abrogation of all extant laws or regulations 

                                                 
1 [ñLet others wage war,ò é tu felix Austria, nube! ð ñyou, lucky Austria, shall 

marry!ò http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/French%E2%80%93Habsburg_relations] 




